
County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

16 May 2016

Economic Scrutiny Committee

A meeting of the Economic Scrutiny Committee will be held on Tuesday, 24 May 2016 
at 10.00 am in Committee Room One, County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL 
for the transaction of the business set out on the attached Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Tony McArdle
Chief Executive

Membership of the Economic Scrutiny Committee 
(11 Members of the Council)

Councillors A Bridges (Chairman), C Pain (Vice-Chairman), B Adams, 
Mrs J Brockway, G J Ellis, N I Jackson, D McNally, Mrs E J Sneath, W S Webb, 
P Wood and L Wootten

Public Document Pack





ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA
TUESDAY, 24 MAY 2016

Item Title Pages 

1 Apologies for Absence/Replacement Members 

2 Declarations of Councillors' Interests 

3 Minutes of the Meeting of the Economic Scrutiny Committee 
held on 12 April 2016 

5 - 10

4 Announcements by the Executive Councillor for Economic 
Development, Environment, Planning and Tourism 

5 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study 
(To receive a report from Ian Kitchen (Transport Manager – 
Policy and Orders) and Andrew Thomas (Principal Accessibility 
Planning Officer) which provides the detail of the Rail Study and 
an update on two rail issues of key economic importance – 
Lincoln to London direct services and the re-letting of the East 
Midlands Rail Franchise)

11 - 104

6 Theme Performance - 2015/2016 Quarter 4 
(To receive a report from Justin Brown (Commissioner for 
Economic Growth) and Jasmine Sodhi (Performance and 
Equalities Manager) which provides an update on the 
Lincolnshire economy and the economic development unit's 
progress on its performance indicators.  A short demonstration 
will also be given to the Committee on how to access the 
performance infographics through the LRO website)

105 - 126

7 Place Marketing and Alignment with GLLEP's Work 
(To receive a report from Ruth Carver (Commissioning Manager 
(LEP)) which provides information on the work being done by 
Lincolnshire County Council, the Greater Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP) and other partners to establish a 
vision for place marketing)

127 - 132

8 Single Local Growth Fund Accountable Body Progress 
Report 
(To receive a report from Linsay Hill Pritchard (Principal 
Commissioning Officer (Accountable Body)) which provides an 
update from the Accountable Body on the progress of the Single 
Local Growth Fund (SLGF) operated on behalf of the Greater 
Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP), focussing on 
2015/16 and the yearend spend position and future challenges)

133 - 148



9 South Lincolnshire Food Enterprise Zone 
(To receive a report from Simon Wright (Principal Officer 
(Regeneration)) which sets out the plans for a South Lincolnshire 
Food Enterprise Zone, which was actively being developed by 
Lincolnshire County Council, South Holland District Council and 
other stakeholders, on land to the north west of Holbeach)

149 - 156

10 Economic Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
(To receive a report from Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, 
which enables the Economic Scrutiny Committee to consider its 
own work programme for the coming year)

157 - 162

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Andrea Brown

Direct Dial 01522 553787

E Mail Address andrea.brown@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


1

ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
12 APRIL 2016

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR A BRIDGES (CHAIRMAN)

Councillors C Pain (Vice-Chairman), B Adams, Mrs J Brockway, G J Ellis, 
N I Jackson, D McNally, Mrs E J Sneath, W S Webb, P Wood and L Wootten

Councillors: C J Davie, Mrs C A Talbot, S M Tweedale and Mrs S Woolley attended 
the meeting as observers

Officers in attendance:-

Andrea Brown (Democratic Services Officer), Justin Brown (Commissioner for 
Economic Growth), Jonathan Burgess (LEP Officer), Dr Tony Hill (Executive Director 
of Community Wellbeing and Public Health), Clare Hughes (Principal Commissioning 
Officer (LEP)), Tracy Johnson (Senior Scrutiny Officer) and Professor Sara Owen 
(Pro Vice Chancellor and Head of the College of Social Science, University of 
Lincoln)

77    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS

There were no apologies for absence and all members of the Committee were 
present.

78    DECLARATIONS OF COUNCILLORS' INTERESTS

Councillor W S Webb had declared an interest in the outcome of the emerging South-
East Lincolnshire Plan, which was referred to in Appendix A of Agenda Item 8 – 
Agreement of Strategic Economic Plan for Greater Lincolnshire, and would, 
therefore, leave the meeting for this item.

79    MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 23 FEBRUARY 2016

Councillor B Adams noted a typographical error on page seven of the agenda pack, 
at Minute Number 70, where it was quoted that "…… 13k jobs by 2020 was 
questionable in light of the quoted 100 homes…..".  It was confirmed that this figure 
should read "100k homes".

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the Economic Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 23 
February 2016, with the amendment noted above, be confirmed and signed by 
the Chairman as a correct record.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2
ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
12 APRIL 2016

Note: Following the meeting, Councillor L Wootten asked that her question at 
bullet point four of Minute Number 71, on page 10, be clarified.  The 
paragraph indicated that it had been hoped to bring the Ceramic Poppy 
Installation to Grantham.  However, the initial request had been made by a 
member of the public whereby Councillor Wootten had agreed to look in to 
the possibility.  The question was to enable a response to be given having 
investigated the possibility fully.  It was stressed that this was not, at this 
stage, being considered by Councillor Wootten or South Kesteven District 
Council.

80    ANNOUNCEMENTS BY THE EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR FOR 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, ENVIRONMENT, PLANNING AND 
TOURISM

Councillor C J Davie, Executive Councillor for Economic Development, Environment, 
Planning and Tourism, was invited to update the Committee on recent events within 
the County:-

1. It had been reported that the TATA plant in Scunthorpe would be taken over 
by another company and was to be renamed British Steel.  Although this 
announcement was welcome it was unsure how the change would be 
implemented;

2. An urgent meeting was being sought with ConocoPhillips following the 
announcement of the possible closure of its Gas Terminal in Theddlethorpe 
which would result in the unemployment of highly skilled staff in the area.  A 
further update would be provided to the Committee following the meeting with 
ConocoPhillips;

3. Team Lincolnshire had been represented at the MIPIM event in Cannes which 
was an event held for global property investors and where Councillor Davie 
addressed the conference and showcased the county.  Developers indicated 
their interest in Lincolnshire and positive discussions followed;

4. Team Lincolnshire were hosting a networking event at Belton Horse Trials 
again this year following a successful event last year; and

5. The county hosted a successful visit of a delegation from the Chinese province 
of Hunan where a second agreement focussing on international trade 
opportunities had been signed.  Chief Executive Officers from major Chinese 
companies visited the Dynex Semi-Conductor Plant (owned by a company 
based in Hunan) and it was hoped that the visit would lead to further 
investment and expansion to that particular plant in the future.  The delegation 
also held a lunch meeting with the Local Enterprise Partnership.  Councillor W 
S Webb was thanked for welcoming the delegation to Lincolnshire, in his 
capacity as Chairman of the Council.

The Chairman thanked Councillor Davie for the update.

Page 6



3
ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

12 APRIL 2016

81    EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

RESOLVED

That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and 
press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 of the Act.

82    MEDICAL SECTOR TRAINING IN LINCOLNSHIRE

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director for Environment and 
Economy which provided the Committee with an explanation of the potential for 
medical sector training in Lincolnshire.

During discussion, it was agreed that the Commissioner for Economic Growth would 
prepare a response to the Government's consultation on healthcare education 
funding on behalf of the Committee.

RESOLVED

That the recommendations noted within the report be agreed.

The Chairman proposed to close the exempt session and readmit the public and 
press to the meeting.

RESOLVED

That the exempt session be closed and the meeting move back in to a public 
forum.

83    ROLE OF APPRENTICESHIPS IN GROWING THE LOCAL ECONOMY

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director for Environment and 
Economy which provided detailed information regarding apprenticeships in 
Lincolnshire and the role of Lincolnshire County Council in increasing the levels of 
apprenticeships.

Clare Hughes, Principal Commissioning Officer (LEP), introduced the report and 
gave a presentation which consisted of a number of video clips of apprentices within 
the county.  The key points made from the clips were:-

 All apprentices are in paid employment;
 Each apprenticeship is for a particular period of time with agreed level training 

reached by the end;
 Nationally recognised qualifications transferable to future roles;
 Clear progression paths within larger organisations for apprentices;
 Smaller companies may not be in a position to offer this type of progression;

Page 7



4
ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
12 APRIL 2016

 Government document – "Apprenticeships 20/20 Vision"
 Apprenticeship Levels, including degree level apprenticeships;
 Government want to see three million people start an apprenticeship by 2020 

which would equate to 7800 apprenticeships in Lincolnshire;
 2013/14 drop in apprenticeships – direct result of a government initiative which 

meant anyone over the age of 24 would have to take out a loan to complete 
level 3 training and this included apprenticeships;

 Future – new reforms being implemented where promotion of apprenticeships 
and the ability to progress on to a higher level apprenticeship could be 
considered;

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP – pages on social media to promote apprenticeships 
(Twitter – https://mobile.twitter.com/lincsapprentice and Facebook - 
https://www.facebook.com/lincsapprentice );

 EU Funding Projects – seven projects were out to procurement, of which some 
would link to the work to support unemployed people and also to encourage 
employers to have apprenticeships.

During discussion, the following points were noted:-

 There was no upper age limit for apprentices and the Government were keen 
to promote this further where there was a significant skills gap;

 In the 1960s, over 35% of males aged 15-17 undertook an apprenticeship.  
The system was currently looking to make the qualifications gained through 
apprenticeships interchangeable and to suit individuals.  This would need a 
good balance as it was acknowledged that employers required particular skills 
in their own work area but also the theoretical training to enable 
apprenticeships to move on;

 Employers were able to employ young people without this being an 
apprenticeship but they were also able to convert this to an apprenticeship 
should they wish to do so;

 It was difficult to maintain a balance as the perception remained that University 
Degrees were the best option for young people and that vocational training 
was for those less academic.  Work continued to change this perception;

 Apprentices aged 16-18, and also a 19 year old in their first year of an 
apprenticeship, would earn a minimum of £3.30 per hour.  All other 
apprentices would be entitled to the minimum living wage for their age;

 Work had been ongoing with the Skills Funding Agency in relation to 
procurements which would support 4500 people in Lincolnshire and included 
extra support for apprenticeships and training for the business community in 
providing apprenticeships.  It was anticipated that further information would be 
shared with the Committee in due course;

 The long-term future and strategic view was the focus to ensure that 
technology companies in Lincolnshire continued to operate and excel in 
making and developing future technology;

 The requirement for highly skilled workforces across the county was agreed as 
this was felt to be crucial for economic growth.

Page 8

https://mobile.twitter.com/lincsapprentice
https://www.facebook.com/lincsapprentice


5
ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

12 APRIL 2016

RESOLVED
1. That the report, presentation and comments be noted;
2. That the action taken by Lincolnshire County Council, as listed in paragraphs 

31-35 of the report be supported; and
3. That a clear statement showing the role of Lincolnshire County Council in skills 

and Apprenticeships be prepared.

At 12.20pm Councillors C J Davie and B Adams left the meeting and did not return.

84    AGREEMENT OF STRATEGIC ECONOMIC PLAN FOR GREATER 
LINCOLNSHIRE

Consideration was given to a report from the Executive Director for Environment and 
Economy which provided the updated version of the Strategic Economic Plan 
following the discussion points raised at the last meeting of the Committee.

Jon Burgess, LEP Officer, introduced the report and confirmed that the final 
document had been agreed by all District Councils but that the document was 
currently being circulated to obtain signatures from each Leader.

RESOLVED
1. That the final version of the Strategic Economic Plan be supported;
2. That Councillor M J Hill MBE be asked to sign the document in order to 

confirm the support of Lincolnshire County Council for the Strategic 
Economic Plan.

The Chairman gave formal thanks to Jon Burgess on behalf of the Committee.

85    ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2016

Consideration was given to a report of the Director Responsible for Democratic 
Services which provided the Committee with an opportunity to consider its work 
programme for the coming year.

Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, introduced the report and advised that an 
updated version of the Work Programme had been tabled as a number of 
amendments had been made.

It was reported that Danwood, who employed 1200 staff within Lincolnshire, had 
invited the Committee to hold a future meeting at their offices in North Hykeham and 
this would also include a tour of their facilities.  It was suggested that it may be a 
good opportunity to look at other businesses in the same way and the Committee 
was asked to suggest potential companies to Justin Brown, Commissioner for 
Economic Growth.

Page 9



6
ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
12 APRIL 2016

RESOLVED
1. That the Economic Scrutiny Committee Work Programme, with the 

amendments as tabled, be approved; and
2. That the Committee provide suggestions of businesses where future meetings 

of the Committee could be held.

The meeting closed at 12.30 pm

Page 10



 
Policy and Scrutiny

Open Report on behalf of Executive Director for Environment & Economy

Report to: Economic Scrutiny Committee
Date: 24 May 2016
Subject: Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study 
Decision Reference:  Key decision? No 
Summary: 
The Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP) has engaged 
consultants to examine the role that rail plays in the GLLEP area and the 
economic benefits that improvements might bring. This report provides the 
Committee with details of the Rail Study. It also updates the Committee on two 
rail issues of key economic importance, Lincoln-London direct services and the 
re-letting of the East Midlands Rail Franchise.

Actions Required:
The Economic Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the content of the report 
and to comment on any issues of concern before a subsequent detailed update 
on rail issues is given to the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee in 
June.

1. Background

GLLEP Rail Study

1.1 Since its inception, the GLLEP has identified improving transport links as a 
priority for enabling the local economy to develop. As part of this process it 
has received several updates on the actions of the three transport 
authorities to secure investment in the rail network and in rail services. In 
early 2015, the GLLEP commissioned a detailed study of the economic 
development potential of rail investment in the area. The local authorities 
jointly wrote the brief for the study which was carried out by JMP with North 
East Lincolnshire Council acting as client. The three Local Authorities also 
commented on and agreed the draft. A copy of the report is attached at 
Appendix A. The report was considered by the GLLEP Board on 28th 
January. The minute reads:

 The LEP Board agreed to accept and endorse the Rail Study as a 
levering/lobbying tool, subject to final comment from local authority 
colleagues by the end of February.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



1.2 The key conclusion of the work was that:

“The results of our economic modelling indicated substantial benefits to the 
economy from improvements in rail services. Merely bringing existing 
services up to a level that Network Rail would define as a ‘good’ standard 
nationally could bring about a £34m increase in GDP per year. Improving 
them to the standard of the best equivalent services in the UK could be 
worth anywhere between £84m and £167m in extra GDP per year. To put 
this in context our modelling of the current rail service in the area places 
their value to the economy at around £161m per annum. The economic 
prize from enhancing the current level of service is therefore substantial.” 

1.3 In essence the report reiterates the existing approach of the three Councils 
within the context of the GLLEP's strategic role. The County Council's 
priorities are placed within this context and therefore have the endorsement 
of the GLLEP. This provides important support for the Council in its role 
campaigning for improved services and infrastructure investment. 

1.4 The document emphasises the importance of ensuring that committed 
schemes are delivered by Network Rail (NR) and the Train Operating 
Companies. The commitments within the County Council area are shown 
below.

 Lincoln – London two hourly service (from 2019) 
 Lincoln – Newark – Nottingham service enhancements (implemented 

from May 2015)
 Lincoln – Sheffield journey time reductions as part of new Northern 

franchise (which will also see vastly improved Sunday services)
 Replacement of Pacer trains and major refurbishment of other rolling 

stock operated by Northern Rail by 2020

1.5 The report identifies a range of incremental schemes which may be 
delivered relatively quickly perhaps as part of new franchise agreements. Of 
relevance to Lincolnshire are:

 All year round and all day Sunday services including on routes that 
presently have no Sunday service (subsequently included in new 
Northern franchise for Lincoln-Sheffield services from 2017)

 Upgrade Lincoln – Sheffield to “Northern Regional” service 
(subsequently Lincoln-Sheffield-Leeds services included in Northern 
Connect express services within new Northern franchise)

 Improvements to stations and introduction of a Community Rail 
Development Fund

 Journey time improvements on the Joint Line taking advantage of line 
speed improvements

1.6 In addition, the JMP report highlights potential service improvements linked 
to the new East Midlands Rail Franchise due to start in March 2018 
including:

Page 12



 Development of hourly Lincoln – Birmingham service operated either by 
Cross Country or East Midlands Trains (EMT). Depending on the 
commercial case this service may be additional to the existing service

 Clockface half hourly Lincoln – Newark service
 Extension of Newark – Grimsby service to Cleethorpes and introduction 

of two hourly service, rising to hourly. Also introduce journey time 
improvements subject to infrastructure improvements

 Two hourly clockface Lincoln – Doncaster service, operating all day, 
rising to hourly if Robin Hood Airport station opened

 All day hourly service between Sleaford and Lincoln
 Hourly Sleaford – Peterborough service operating all day with potential 

for peak additional services between Spalding and Peterborough
 Development of an integrated timetable maximising connectivity across 

Lincolnshire, through interchange at key nodes such as Lincoln and 
Sleaford

1.7 Finally, the report includes a table of longer term "transformational" larger 
scale infrastructure schemes, including:

 Grade separation of Newark Flat Crossing – increasing East Coast Main 
Line (ECML) capacity but also removing planning constraints on the 
Nottingham – Lincoln line

 Significant line speed enhancements on key routes, notably Lincoln – 
Nottingham, Doncaster – Cleethorpes and Sheffield – Lincoln to reduce 
journey times

 Line speed increases Nottingham – Grantham – Sleaford – Skegness
 Electrification of Nottingham – Lincoln line
 Development of stations at Littleworth and Robin Hood Doncaster 

Sheffield Airport

1.8 Of the proposals identified above, the JMP report identifies the following 
priorities as being considered to deliver the most economic benefits, but 
also being realistic objectives for delivery:

 Development of a direct service between Lincoln and Birmingham, either 
by amalgamating the Lincoln – Nottingham and Nottingham – 
Birmingham service or by introducing a new service

 Frequency enhancements across the EMT Lincolnshire network to fill 
anomalous gaps in services, and provide a minimum of a two hourly 
service on routes that do not currently achieve this (Lincoln – Doncaster 
and Lincoln – Grimsby) and a minimum of an hourly service on other 
routes (Lincoln – Sleaford – Peterborough, Nottingham – Skegness and 
Lincoln – Nottingham)

 Linked to the above, introduce regular clockface departures ultimately 
working towards the development of an integrated timetable to maximise 
connectivity across the network

Page 13



 Improve Sunday services by providing year round services on routes that 
do not presently have Sunday services and enhance Sunday services on 
other routes

 Develop the case for a South Humber Bank – London service and for 
improvements in connectivity from the South Humber bank to other key 
centres across the north

1.9 The report also comments on rail freight issues. The crucial role of rail in 
moving goods to and from the South Bank ports is examined. In the County 
area the proposal for a Rail Freight facility near Spalding is noted. The 
report also comments on the potential for increases in rail freight particularly 
on the recently upgraded GN/GE Joint Line. 

East Midlands Rail Franchise Re-letting

1.10 As highlighted above, most rail services in the County are within the East 
Midlands Franchise (currently operated by East Midlands Trains). The 
current Department for Transport (DfT) programme indicates that the 
process of re-letting the East Midlands Franchise will start later this year, 
with the short-listed rail operators being announced in December 2016. The 
tender process will be completed in 2017, with the new contract starting in 
March 2018. The re-letting of the franchise provides an opportunity for the 
Count Council and other stakeholders to lobby both DfT and the prospective 
operators for improvements to Lincolnshire services. A formal DfT 
consultation is expected later this summer.

1.11 To help to inform its views on the new franchise, the Council asked the 
public and interested organisations for their suggested improvements. 
Almost 100 replies were received and the responses have been assessed. 
The initial findings suggest that the aspirations of the public and 
stakeholders generally agree with those of the County Council and the 
findings of the GLLEP consultants above. These views will then be taken 
into account in the process of lobbying the Department of Transport for the 
best possible outcome in the new Franchise. Officers will also ensure that all 
the prospective bidders are aware of the aspirations of the County.

Lincoln-London Direct Services

1.12 In respect of proposed Lincoln-London direct services included in the new 
Virgin Trains East Coast (VTEC) East Coast franchise, it should be noted 
that the Office of Road and Rail Regulation is due to make a decision on 
competing access rights on the East Coast Main Line (ECML) imminently. 
The County Council, together with Karl McCartney MP and other local 
stakeholders, has been lobbying the regulator to confirm the rights of the 
Franchisee rather than allowing track access rights to Open Access 
Operators. If the latter were granted, it is highly likely that VTEC would be 
unable to deliver some or all of their commitment to provide additional 
services to various locations along the ECML. If this decision is made by the 
time of the Committee meeting, a verbal update will be provided. If VTEC's 
access rights for these services were to be secured, it should also be noted 

Page 14



that the delivery of these services is conditional on new rolling stock being 
available to provide them.

1.12 These issues will form part of a detailed update on rail issues to the 
Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee in June. The Economic 
Scrutiny Committee is being consulted to ensure that its views can be 
reported to the Highways and Transport Scrutiny Committee in June.

2. Conclusion

The GLLEP Rail Study identifies priority improvements to deliver economic 
benefits across the area. These are supportive of the County Council's own 
developing aspirations for DfT's new East Midlands Rail Franchise due to 
commence in March 2018.

3. Consultation

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required
N/A

4. Appendices

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report
Appendix A Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study - January 2016

5. Background Papers

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.

This report was written by Andrew Thomas, who can be contacted on 07717 
304065 or andrew.thomas@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 15

mailto:andrew.thomas@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Page 16



 

 

  

Greater Lincolnshire LEP 

Rail Study 

 

Final Report    January 2016 

Page 17

http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/9/96/153326_&_156406_at_Lincoln_railway_station,_England_-_DSCF1317.JPG


JMP Consultants Ltd 

ii Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

JMP Consultants Ltd 
100 Wellington Street 
Leeds 
LS1 1BA 
T 0113 397 9740   F 0113 397 9741   E leeds@jmp.co.uk 
 
www.jmp.co.uk 
forwardthinking@jmp.co.uk   
facebook.com/jmp.consultants  
twitter.com/#!/_jmp    
linkedin.com/company/jmp consulting 

 

Report Record 

Job No. Report No. Issue No. Prepared Verified Approved Status Date 

NEA7043 1 3 JJ APB APB Final 18/01/2016 

        

 

Contents Amendments Record 

Issue No. Revision description Approved Status  Date 

2 Revisions following comments on 10/04/15 Draft APB Final 27/05/15 

3 Amendments following comments on 27/05/15 Draft Final  APB Final 21/10/2015 

4 Minor changes to update issues APB Final 18/01/2016 

     

 

Page 18

http://www.jmp.co.uk/
mailto:forwardthinking@jmp.co.uk


JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 iii 
 

Contents 

0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1 

1 INTRODUCTION 4 

Introduction to The Greater Lincolnshire Economy And Rail Network ........................................................4 

The East Midlands Trains Franchise ..........................................................................................................5 

Report Structure..........................................................................................................................................6 

PART A: RAIL AND THE ECONOMY OF GREATER LINCOLNSHIRE – NOW AND WHAT 

COULD BE ACHIEVED 7 

2 RAIL AND ITS ROLE IN LINCOLNSHIRE 8 

Features of the Network in Lincolnshire......................................................................................................8 

Demand for Services ..................................................................................................................................9 

The Devolution Opportunity ......................................................................................................................12 

3 ECONOMIC DRIVERS IN GREATER LINCOLNSHIRE 13 

Key Economic Sectors ..............................................................................................................................13 

The importance of rail to the Greater Lincolnshire economy ....................................................................16 

Investment in transport through the Growth Deal .....................................................................................20 

4 MODELLING THE ECONOMIC POTENTIAL OF RAIL 22 

Approach...................................................................................................................................................22 

Settlements and Services .........................................................................................................................23 

Results ......................................................................................................................................................25 

The Value of the Existing Rail Network.....................................................................................................26 

Results by Station .....................................................................................................................................26 

Results by Route Section..........................................................................................................................33 

Summary of the Economic Benefits ..........................................................................................................36 

PART B: DELIVERING THE NECESSARY RAIL IMPROVEMENTS 37 

5 LONG DISTANCE CONNECTIVITY 38 

Lincoln – London.......................................................................................................................................39 

South Humber Bank – London..................................................................................................................39 

Page 19



JMP Consultants Ltd 

iv Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

The East Coast Mainline ...........................................................................................................................41 

Summary...................................................................................................................................................41 

6 LINCOLN RADIAL ROUTES 43 

Lincoln – Newark/Nottingham ...................................................................................................................44 

Lincoln – Sheffield/Doncaster ...................................................................................................................47 

Lincoln – Sleaford .....................................................................................................................................50 

Lincoln – Grimsby .....................................................................................................................................51 

Summary...................................................................................................................................................53 

7 SOUTH LINCOLNSHIRE & EAST MIDLANDS 54 

Nottingham – Grantham – Skegness ........................................................................................................54 

Sleaford – Peterborough ...........................................................................................................................57 

Nottingham – Grantham – Peterborough – Norwich .................................................................................58 

Birmingham – Leicester – Stamford – Stansted Airport ............................................................................59 

Summary...................................................................................................................................................60 

8 NORTHERN LINCOLNSHIRE 61 

South Humber Mainline ............................................................................................................................61 

Connectivity to West Yorkshire & The North.............................................................................................64 

Cleethorpes – Barton-on-Humber .............................................................................................................65 

Cleethorpes – Brigg – Sheffield ................................................................................................................66 

9 THE ROLE OF FREIGHT 68 

The North Lincolnshire Ports ....................................................................................................................68 

Freight Traffic Generated in Greater Lincolnshire.....................................................................................69 

Flows Passing Through Lincolnshire ........................................................................................................69 

Summary...................................................................................................................................................69 

10 DEVELOPING THE NETWORK 70 

Network Wide Improvments ......................................................................................................................70 

Committed & Delivered Schemes .............................................................................................................73 

Incremental Improvement Schemes .........................................................................................................74 

Service Changes within Existing Infrastructure.........................................................................................75 

Transformational Schemes .......................................................................................................................77 

Priorities for Delivery .................................................................................................................................79 

Page 20



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 v 
 

11 CONCLUSIONS 80 

The Role of Rail in Lincolnshire ................................................................................................................80 

Economic Impacts of Improving Services .................................................................................................80 

Delivering Aspirations ...............................................................................................................................81 

The East Midlands Trains Franchise ........................................................................................................81 

Tables and Figures 

Figure 0.1  Greater Lincolnshire LEP Area – Main Rail and Road Links ....................................................................1 

Figure 1.1  The Greater Lincolnshire Rail Network .....................................................................................................5 

Figure 2.1  Station Usage since 1997/98 ..................................................................................................................10 

Figure 2.2  Index of Demand Change Across the Three Authorities Since 1997/98 ................................................11 

Table 2.1  Station Usage at Key Stations .................................................................................................................12 

Table 4.1  Definition of Consumer & Producer Services Segments .........................................................................23 

Table 4.2  Station Pairs Assessed Within Wider Economic Modelling .....................................................................24 

Table 4.3  Definition of Service Levels ......................................................................................................................25 

Table 4.4  Agglomeration Benefits of a “Good Current” level of service (£ 000 GDP) ..............................................26 

Table 4.5  Agglomeration Benefits of a “Best Current” Level of Service (£ 000 GDP) .............................................27 

Table 4.6  Agglomeration Benefits of a Generalised Cost Reduction (£ 000 GDP) ..................................................28 

Table 4.7  Agglomeration Benefits from Greater Lincolnshire Towns to Lincoln (£ 000 GDP) .................................29 

Table 4.8  Agglomeration Benefits from Lincoln & Greater Lincolnshire to London (£ 000 GDP) ............................30 

Table 4.9  Agglomeration Benefits of Strategic Links from Lincoln (£ 000 GDP) .....................................................31 

Table 4.10  Agglomeration Benefits of Strategic Links from Grimsby/Cleethorpes (£ 000 GDP) .............................32 

Table 4.11  Agglomeration Benefits of Strategic Links from Barnetby (£ 000 GDP) ................................................32 

Table 4.12  Agglomeration Benefits of Strategic Links from Scunthorpe (£ 000) .....................................................33 

Table 4.13  Agglomeration benefits by route section (£ 000 GDP) ...........................................................................34 

Figure 4.1  Route Benefits of Good Current (with interchange) Level of Service .....................................................35 

Figure 4.2  Route Benefits of Best Current (with interchange) Level of Service .......................................................36 

Figure 5.1  Lincolnshire:  Existing and Potential Long Distance Rail Services .........................................................38 

Figure 6.1  Lincolnshire: Lincoln Radial Routes ........................................................................................................43 

Table 6.1  Journeys per year Lincoln – Newark – Nottingham Route (Source: Network Rail) .................................45 

Table 6.2  Comparison of potential journey times Lincoln - Nottingham ...................................................................46 

Table 6.3  Journeys per Year: Lincoln – Sheffield/Doncaster ...................................................................................48 

Table 6.4  Journeys per year Sleaford - Lincoln .......................................................................................................51 

Page 21



JMP Consultants Ltd 

vi Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Table 6.5  Journey per Year Lincoln – Grimsby ........................................................................................................52 

Figure 7.1  Lincolnshire: South Lincolnshire & East Midlands Routes ......................................................................54 

Table 7.1  Average Speeds: Nottingham – Skegness Route ....................................................................................55 

Table 7.2  Total Journeys to Nottingham and total station usage .............................................................................56 

Table 7.3  Predominant line speeds Nottingham - Skegness ...................................................................................56 

Figure 8.1  Lincolnshire: Northern Lincolnshire Routes ............................................................................................61 

Table 8.1  Passenger Flows and Station Usage: South Humber Mainline ...............................................................62 

Table 10.1  Committed Schemes ..............................................................................................................................74 

Table 10.2  Potential Incremental Improvement Schemes .......................................................................................75 

Table 10.3  Potential Service Improvements Linked to East Midlands Trains Franchise .........................................76 

Table 10.4  Service Improvements outside scope of next EMT franchise ................................................................77 

Table 10.5  Potential Transformational Schemes .....................................................................................................78 

  

Page 22



JMP Consultants Ltd 

1 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

0 Executive Summary 

0.1 This report examines the role that rail plays in the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

(LEP) area
1
, the benefits to the economy that improvements to services might bring, and the types of 

service improvements that might deliver these benefits. We begin by applying an economic modelling 

framework that estimates the size of the benefits to be gained from improvements, before moving on to 

examine at a route level how services might be enhanced to deliver these benefits. From this a delivery 

framework has been developed for implementing the service changes identified.  

Figure 0.1  Greater Lincolnshire LEP Area – Main Rail and Road Links 

 

                                                        

 

1
  An area covering the County of Lincolnshire and the Unitary Authorities of North Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire 

Page 23



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 2 
 

 

The Role of Rail in Greater Lincolnshire 

0.2 At the present time rail has a varied role across the Greater Lincolnshire area. Many services are 

characterised by their rural nature, and for historic and geographical reasons the Greater Lincolnshire 

network is comparatively isolated from the rest of the rail network.  

0.3 The main city of Lincoln lacks the strategic service that might be expected for a city of its size, with a 

very limited service to London and no east – west services running beyond Nottingham. Whilst the 

service to London is to be substantially improved from 2019 there are presently no clear plans for the 

improvement of east-west services beyond Nottingham. 

0.4 Over the last 20 years there have been relatively few changes to the rail network with almost no service 

enhancements or changes to rolling stock. Despite this, rail use across the county has grown, with an 

overall increase in patronage in excess of 60% and increases at main stations such as Lincoln of around 

90%, showing that there is clearly a demand for services. However the stagnation of use in some places 

in recent years (such as Sleaford), and decline at other locations (such as Skegness), suggests that the 

existing service has reached the limit of its usefulness with a need to improve services further in order to 

help support the economy of the area. Despite this historic pattern of under investment the area has 

recently witnessed the £280million upgrade to the ‘Joint Line’
2
 from Peterborough to Doncaster, which 

whilst it was designed and implemented in order to benefit freight traffic also provides potential benefits 

to local passenger services.  

Economic Impacts of Improving Services    

0.5 The results of our economic modelling indicated substantial benefits to the economy from improvements 

in rail services. Merely bringing existing services up to a level that Network Rail would define as a ‘good’ 

standard nationally could bring about a £34million increase in GDP per year. Improving them to the 

standard of the best equivalent services in the UK could be worth anywhere between £84m and 

£167million in extra GDP per year. To put this in context our modelling of the current rail service in the 

area places their value to the economy at around £161M per annum. The economic prize from 

enhancing the current level of service is therefore substantial.  

0.6 These benefits are focussed on flows from the main centres such as Lincoln, Scunthorpe, Grimsby and 

Cleethorpes. This highlights the strategic importance of rail with the benefits of linkages to areas outside 

of Greater Lincolnshire being substantially greater than those for movements within the area.  

0.7 While this implies that the improvement of strategic links is of greatest importance there is nevertheless 

a need to develop the rail network within Greater Lincolnshire to help develop labour markets and 

address environmental and social objectives. The improvements needed to services within Greater 

Lincolnshire are often comparatively minor and may in fact be easier to deliver than some of the more 

strategic services.  

0.8 The modelling highlighted a particular need to improve links to the main centres in the East Midlands 

from Lincoln as well as to West and South Yorkshire, the former via Doncaster and the latter via the 

existing service to Sheffield.   

 

                                                        

 

2
 So-called as it was a line that was jointly operated by the former Great Northern and Great Eastern railway companies. 

Page 24



JMP Consultants Ltd 

3 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Delivering These Aspirations 

0.9 Our analysis has shown that rail can play an important role in strengthening the economy across Greater 

Lincolnshire, supporting business, tourism and labour markets. However there is a need for further 

investment to fulfil its potential. To deliver the economic growth that the economic modelling indicates 

may be achievable will require  a number of improvements which would be drawn from some or all of the 

following types of intervention: 

 Development of strategic links - especially east-west links to the East Midlands, Yorkshire and the 

North West, but also south towards London. 

 Infill service improvements - filling in gaps in timetables and improving Sunday services for 

example. 

 Journey time reductions - increasing the often extremely low line speeds that prevail across the 

area. 

 Transformational schemes – which would deliver fundamental changes to service patterns (but 

would also be very costly). 

0.10 All of the above is in addition to the existing commitments to already committed improvements to 

infrastructure and services made by Network Rail and train operators, such as the introduction of more 

frequent Lincoln – London services. Throughout the report it is assumed that all of these existing 

commitments will be delivered. 

0.11 The opportunity to deliver many of these service enhancements will come with the re-letting of the East 

Midlands Trains franchise in 2018. With consultation on the new franchise due to begin in July 2016 

there is a window of opportunity for the local authorities and the LEP to develop their thinking on what 

they wish to see from it. Clearly more work is required to understand the operational and commercial 

impacts of changes, however many of the service enhancements could be delivered with a relatively 

limited increase in rolling stock provision in the area. 

0.12 These enhancements could in turn be used to justify the case for further enhancements and ultimately 

contribute to the delivery of schemes that could transform the role that the rail network plays in 

supporting the Greater Lincolnshire economy.  

Page 25



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 4 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 In January 2015 JMP Consultants Ltd was commissioned by the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise 

Partnership (LEP) to prepare a rail strategy for the rail network within the Greater Lincolnshire area. The 

area covered includes all rail services within the county of Lincolnshire and the unitary authorities of 

North Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire.  

1.2 We have examined the linkages between the rail network and the economy of Greater Lincolnshire and 

modelled the economic benefits of developing the rail network within Greater Lincolnshire. Using these 

findings combined with information on the current level of service and usage on individual routes as well 

as information on planned improvements and remaining constraints we have identified a strategy for the 

development of services over the short, medium and long term.   

INTRODUCTION TO THE GREATER LINCOLNSHIRE ECONOMY AND RAIL 

NETWORK  

1.3 The economy of Greater Lincolnshire is dominated by a number of sectors, including agri-food, 

engineering and manufacturing, the visitor economy and port logistics and renewables.  The Greater 

Lincolnshire area contributes over £16 billion annually to the national economy; however it is still one of 

the weakest performing areas in the country with a relatively low productivity and a low skilled, low wage 

economy. 

1.4 Through the Local Growth Deal the Greater Lincolnshire LEP has been successful in obtaining support 

for the development of the economy in the area with funding worth £111.2 million confirmed in July 

2014. This investment from central government will bring forward £70 million of additional funding from 

local partners and the private sector.  

1.5 Improved transport links and a strengthened rail service are expected to play a key role in maximising 

the benefits of this investment. 

1.6 There are a number of routes that together form the rail network within Greater Lincolnshire. Reflecting 

the geography of the area the services provided cover a range of inter-urban and rural links. Long 

distance services within the heart of Greater Lincolnshire are sparser; however to the west side of the 

county the East Coast Mainline provides linkages that are of national, regional and sub-regional 

significance.  

1.7 The majority of services within Greater Lincolnshire are delivered by East Midlands Trains (EMT), who 

operate a mixture of interurban and rural services across the county.  To the north of the area Trans 

Pennine Express (TPE) and Northern are the main operators. The former operates the inter urban 

service from Cleethorpes to Manchester Airport, whilst Northern Rail have a presence in Lincoln from 

their Sheffield – Lincoln service and on the South Humber Bank from the stopping service between 

Sheffield and Scunthorpe. They also operate the Barton-on-Humber branch at the moment, although 

this will change to EMT from 2017.  Virgin East Coast operate the vast majority of services on East 

Coast Mainline and have a limited presence at Lincoln with one train per day to and from London, 

though this is planned to increase over the life of the franchise.  

 

 

 

 

Page 26



JMP Consultants Ltd 

5 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Figure 1.1  The Greater Lincolnshire Rail Network 

 
 

 

1.8 In addition to passenger operations, freight is of great significance to rail operations in Greater 

Lincolnshire. The main focus for this activity is on the South Humber Bank at the Port of Immingham. 

Immingham has historically dealt largely in bulk products, especially, coal, iron ore and petroleum 

products, all of which have been important markets for rail freight, and the port may expand further to 

develop into intermodal and container traffics, which would also be attractive for onward movement by 

rail freight.  

1.9 The GN/GE Joint Line from Peterborough to Doncaster is, following its upgrade, developing as a major 

freight route with the aim of migrating all existing freight flows that use the ECML to this route, and 

accepting any new flows that develop. 

1.10 Rail freight also has a strong presence in North Lincolnshire mainly related to the steelworks at 

Scunthorpe. Lincolnshire also plays a strategic role in rail freight movement with many north south 

services operating through the county along the upgraded joint line between Peterborough and 

Doncaster via Sleaford and Lincoln.      

THE EAST MIDLANDS TRAINS FRANCHISE 

1.11 The dominant operator of services in the Greater Lincolnshire area is East Midlands Trains. The 

operator provides the majority of local and regional services in the area and also operates longer 

distance services such as Lincoln – London via Nottingham and Liverpool – Norwich. The present 

franchise expires in March 2018 and consultation on the next franchise begins in July 2016. This will 

Page 27



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 6 
 

present an important opportunity for stakeholders such as the three local authorities in Greater 

Lincolnshire and the Greater Lincolnshire LEP to present evidence on their vision for the development of 

the local rail network. This report sets out options for service development that might be pursued as part 

of the franchise renewal, although clearly there is a need to examine individual schemes and service 

options in more detail to understand their revenue and cost implications.     

REPORT STRUCTURE 

1.12 Following this introduction the report is split into two parts. 

1.13 Part A describes the economy and the rail network of Greater Lincolnshire and considers what could be 

achieved in the future. It begins by examining in more detail the role that the rail network plays in 

Lincolnshire, and identifies some of the existing constraints it faces (Chapter 2). This is followed in 

Chapter 3 by a description of the economy of Greater Lincolnshire and how this relates to the rail 

network. Chapter 4 looks to the future and asks what the impact on the economy could be of 

improvements to the rail network. This chapter contains a description of our modelling of potential 

service improvements across Greater Lincolnshire which we have used to help identify areas for 

investment.  

1.14 Part B is concerned with looking at these improvements and how they could be delivered to help realise 

these benefits. A series of chapters (5-9) examine individual routes - their usage, potential for 

development, any constraints that they have and the potential interventions that would help to deliver 

better services and grow the economy. This culminates in Chapter 10 with a vision for the development 

of rail services across Greater Lincolnshire. Chapter 11 summarises the findings of the report. 

  

  

Page 28



JMP Consultants Ltd 

7 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Part A: Rail and the Economy of Greater Lincolnshire – Now 

and What could be Achieved 

  

Page 29

http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/9/96/153326_&_156406_at_Lincoln_railway_station,_England_-_DSCF1317.JPG


JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 8 
 

2 Rail and its Role in Lincolnshire 

FEATURES OF THE NETWORK IN LINCOLNSHIRE 

2.1 The rail network in Greater Lincolnshire strongly reflects the geography of the area. The Greater 

Lincolnshire area is sparsely populated with a small number of larger settlements. The rail network links 

the majority of these locations, although there is significant variability in the quality of services. Many 

routes across the area can be characterised as rural. Whilst they perform an inter-urban function they 

also serve smaller settlements en route, and are characterised by comparatively low frequencies and 

long journey times. Whilst routes and services may in some areas be relatively indirect or slow the 

overall coverage is good with the only major gaps in the rail network being on the East Coast where no 

rail services exist between Skegness and Grimsby, leaving the towns of Horncastle, Mablethorpe and 

Louth isolated from the rail network.  

2.2 The character of the area has tended to determine the types of service operated. The county misses out 

on being directly served by a north – south mainline, with the East Coast Mainline running to the west of 

the county. This has limited the scope for developing long distance connectivity in the area, with 

effectively no long distance services passing through the county (expect at Grantham). Furthermore, the 

need to cross the ECML has acted as a barrier to the development of better east – west links with the 

City of Lincoln particularly affected, with an interchange at Nottingham or Sheffield being a requirement 

for east – west trips, leaving the city isolated from its peers in the East and West Midlands and 

Yorkshire.  

2.3 Services within Greater Lincolnshire tend to be characterised by slow journeys, not helped by poor 

service frequencies in a number of locations, making rail unattractive compared to road. A number of 

services do not follow standard service patterns, with for example the Lincoln – Grimsby route seeing 

eight trains each way per day spread over a 14 hour period but with gaps of approaching three hours at 

some periods, whilst the Lincoln – Sleaford route see trains operating at broadly hourly intervals but not 

following a standard series of departures times. It tends to only be those services that interact with other 

parts of the network that run at fixed minute past each hour, for example the Cleethorpes – Manchester 

Airport services.  

2.4 This situation undermines a potentially very useful rail network that could help support the development 

of the area. The demographic geography of Greater Lincolnshire is such that the vast majority of the 

population live in a relatively small number of settlements. An analysis of data in Network Rail’s Regional 

Market Study suggests that 81% of the population of the Greater Lincolnshire area lives within 5km of a 

railway station, approximately 1/3 of the population of the County of Lincolnshire live within or close to 

the urban area around Lincoln itself, there are therefore likely to be untapped potential markets for rail 

around the county.  

2.5 A further feature of the rail network across the area is the pattern of stations. On a significant number of 

routes there are significant gaps between stations, reflecting the low population density across the area. 

This potentially provides the opportunity to operate fast services providing rapid links between the key 

settlements in the area. The comparative isolation of the Lincolnshire rail network from the rest of the rail 

network can also be used as a strength in planning services as it may be possible to plan an integrated 

Page 30



JMP Consultants Ltd 

9 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

timetable to maximise connection opportunities at key nodes such as Lincoln and Sleaford, potentially 

following the principles of the Swiss Taktfahrplan
3
.  

2.6 A number of routes across the area have benefitted in recent years from the development of Community 

Rail Partnerships which have sought to promote routes and where possible develop services. However 

their efforts have in some ways been limited by a lack of available resource to effect the changes in 

service levels which would have a greater impact on the attractiveness of the routes. 

DEMAND FOR SERVICES 

2.7 Rail services have a varied role in Lincolnshire serving a range of functions. A number of services such 

as Cleethorpes – Manchester Airport and Lincoln – Nottingham perform a strategic function linking key 

settlements in the Greater Lincolnshire area with other parts of the UK. These services are used for a 

mixture of purposes such as business trips, personal and leisure trips by residents of Greater 

Lincolnshire and by tourists coming into the area either to the coastal destinations or to places such as 

Lincoln. The success of these services is arguably constrained by poor journey times and frequencies 

and a lack of connectivity beyond destinations immediately west of Greater Lincolnshire.   

2.8 Other services across Greater Lincolnshire provide a mixed role dominated by leisure, education and 

personal business trips by local residents, the combination of journey times and frequencies of most 

services makes car more attractive for business journeys.  

2.9 The rural nature of Greater Lincolnshire means that rail does not provide a commuting function in the 

way that it does elsewhere, particularly into large conurbations. However rail has an important role to 

play in providing access to jobs and education, especially for those without access to a car. Whilst most 

rail services will perform this role in some form, there are certain flows where this is more important, and 

over time may develop further. Specific data on commuting patterns from individual stations is not 

available however there are a number of flows where commuting is likely to form an important journey 

purpose, these include the following: 

 Scunthorpe – Doncaster/Sheffield 

 Stamford/Spalding – Peterborough (and London) 

 Newark – Lincoln 

 Sleaford – Lincoln 

 Hykeham - Lincoln  

2.10 Station usage data produced by the Office of Rail Regulation allows comparisons to be made of the 

pattern of demand on the rail network across Greater Lincolnshire. This data goes back as far as 1997-

98, missing out only one year (2003-04) and therefore provides a valuable time series for comparing 

demand for stations.  

2.11 The figure below presents the total station usage for all station in Greater Lincolnshire since 1997.  

                                                        

 

3
 Services on the Swiss railway network are integrated with each other and with other forms of public transport with a focus on minimising connection times 

rather than running faster services. Swiss Federal Railways have adapted their infrastructure  such  that journey times on main lines between hubs are 

multiples of 30 minutes so that on the hour or half-hour all trains stand in the main stations at the same time, minimising connection times. 

Page 31



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 10 
 

Figure 2.1  Station Usage since 1997/98 

 

 

2.12 It can be seen that the growth in demand has been relatively steady and consistent over a long period, 

with an overall increase of 62% since 1997. This is despite there being relatively little change in the 

pattern of services, or quality of service offered. In some cases services have worsened with the loss of 

longer distance through services from Lincoln to points west of Nottingham for example. The only station 

which has enjoyed a significant improvement in service levels is Grantham which has benefitted from 

enhancements to the ECML service. The cause of the increase is likely to be linked to external issues 

such as changes in income over the long term, the cost of road travel and broader changes in 

individuals travel patterns that have driven changes in demand more generally across the whole UK rail 

network.     

2.13 The figure below compares the level of demand for the three constituent local authorities which form 

Greater Lincolnshire. The results are indexed to 1997/98 to provide a more meaningful comparison. 

0 

1,000,000 

2,000,000 

3,000,000 

4,000,000 

5,000,000 

6,000,000 

7,000,000 

P
ax

 N
u

m
b

e
rs

 

All Stations in Greater Lincolnshire 

Page 32



JMP Consultants Ltd 

11 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Figure 2.2  Index of Demand Change Across the Three Authorities Since 1997/98 

 

 

2.14 The pattern of demand is interesting as it shows the County of Lincolnshire having the highest level of 

growth over the period, with particularly strong growth in the late 1990s, perhaps due a combination of 

some service developments in the early years of the Central Trains franchise and the growth of services 

on the ECML. Demand appears to have levelled off in recent years with small declines in usage at larger 

stations such as Lincoln having an impact on the total usage.  

2.15  North Lincolnshire has also seen a sharp increase in demand for services; almost wholly attributable to 

Scunthorpe in the period from 2004-05 to 2008-09. Demand changes here may be linked to increases in 

commuting to other areas, but could also be linked to the improved quality of the Trans Pennine Express 

services over this period, particularly due to the introduction of Class 185 trains from 2006.However 

there has been a period of decline in North Lincolnshire in recent years.  

2.16 Growth in North East Lincolnshire has been more modest perhaps reflecting trends in coastal leisure 

trips on which the route to Cleethorpes has been reliant on historically. The area has seen few if any 

service changes since privatisation and journey times are such that rail is not used for commuting, 

where as in other areas rail commuting has grown significantly over the period. The two major dips in rail 

use in North and North East Lincolnshire in 2009-10 and 2012-13 are linked to engineering issues. The 

former was due to planned engineering work for 10 weeks on embankments during the summer of 2009 

which will have had a seriously impact on the summer leisure market, whilst the second dip was caused 

by a major landslide at Hatfield Colliery at Doncaster which blocked the line for much of 2013.  These 

major breaks in service especially during the summer season may in part explain the lower growth rates 

achieved in these areas. 

2.17 In Chapter 4 the results of an economic modelling exercise are presented, looking at a number of key 

towns and cities in the Greater Lincolnshire area. The table below presents the total station usage at 

these locations in the year 2013-14 and shows the percentage change since 1997-98 and over the last 

ten years.  

 

 

 

100 

110 

120 

130 

140 

150 

160 

170 

180 

Demand Change across Authorities 

Lincolnshire North East Lincolnshire North Lincolnshire 

Page 33



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 12 
 

Table 2.1  Station Usage at Key Stations 

Station 2013-14 Usage % Change since 2002/03 % Change since 1997/98 

Lincoln Central 1,585,386 30% 89% 

Grantham 1,198,197 49% 97% 

Grimsby Town 427,367 12% 29% 

Scunthorpe 376,870 63% 86% 

Stamford 324,813 45% 73% 

Skegness 322,796 -28% 4% 

Sleaford 301,349 0.1% 35% 

Cleethorpes 277,724 55% 73% 

Boston 206,994 -1% 55% 

Spalding 171,960 2% 22% 

Gainsborough 138,614 61% 151% 

Barnetby 61,437 53% 99% 

2.18 It can be seen that the results represents a very mixed picture. A number of stations have been very 

successful over the period with large increases in passenger numbers. The biggest percentage increase 

has been Gainsborough (Lea Road and Central stations combined), (151% since 1997-98 and a 61% in 

the last 10 years). Larger absolute increases in growth have been achieved at stations such Lincoln, 

Grantham and Scunthorpe, which have nearly doubled their passenger numbers.  There are however a 

group of stations where demand has been comparatively static over the period and in some cases there 

has been a decline.  The worst example of this is Skegness which over the last 10 years has seen a 

reduction in passenger numbers of 28% (although there has been a modest increase compared to 1997-

98). The reasons for this are unclear but may be related to changes in demographics, holidaying 

patterns and issues of insufficient rail capacity in summer seasons which may deter passengers.  

2.19 Growth over the last ten years at both Sleaford and Spalding has also been disappointing, in the case of 

Spalding this is surprising as the area is increasingly linked to Peterborough for its economic vitality, and 

the rail service should be well placed to serve this.  

2.20 In both cases, it is possible that the existing service no longer meets users’ needs, and deficiencies 

within it (discussed later), need resolving to stimulate demand further.  

THE DEVOLUTION OPPORTUNITY 

2.21 The governance of regional rail services across England is at an exciting juncture. Increasingly, control 

of services will be devolved from central government, and this has already been seen through the 

development of a partnership agreement between DfT and Rail North over the control of services 

operated by Northern and Trans Pennine Express. This agreement will bring increased control for local 

authorities over rail services via Rail North. Within the Greater Lincolnshire LEP area this covers 

services on the South Humber Bank and the Sheffield – Lincoln service.  

2.22 Devolved control may well extend in some form to services presently operated by East Midlands Trains 

in the Lincolnshire area. An organisation known as Midlands Connect has been developed to deliver 

better transport links across the East and West Midlands. Lincolnshire County Council are a member of 

this organisation, and it is likely that it will have influence over the future development and direction of 

the East Midlands Trains, London Midlands and as pacts of the Cross Country franchise. Devolution 

would bring greater control over the specification of services, helping the local authorities and the LEP to 

use rail to meet their economic, social and environmental objectives.      

Page 34



JMP Consultants Ltd 

13 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

3 Economic Drivers in Greater Lincolnshire 

KEY ECONOMIC SECTORS 

3.1 Greater Lincolnshire has a total population of approximately 1,040,650
4
 and has a number of specific 

economic strengths.  These include agri-food, manufacturing and engineering, tourism and the visitor 

economy.  Future opportunities include ports, logistics and the associated growth of the low carbon 

energy sector.  Greater Lincolnshire is already home to the busiest ports in the UK, including the largest 

UK port by tonnage, and the Humber Estuary is the focus of a growing low carbon sector worth £1.2 

billion
5
. 

3.2 In total, the local economy is estimated to contribute over £16 billion annually to the national economy
6
.  

However, it is still one of the weakest performing areas in the country in terms of productivity, and 

retains a significant element that represents a low skilled, low wage economy. 

3.3 The county’s largest employers reflect the economic strengths of Greater Lincolnshire, and include
7
: 

 Findus, one of Europe’s largest frozen food and seafood companies, with operations in Grimsby 

under the Young’s Seafood brand, which has a market leading position in branded seafood; 

 Bakkavor, an international fresh prepared foods supplier with manufacturing operations in the UK, 

Europe, Asia and North America.  In Greater Lincolnshire the company’s operations are 

concentrated in and around Spalding, but it also has manufacturing facilities in Barton-on-Humber, 

Boston, and Bourne; 

 Novartis UK is the UK affiliate of Swiss-based Novartis AG – one of the largest healthcare 

companies in the world – and operates a large pharma-chemicals manufacturing plant in Grimsby.  

 Tata Steel operates a large integrated steel-works at Scunthorpe which manufactures 

approximately 3.2 million tonnes of steel per year; 

 Siemens Industrial Turbomachinery Ltd. in Lincoln, part of the global Siemens group, is a major 

engineering business manufacturing industrial gas turbines. 

3.4 In addition to these large employers, there are over 40,000 small and medium-sized businesses in the 

Greater Lincolnshire area
8
. 

Agri-food 

3.5 Greater Lincolnshire is the nation’s biggest arable and horticulture producer, has 25% of England’s 

grade 1 agricultural land, produces 25% of the country’s vegetables, and processes 70% of UK 

seafood
9
.  In total, farming, manufacturing and food processing are worth an estimated £1 billion to the 

area’s economy, and employs 35,000 people directly in agriculture or food production
10

.   

                                                        

 

4
 Census 2011 

5
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014, pp8-9 

6
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014, pp8-9 

7
 UKTI, Local Investment Showcase, https://www.localinvestuk.com/ 

8
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014, pp8-9 

9
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014, pp8-9 

10
 UKTI, Local Investment Showcase, https://www.localinvestuk.com/ 

Page 35



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 14 
 

3.6 The agri-food sector, both in terms of produce and allied food manufacturing, is therefore one of the 

main focuses for growth across Greater Lincolnshire.  The area is home to a number of major employers 

in food and agribusiness, including the highest concentration of food companies in the UK.  This food 

manufacturing sector is supported by its rural hinterland across Greater Lincolnshire, and the impact of 

the sector on the economy is much wider than farming, fishing and food processing, with sectors as 

diverse as logistics, packaging materials, professional and businesses services all dependent on the 

food chain for much of their livelihood.  Accounting for associated activities within the supply chain 

including farm equipment manufacturing, freezing, distribution, packaging and food importation, the 

number employed within the sector rises to 68,000 workers and the sector is estimated to generate a 

GVA of over £2.5bn
11

. 

Manufacturing and engineering 

3.7 Greater Lincolnshire’s manufacturing sector is worth £1.8 billion annually
12

, with 15% of employees 

working in manufacturing
13

.  The area has a proud heritage in manufacturing and engineering and, as 

home to the biggest Siemens plant in the UK
14

 retains its core strength in power engineering.  Tata 

Steel, one of the world's top 10 steel producers, is based in Scunthorpe, home to one of Europe’s most 

competitive integrated steel plants.  This plant supplies steel for construction and shipbuilding, through 

to rail track and wind turbines for the European mainland
15

.  The growth of the offshore wind sector in 

Greater Lincolnshire and the Humber brings major potential in terms of steel demand from the supply 

chain and the development of complementary areas of expertise. 

The visitor economy 

3.8 Tourism is an important and growing element of the economy.  Greater Lincolnshire attracts more than 

17 million visitors per year, and is home to Butlins in Skegness, the 4th most popular tourist resort in the 

UK
16

.  The visitor economy is worth more than £1 billion a year to Greater Lincolnshire and employs 

39,000 people
17

.  The Tourism and Hospitality Chamber, dedicated to the industry, has been set up and 

supported by the Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce. 

3.9 The area has a strong tradition of coastal tourism, and resorts such as Skegness and Cleethorpes have 

long attracted visitors to enjoy the seaside and all that this offers.  Skegness has traditionally attracted 

many visitors from the Nottingham area and the wider East Midlands.  Cleethorpes has particularly 

strong links with visitors from the urban communities of South Yorkshire and in particular Sheffield.  The 

coastal resorts represent major destinations for both day trips and longer stays for these communities. 

3.10 Tourism in Lincolnshire encompasses not only traditional tourism but also business visitors, culture and 

heritage, events and festivals.  The county boasts heritage assets including the castle, cathedral and 

Brayford Waterfront in Lincoln; the Lincolnshire Wolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; more than 

                                                        

 

11
 http://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk/growth/agri-food 

12
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014, pp8-9 

13
 UKTI, Local Investment Showcase, https://www.localinvestuk.com/ 

14
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014, pp8-9 

15
 UKTI, Local Investment Showcase, https://www.localinvestuk.com/ 

16
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014, pp8-9 

17
 http://www.businesslincolnshire.com/sectors/visitor-economy 

Page 36



JMP Consultants Ltd 

15 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

120 sites of special scientific interest; more than 600 ancient monuments; as well as the coastal resorts 

from North East Lincolnshire to the Wash
18.

 

3.11 The city of Lincoln and its attractions represents a fundamental element of the area’s tourism offer.  

‘Uphill’ Lincoln, centred on the castle and cathedral, represents the key opportunity.  The 800th 

anniversary of Magna Carta in 2015 is the potential catalyst for growth, and will place Lincoln firmly in 

the market place for overseas visitors as well as domestic markets. 

3.12 In support of this core tourism offer, it is acknowledged that further investment is required to broaden 

and deepen the network of attractions, and the retail offer, across the area in order to extend the 

average length of stay, and to increase visitor expenditure. 

Ports, logistics and renewable energy 

3.13 Greater Lincolnshire’s international ports are the busiest in the UK.  Together, the Ports of Immingham 

and Grimsby handled approaching 63m tonnes in 2013 (UK Port Freight Statistics 2013).  The ports and 

logistics sector will continue to underpin growth of agri-food, manufacturing and the low carbon 

economy, including offshore wind as well as generating opportunities for wider growth across the area. 

3.14 The growth of the low carbon energy sector on the Humber Estuary has many synergies with the growth 

of the ports.  Indeed, the new Able Marine Energy Park, situated within the Humber Renewable Energy 

Super Cluster, takes advantage of the area's natural assets – developable land, coastline and the UK's 

major port of Immingham & Grimsby.  These assets are being harnessed to serve the growing 

opportunity for renewable energy in the area, including the development of offshore production
19

. 

3.15 The Marine Energy Park will see substantial quays built to accommodate the deployment of large 

industrial components to the North Sea and beyond.  This development alone will create in excess of 

11,000 jobs including over 4,000 direct jobs on the South Humber bank, helping establish the Humber 

Estuary at the heart of the largest offshore wind market in the world.  As a consequence, Grimsby is also 

emerging as an important centre for the servicing and maintenance facilities of the offshore wind sector. 

Siemens, Dong, RES, Centrica, E.ON and Vestas from E.ON’s base, operate maintenance vessels for 

the offshore wind industry from Grimsby Docks as well basing their offices on the dock. Humberside 

Airport also has strong links to the growing renewable energy sector.  It is England’s largest offshore 

helicopter logistics hub in terms of passengers carried to and from offshore facilities. 

The Local Growth Deal and its impact on the Greater Lincolnshire economy 

3.16 The Local Growth Deal with Government supports the growth of the economy in Greater Lincolnshire.  

The Greater Lincolnshire Growth Deal
20

 aims to drive growth across the area, especially where there is 

existing sectoral strength (agri-food, manufacturing, and visitor economy) as well as sectors with growth 

potential (low carbon, ports and logistics, and health and care). 

3.17 Specifically, the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership secured £111.2m from the 

Government’s Local Growth Fund to support economic growth in the area in the first wave of growth 

deals in July 2014.  In Greater Lincolnshire this included £18.6m of new funding confirmed for 2015/16 

and £21.2m for 2016/17 to 2021.  This substantial investment from Government will bring forward at 

least £70m of additional investment from local partners and the private sector.  Combined together this 

creates a total new investment package of £181.2m for the Greater Lincolnshire LEP. 

                                                        

 

18
 http://www.businesslincolnshire.com/sectors/visitor-economy 

19
 UKTI, Local Investment Showcase, https://www.localinvestuk.com/ 

20
 Cabinet Office and Deputy Prime Minister’s Office, Greater Lincolnshire Growth Deal, 7 July 2014 updated 29 January 2015, HMSO 

Page 37



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 16 
 

3.18 In January 2015 the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership agreed an expansion to its 

Growth Deal with the Government which will see an extra £14.8m invested in Greater Lincolnshire 

between 2016 and 2021.  This is in addition to the £111.2m of funding committed by the Government 

identified above.  

3.19 Over the lifetime of the Deal (2015-2021) the Local Enterprise Partnership estimates that up to 4000 

new jobs could be created, 4000 new homes built and that it has the potential to generate £110m public 

and private investment. 

THE IMPORTANCE OF RAIL TO THE GREATER LINCOLNSHIRE ECONOMY 

3.20 The existing economic sectors of strength across Greater Lincolnshire: food manufacturing and agri-

business, tourism and the visitor economy, and engineering and manufacturing; are all heavily reliant 

upon transport. The sectors with growth potential: low carbon, ports and logistics, and health and care; 

are all to a greater or lesser degree reliant upon transport too.  All have some needs in which rail can 

play a role, though health and care is particularly reliant upon much more local transport networks, often 

provided through private transport such as the car.  Ports and logistics, and the renewable energy sector 

often have very specific transport needs, particularly with regard to freight. 

The Economic Benefits of Improved Railways 

3.21 Transport investments such as those in railways can, and generally do, affect the economy.  They can in 

particular affect the location and pattern of economic activity
21

.  In very simplistic terms if a transport 

improvement reduces the time needed to make a particular journey, it is likely to facilitate economic 

development at either end of the journey. 

3.22 There are a number of ways of looking at how rail investment can bring economic benefits.  These 

include direct transport supply benefits including income from rail operations, such as fares and wages, 

and from access to wider distribution markets.  There are direct demand benefits including improved 

accessibility, and time and cost savings.  Transport user benefits are based largely on these time 

savings, but can also include congestion relief, frequency, safety, and reliability impacts
22

.   

3.23 There are also a number of indirect impacts at the microeconomic (sector) and macroeconomic (whole 

economy) levels.  These include rent income, price of commodities, the attraction and accumulation of 

economic activities, increased competitiveness, and the growth of consumption. 

3.24 In supporting regional economies, there is importance both in connecting cities and towns to each other, 

and of improving internal linkages within individual towns and cities.  In the context of the northern 

regions of England, One North
23

 deals with both in identifying how economies can benefit from improved 

transport links.  Better connectivity means improved journey time reliability, better travel quality and 

shorter journeys that will widen and strengthen labour markets and improve business efficiency by: 

 Stimulating business investment and innovation by supporting economies of scale and new ways of 

working; 

 Achieving agglomeration economies by bringing firms and their employees closer to business rivals 

and partners; 

                                                        

 

21
 Department for Transport, Discussion Paper Transport, Wider Economic Benefits, and Impacts on GDP, 2005 

22
 Department for Transport Webtag guidance 

23
 One North, A proposition for an Interconnected North, July 2014 

Page 38



JMP Consultants Ltd 

17 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

 Enabling firms to access a larger labour supply and providing wider employment opportunities for 

workers and those seeking work; 

 Increasing competitiveness through access to new and larger markets with the benefits of 

increased labour market specialisation; 

 Reducing trading costs and using more efficient logistics networks; 

 Strengthening the existing comparative advantages of a place to do business. 

3.25 These lessons hold for regional towns and cities across England and Wales. 

Key Issue 1: Connecting places 

3.26 Rail connects places.  Increased connectivity increases the potential for trade, whether by improving 

freight connections or by improving the ease with which meetings can take place.  This allows a 

reorganisation of economic activity between places, with firms, plants and offices moving to new – and 

now more efficient – locations.  The changes arise because better connectivity improves both ‘market 

access’ and ‘supplier access’
24

. 

3.27 When looking at transporting goods or services to market, for places that are quite similar, there will be 

trade and economic benefits, as “better connectivity will tend to increase trade volumes, bringing 

benefits of more choice for consumers and more intense competition between firms.”
25

 

3.28 Connectivity allows locations to gain scale in a particular range of activities, thereby gaining a 

comparative (and absolute) advantage in what they do, while buying in other goods or services from a 

similarly specialised and efficient source
26

.  This aids specialisation and productivity.  These economic 

gains are not accounted for in traditional cost-benefit analysis, but we can identify that economic 

benefits will be gained through investment in rail, whether through the saving of business time, which 

represents a productivity gain, whether it leads to extra productivity for an existing activity (reducing 

prices or improving the product), or to increased business in a new location.  In this way rail investment 

can improve business to business connectivity; provides benefit by improving connectivity for retail, 

leisure and tourism; and reduces travel time and cost, thereby increasing economic benefit. 

3.29 The importance of investing in rail in our growing regional economies is encapsulated in he Rail North 

vision and principles based around four high level objectives for the future of regional rail services: 

 Better connectivity – faster, frequent, more punctual services; 

 A transformation of quality – with the creation of a user friendly network, and the visible marketing 

coherence of London Underground; 

 Capacity – adequate capacity both in terms of overcrowding on trains, and track capacity to 

accommodate movements; 

 Cost Effectiveness – investment to ensure that as services grow the cost per passenger falls. 

3.30 The Rail North vision is particularly important and relevant to the economies of the northern part of 

Lincolnshire, where economic connections to South Yorkshire and the rest of the north are strong.  In 

the county of Lincolnshire, the economic geography means that connections to the English Midlands are 

of much greater priority although the principles for service development can still be applied to all regional 

                                                        

 

24
 Bridget Rosewell & Tony Venables for HS2 Ltd, High Speed Rail, Transport Investment and Economic Impact, 2013 

 

25
 Bridget Rosewell & Tony Venables for HS2 Ltd, High Speed Rail, Transport Investment and Economic Impact, 2013 

26
 Bridget Rosewell & Tony Venables for HS2 Ltd, High Speed Rail, Transport Investment and Economic Impact, 2013 

Page 39



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 18 
 

services.  Local authorities in both the West and East Midlands regions are collaborating to develop and 

deliver the Midlands Connect vision.  This will enable authorities across the Midlands to reach a unified 

position on what strategic transport interventions are required to maximise the growth potential of the 

area, and more widely of the UK as a whole.  The vision will encompass how the Midlands will make the 

most of the opportunities presented by HS2. 

3.31 Rail connections within, to and from the Greater Lincolnshire area share common characteristics that will 

be addressed through investment around these sub-national visions, for both the Midlands, and the 

North.   

3.32 Rail into, out of, and across the county is currently slow and frequencies are already low, and 

consequently rail provides poor centre to centre connectivity.  This should translate to key policies that 

highlight those journeys where speeds are low, a common issue across Greater Lincolnshire, and could 

be improved significantly in markets with potential for growth.  The perceived quality of rail services 

across Greater Lincolnshire, especially their speed, does act as a barrier to use, and is an issue for 

business of all types.  The quality of rail services and the rolling stock in terms of passenger experience 

is also important, and a reputational issue for business in the area. 

3.33 Business-to-business connections to London and important regional cities such as Birmingham, 

Nottingham, Leicester, and Sheffield, and to international links at Stansted, the London airports, and at 

Manchester Airport, are the links that businesses identify as the fundamental passenger services 

provided by the rail network. Over time as air services develop further links to Humberside and Robin 

Hood Airports will become more important.  Again, there is split geography, links to Birmingham, 

Nottingham, and Leicester, together with Stansted, East Midlands, and the London airports are 

fundamental to the southern parts of the County.  Manchester Airport, Sheffield, Leeds and York are 

more important in the northern parts of Lincolnshire. 

Key Issue 2: Connections to the East Coast Main Line 

3.34 Connectivity to London is crucial.  Local rail services provide important connections to a range of 

destinations of importance to business, but also to connections with East Coast Main Line services at 

Peterborough, Grantham, Newark, Retford and Doncaster, providing onward connections to London, 

and to locations in Yorkshire and the far north. 

3.35 The slow speed of local lines from most of Lincolnshire to these ‘rail-heads’, and the relative 

convenience of car travel in reaching stations with direct services to London and other destinations 

elsewhere on the East Coast Main Line, does mean that important businesses and their partners often 

drive to main line stations, rather than using local services.  Stakeholders from key businesses identified 

that taxis, hire cars, and taking lifts from colleagues and family were all routinely used for trips to the 

East Coast Main Line stations in preference to using the local trains.  The presence of high quality, 

secure, car parking was also cited as a reason to drive direct to East Coast Main Line stations.  

Key Issue 3: Ports and Freight Connections 

3.36 Freight services that serve the area’s chief manufacturing and energy industries by rail are vital to the 

area.  If the potential for rail freight operations to contribute to meeting the needs of the growing 

economy is to be realised, the rail network needs to be developed.  There is presently insufficient 

capacity to accommodate existing peak demand for freight.  This network capability for growth in the 

freight market is something that could limit the effectiveness of the economy. However investment being 

delivered by Network Rail including the North Lincolnshire Re-signalling scheme and will deliver extra 

capacity whilst the South Humber Gauge Enhancement Scheme, being delivered in parallel with the re-

signalling works will increase present the opportunity to development the movement of shipping 

containers by rail from the Port of Immingham.    

Page 40



JMP Consultants Ltd 

19 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

3.37 Key businesses in the area understand the relationship between passenger and freight movements, and 

have strongly advocated the need for investment in the infrastructure to provide additional capacity on 

the network to ensure that freight and passengers can run side-by-side.  There is a strong demand for 

additional freight capacity to support the growing port and manufacturing sectors, and a strong sense 

that investment in the infrastructure is required to provide this additional capacity, understanding that the 

needs of passenger services must also be met.    Tata Steel, acknowledging its fundamental need for 

freight capacity, sums this up, and “is keen to see improvements for all rail users using services and 

would not wish to see any one group disadvantaged over another.” 

3.38 Investment is needed in strategic infrastructure projects to increase the capacity and competitiveness of 

the ports and logistics sector, including rail gauge improvements on the South Humber Line.  The gauge 

enhancement scheme between Immingham and the East Coast Main Line at Doncaster to enhance the 

rail freight capacity of the South Humber Line, led and funded by North Lincolnshire Council and the 

Humber LEP is being delivered by Network Rail, and will help the growth in containerised freight to and 

from the Humber Ports. 

3.39 Development of the Spalding Rail Freight Hub is another fundamental project.  This investment in the 

infrastructure to facilitate the development of a 60 hectare rail freight interchange at Deeping Fen will 

further support growth of food processing activity in the southern part of the county.  The investment will 

also help to promote intermodal shift and reduce carbon emissions.  Much of this investment is likely to 

come from the private sector. 

3.40 Much of the freight transport within the Agri-food sector is road based.  This includes not just the 

transport of produce out of Greater Lincolnshire to markets across the UK, Europe and the world, but 

also includes incoming produce for processing within the area’s strong food processing and 

manufacturing businesses. To support planned growth within the agri-food and associated sectors, the 

Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership has identified a number of necessary transport 

infrastructure investments
27

.  The infrastructure required to support the long term growth of the sector 

includes development of the Ports of Immingham & Grimsby and Boston, and Humberside Airport’s 

Perishables Hub.   

3.41 Nevertheless the Joint Line, linking Peterborough to Sleaford and Lincoln via Spalding, is a potentially 

important link for freight in the agri-food and food processing and manufacturing sector in the south of 

the county.  Network Rail has recently completed an investment of £280m to upgrade this line to allow 

for freight capacity to be improved, and to provide complementary relief to the East Coast Main Line. 

Key Issue 5: Manufacturing and engineering 

3.42 The Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership emphasises the need to continue to invest in 

business infrastructure to support the growth of the county’s manufacturing and engineering sector
28,

 

including major road improvements in Grantham, Spalding, Lincoln and the A160/A180; developing a 

wider range of scheduled services from Humberside Airport alongside enhanced surface access; and 

further investment in port infrastructure.  Road freight remains the primary means of transporting the 

area’s manufactured goods to market.  For example, the Siemens turbines, of which 97% are for the 

export market, predominantly move by road as ‘abnormal’ loads due to their size, many via Immingham 

port. 

                                                        

 

27
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014 

28
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014 

Page 41



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 20 
 

3.43 The need for investment in rail services to improve national connections to support business travel, 

particularly Lincoln to London connections, has also been identified.  Not only will this support 

engineering and manufacturing, but will help all business sectors across the area. 

3.44 In specific instances the rail freight sector will be able to assist the manufacturing and engineering 

sectors, and where possible provision should be made to retain existing freight facilities and allow new 

ones to develop. 

Key Issue 6: The visitor economy 

3.45 Tourism is one of the most important growth sectors for the area.  The Greater Lincolnshire Local 

Enterprise Partnership has identified that, in some parts of Greater Lincolnshire, the road and rail 

infrastructure remains a significant barrier to the growth of the visitor economy
29

.  The Lincoln to London 

rail connection is a particular focus in terms of transport links, alongside improving the Nottingham to 

Lincoln service.  In the north of the county, improved capacity and reduced journey times between 

Doncaster and Cleethorpes will support the growth of the visitor economy. 

3.46 Improvement of the Lincoln to London connection is critical for growing the visitor market in Lincoln.  

This includes for overseas visitors as well as domestic tourism, but also provides complementary 

benefits for business visitors and the growing number of people engaged in the further and higher 

education sector.  Lincoln University is climbing the UK league table, and the University has also 

partnered with Siemens to create a purpose built School of Engineering
30 

helping to raise its profile to 

students, investors and the research community. Whilst access to London is important for the visitor 

economy, improvements in services to the west including those to Nottingham and Sheffield, as well as 

improved access to the north will also help grow the visitor economy.  

3.47 Coastal tourism remains an influential part of the economy.  Improved rail services that provide 

connections beyond the traditional markets of Nottingham and Leicester (for Skegness) and South 

Yorkshire (for Cleethorpes), such as direct services to and from Birmingham, will enable the tourism 

businesses along Lincolnshire’s coast to grow. 

INVESTMENT IN TRANSPORT THROUGH THE GROWTH DEAL 

3.48 One of the main objectives of the Strategic Economic Plan
31

 is “enhancing transport connectivity, 

reducing congestion and enabling major sites for housing and employment”.  Growth Deal investments 

that will deliver direct benefits to transport links in Greater Lincolnshire  include: 

 Grantham Southern Relief Road – a relief road, bridge and connections that will enable housing 

and employment land to be developed, reduce traffic congestion in the town centre and on the A52 

and instances of rail bridge strikes and resultant delays on the East Coast mainline; 

 Lincoln Central Transport Hub – a new bus station, pedestrian footbridge and car park, integrated 

with the train station and connecting to the Science and Innovation Park, improving rail, bus, 

pedestrian and cycle linkages across the city and beyond; 

 ‘Go Skegness’ - Skegness Sustainable Transport – interconnected sustainable transport 

improvements including multi-modal improvements to enhance junctions, remove pinch points and 

                                                        

 

29
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan 

30
 UKTI, Local Investment Showcase, https://www.localinvestuk.com/ 

31
 Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, Strategic Economic Plan, March 2014 

Page 42



JMP Consultants Ltd 

21 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

improve facilities for pedestrians and cyclists; a seasonal park and ride site; and real time 

passenger information. 

3.49 Within the Growth Deal the following commitments are already being delivered: 

 The Local Enterprise Partnership and partners to take a more proactive role in consultation on 

long-term rail planning and franchise specification; and to provide a co-ordinating role between 

constituent local authorities; 

 The Department for Transport to work with the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

(and D2N2 LEP in Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire) to help achieve the objective of increased 

service frequency between Lincoln and Nottingham via Newark.  If local funding is provided to 

operate incremental rail services for three years and services prove successful, the Department for 

Transport commits to considering funding service levels thereafter; 

 From the Department for Transport and Network Rail to more proactive engagement of the Local 

Enterprise Partnership in the long-term rail planning process (e.g. Route Studies) and in rail 

franchise specification through targeted local engagement of the Local Enterprise Partnership as 

part of an enhanced consultation process.  The Department for Transport also commits to 

encourage bidders for franchises to identify and take into account the priorities of Local Enterprise 

Partnerships and other key local stakeholders as part of the franchising process, and will also 

encourage Train Operating Companies to continue with, and enhance where possible, their 

engagement with LEPs as key local stakeholders. 

3.50 As part of the Humber Local Growth Deal
32

 in the South Humber, or northern part of Greater 

Lincolnshire, there is commitment to invest in rail gauge enhancement from Immingham to Doncaster to 

allow the use of the rail route by larger shipping containers.  The investment will help to develop 

intermodal traffic and container traffic to and from the South Humber Ports.  This investment will, in itself, 

open up opportunities for more freight demand on the South Humber Bank.  The physical capability to 

handle standard sized containers will drive demand up for intermodal container traffic, placing even 

more emphasis on the importance of addressing capacity issues on the lines in northern Lincolnshire. 

 

                                                        

 

32
 Cabinet Office and Deputy Prime Minister’s Office, Humber Growth Deal, 7 July 2014 updated 29 January 2015, HMSO 

Page 43



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 22 
 

4 Modelling the Economic Potential of Rail 

4.1 To further understand the potential benefits of rail services to the economy of Greater Lincolnshire we 

have modelled the wider economic benefits of developing rail services to and from the area. The 

intention of this modelling is to identify the value of improving rail links, to identify those sections of route 

where the greatest benefit would be generated by improvements and also those sections of route where 

the level of service is poorest and therefore needs to be improved.  

4.2 The improvement of rail (or any transport) services between two locations can bring wider economic 

benefits to the economy.  The scale of these benefits is linked to the journey time and cost between the 

two locations, and the size and composition of the economies.  The benefits of this are known as the 

economics of agglomeration and reflect the fact that good transport links allow businesses to interact 

with each other more effectively, increasing productivity and promoting increased competition. 

4.3 At their broadest level, agglomeration economies occur when individuals benefit from being “near” to 

other individuals, and exist when the spatial concentration of economic activity gives rise to increasing 

returns in production.  Transport and communications play a crucial role because, in most contexts, 

speed and low costs in transportation and communication provide a direct substitute for physical 

proximity
33

. 

4.4 Recent research
34 

has identified where improved rail connectivity between places of different size may 

provide economic benefits.  The obvious example in UK terms is the difference between London and 

provincial cities where better connectivity will enable the smaller centre to become “a more attractive 

location; it starts off with lower wages and rents, and improved connectivity means that it will get better 

access to London’s large market and large base of suppliers”. 

4.5 However it is also widely acknowledged that the economy of the UK as a whole is relatively unbalanced 

with the economy in London and the South East being too dominant. As part of the rebalancing of the 

economy improved connectivity between towns and cities across the Midlands and North is of 

considerable importance.  

APPROACH 

4.6 JMP has modelled the potential wider economic benefits of providing an improved rail service from a 

selection of the key settlements in Greater Lincolnshire to a range of destinations both in and out of the 

area.  This work was based on a model specified by Network Rail within its series of Market Studies in 

2013, and which has been adapted by JMP to include the impact of different sectors of the economy on 

the scale of the benefits.  The importance of this segmentation by economic sector has been highlighted 

in research on agglomeration and the connectedness of locations - “there is some evidence that 

suggests that the strength of these relationships changes by economic sector, with some sectors likely 

to benefit more from concentration of activity than others”
35

. 

                                                        

 

33
 Daniel Graham & Patricia Melo, Advice on the Assessment of Wider Economic Impacts: a report for HS2, March 2010 

34
 Bridget Rosewell (Volterra Partners) and Tony Venables (University of Oxford) High Speed Rail, Transport Investment and Economic 

Impact, 2013 

35
 Daniel Graham & Patricia Melo, March 2010, op cit 

Page 44



JMP Consultants Ltd 

23 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

4.7 The data incorporated into the modelling to define economic sectors was taken from Department for 

Transport WebTAG guidance on wider impacts (WebTAG Unit A2-1).  The four sectors of the economy 

defined within the modelling are: 

 Construction 

 Manufacturing 

 Consumer Services 

 Producer Services 

4.8 While the first two sectors are relatively self explanatory the components of the last two perhaps requires 

further definition, provided in the table below: 

Table 4.1  Definition of Consumer & Producer Services Segments 

Consumer Services Producer Services 

Motor Trade Financial 

Wholesale Insurance 

Retail Auxiliary/Financial 

Hotels/Restaurants Machinery Renting 

Land Transport Computer Services 

Water Transport Research & Development 

Travel Support Other business services 

Post Telecom  

 

4.9 Utilising the model described above it has been possible to generate estimated impacts for service 

improvements to the range of modelled destinations.  

SETTLEMENTS AND SERVICES 

Settlements Modelled 

4.10 To carry out this modelling a range of origins and destinations were identified, both within Greater 

Lincolnshire and further afield. As the area covered was very large not all of the locations within 

Lincolnshire were linked to all of the destination locations. In addition it was decided not to model all 

origin destination pairs that are wholly within Greater Lincolnshire, with the exception of Lincoln.  The 

rationale for this is that for a number of these movements rail is unlikely to ever be a significant factor in 

users, especially business users, travel decisions as the geography of the rail network and road 

networks tends to favour road movements. Instead the focus is largely on longer distance movements, 

particularly with larger regional centres, as it these markets that rail is likely to be strongest in.  

4.11 The table on the following page identifies the station pairs that were modelled as part of this work. 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 24 
 

Table 4.2  Station Pairs Assessed Within Wider Economic Modelling 

  

L
in

c
o
ln

 

C
le

e
th

o
r
p
e
s
/
 

G
r
im

s
b
y
 

B
a
r
n
e
tb

y
 

S
c
u
n
th

o
r
p
e
 

G
r
a
n
th

a
m

 

S
ta

m
f
o
r
d
 

S
k
e
g
n
e
s
s
 

B
o
s
to

n
 

S
p
a
ld

in
g
 

G
a
in

s
b
o
r
o
u
g
h
 

S
le

a
fo

r
d
 

Birmingham           

Cambridge           

Derby           

Doncaster           

Grantham           

Leeds/Wakefield           

Leicester           

Lincoln           

London           

Manchester           

Nottingham           

Peterborough           

Scunthorpe           

Sheffield           

York           

Stansted Airport           

 

4.12 With one exception the locations assessed represent the top 10 largest settlements within Lincolnshire. 

The exception to this was Barnetby, which whilst a relatively small settlement within its own right has a 

unusual catchment area composing much of the industrialised area around the Port of Immingham & 

Grimsby as well as Humberside Airport, and the associated businesses based there.   

4.13 The stations outside of Greater Lincolnshire generally represent a mixture of locations across the 

Midlands and the North plus London.  The exception to this is Cambridge and Stansted Airport which 

have been included due to their proximity to Stamford and the direct service that they receive. The 

choice of which stations are linked to which in large part reflects the railway geography and economic 

linkages of the area -  the south of the area tending to face more towards the East and West Midlands, 

whilst the north of the area has closer ties with Yorkshire and the North West. There are some 

exceptions to this pattern, particularly where the East Coast Mainline facilitates fast direct links. For this 

reason linkages such as Spalding and Stamford towards West Yorkshire have been considered because 

of the high quality service to the north from Peterborough.  

4.14 It should be noted that as the economic data that forms an input to the model is presented at a local 

authority level it has been necessary to make adjustments to the data for settlements that form only a 

small part of their local authority area, or where more than one station from a local authority area is 

included in the model. The general approach to this has been to weight areas by population with the 

exception of Barnetby.  

Page 46



JMP Consultants Ltd 

25 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

4.15 In developing the model it became clear that for many station pairs route choice is an issue. For 

example it is possible to travel from Lincoln to Peterborough either directly via Sleaford on a slower East 

Midlands Trains service, or alternatively via Newark on an East Midlands Trains service and Virgin East 

Coast services. To account for this issue those station pairs where route choice was a major issue had 

all reasonable routes assessed and the results were then weighted to reflect the likelihood of the use of 

the different routes based on the their respective journey times. 

Service Levels 

4.16 As there were a large range of service options to model across the area a standard approach was taken 

to the service levels modelled.  These followed Network Rail definitions of service level as defined within 

their series of Market Studies produced in 2013. These define what would represent a “good current” 

and “best current” levels of service. Within the two service categories are sub categories of service 

dependent upon whether the service is long or short distance. Within this report these are referred to as 

“Intercity” and “interurban”.  

4.17 The table below sets out definitions of the service levels used for “good current” and “best current”. 

Table 4.3  Definition of Service Levels 

Service Type 

Good Current Best Current 

Average Speed 

(mph) 

Frequency (trains 

per hour) 

Average Speed 

(mph) 

Frequency (trains 

per hour) 

Intercity 80 1 100 2 

Inter-Urban 45 1 60 2 

 

4.18 It can be seen that the service levels defined as “good current” are in general terms relatively modest 

with comparatively low average speeds and a service of only one train per hour in each direction. 

Arguably existing services should as a minimum be close to or around this level of service. The “best 

current” level of service involves a step up in service levels and should probably be thought of as 

aspirational in most cases, although it is acknowledged that any journey that involves travelling 

substantial distances on the ECML is already likely to be close to this level of service.  

4.19 The approach set out above allows an assessment of all services using a common standard to 

understand how far existing services are away from delivering what might be thought of as a minimum 

level of service. To understand specific station pairs in more detail an assessment was carried out for 

both direct services (without any interchanges) and the existing situation (inclusive of any interchanges 

that are required at the present time). 

4.20 Two further tests were carried out looking at the potential benefits of a fixed percentage reduction in 

journey times
36

  of 10% and 20%. The aim of this being to understand what the benefits of improved 

services might be outside of the constraints of the service definitions identified above. 

RESULTS 

4.21 The results are presented in two sections, the first looks at the benefit to individual towns and cities of 

improving linkages, including an assessment of the links that would benefit most from improvements. 

                                                        

 

36
 Technically the test was on 10% and 20% reductions in ‘generalised cost’ which is a combination of journey times and fares, 

Page 47



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 26 
 

The second examines the cumulative benefits on particular sections of route. This latter approach is 

particularly relevant for understanding the case for intervention on individual sections of route.  

4.22 The benefits are presented in terms of the forecast change in agglomeration benefits (measured as 

changes in GDP) compared to the existing level of service. 

THE VALUE OF THE EXISTING RAIL NETWORK 

4.23 Before examining the impact of improvements to the rail network on the economy of Lincolnshire it is 

useful to look at an estimate of the existing value of rail services in the area, to provide some context to 

the results that follow. Using the model it is estimated that the existing value of the rail network across 

the whole of Greater Lincolnshire is around £161million per annum. Whilst this represents around 1% 

of the total value of the economy of the Greater Lincolnshire LEP area, (around £16bn), it should be 

considered that rail has a disproportionately strong impact on high value parts of the economy, and 

therefore targeted improvements could bring significant benefits.  

RESULTS BY STATION  

4.24 Table 4.4 looks at the impact of introducing a “good current” level of service to all routes (with and 

without the introduction of direct services where none presently exist). Table 4.5 looks at the impact of 

“best current” levels of service, again with and without interchange, whilst Table 4.6 looks at the impact 

of a blanket reduction in generalised cost of 10% and 20%.  

Table 4.4  Agglomeration Benefits of a “Good Current” level of service (£ 000 GDP) 

Location 

Good Current Service 

With Existing Interchange Direct Services 

Barnetby £1,717 £4,799 

Boston £3,045 £8,750 

Gainsborough £910 £3,195 

Grantham £7,152 £8,449 

Grimsby £6,248 £15,014 

Lincoln £6,967 £21,599 

Scunthorpe £2,446 £13,702 

Skegness £1,523 £4,616 

Sleaford £1,833 £4,916 

Spalding £2,037 £8,442 

Stamford £935 £5,065 

Total £34,819 £98,550 

 

4.25 For the good current level of service the two largest settlements (Lincoln and Grimsby/Cleethorpes) 

show the greatest absolute level of benefit from service improvements. The difference between results 

where existing interchanges are maintained, and those where direct services are developed to all 

locations are stark. The greatest change is at Scunthorpe where benefits increase by a factor of five, 

whilst other smaller locations show significant changes, for example Stamford and Gainsborough. 

Page 48



JMP Consultants Ltd 

27 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

4.26 In all three of these cases the services that presently operate only serve a limited number of destinations 

directly, and whilst these services are of a high quality, for example Stamford has a direct service to 

Leicester and Birmingham to the west and Cambridge and Stansted Airport to the east, they do not 

provide a broad range of connectivity, with interchange required for many destinations. Part of the 

reason for this will also be linked to the lack of direct services to London. At present, of all the stations 

assessed, only Grantham has an all day service to London, and this is perhaps reflected in the low 

differential between the with interchange and direct service results. Grantham in general is better 

connected to areas outside Greater Lincolnshire than other settlements including Lincoln, with direct 

services to Nottingham, Liverpool, Norwich, Edinburgh, Leeds and London, and intermediate points.  

4.27 The significant difference between the ‘with’ and ‘without’ interchange results for Lincoln also serves to 

illustrate the relatively poor level of service that Lincoln currently receives, and its lack of direct 

connectivity. Direct services from the city of Lincoln, outside of Lincolnshire do not go much beyond its 

immediate neighbours to the east with an hourly service to Nottingham and Leicester, and a hourly 

service to Sheffield via Worksop, both of which suffer poor journey times. This would indicate that 

there are significant gains to be had from improving services from Lincoln and increasing the 

range of locations which are served directly.        

Table 4.5  Agglomeration Benefits of a “Best Current” Level of Service (£ 000 GDP) 

Location 

Best Current Service 

With Existing Interchange Direct Services 

Barnetby £4,498 £9,218 

Boston £6,052 £12,671 

Gainsborough £2,036 £5,002 

Grantham £13,645 £15,594 

Grimsby £12,495 £26,879 

Lincoln £17,471 £34,832 

Scunthorpe £11,888 £27,603 

Skegness £2,834 £6,657 

Sleaford £3,849 £7,776 

Spalding £5,165 £12,883 

Stamford £3,419 £8,504 

Total £83,357 £167,623 

4.28 The results for the best current level of service tend to reiterate the points made above about the good 

current level of service. However it is interesting to note that the results for the best current level of 

service whilst maintaining existing interchanges, provides similar results to the good current level of 

service with all locations served directly. This indicates that there is scope to maximise the potential 

benefits of service improvements through a mixture of more direct services on key flows, 

supplemented by improvements in journey times or frequency on feeder routes. A further point to 

note is that the differential between interchange and no interchange for best current is much lower than 

for the good current situation.  

4.29 The significant potential of the rail network can be seen with improvements across the network bringing 

an increase in the GDP attributable to the passenger rail network of between 22% and 104% relative to 

the existing situation.   

Page 49



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 28 
 

4.30 The table below looking at percentage changes in Generalised Cost is interesting as it maps closely to 

the results presented above and therefore shows the level of service change required from the present 

service to obtain a given level of benefits. For example it can be seen that a 10% improvement in 

generalised cost would bring a result analogous to a good current level of service with no new direct 

services.  To deliver a best current level of service with existing interchange would represent a 20% 

reduction in generalised costs. Assuming that fares remain unchanged, the mechanism for delivering 

these changes are limited to changes to journey times, frequency and the need to interchange. 

4.31  Of these tools direct services are the most powerful, typically bringing a 20% reduction in generalised 

cost at a stroke, but these are also the hardest to introduce, and will not be suitable or possible in all 

cases.  

Table 4.6  Agglomeration Benefits of a Generalised Cost Reduction (£ 000 GDP) 

Location 

Generalised Cost Reduction 

10% Reduction 20% Reduction 

Barnetby £1,476 £4,325 

Boston £2,257 £5,646 

Gainsborough £786 £2,170 

Grantham £5,307 £11,774 

Grimsby £3,987 £9,571 

Lincoln £7,937 £18,254 

Scunthorpe £7,233 £17,163 

Skegness £503 £1,900 

Sleaford £1,771 £3,875 

Spalding £2,761 £6,326 

Stamford £2,146 £4,850 

Total £36,170 £85,858 

 

Station Pairs 

4.32 An alternative way of looking at the results is to assess them by individual pairs of stations. Given the 

number of pairs involved it is not possible to look at all of them. There is therefore a focus on the areas 

which generate the greatest benefits: 

 Access from Lincolnshire stations to city of Lincoln 

 All Lincolnshire stations to London 

 Strategic Links from Lincoln 

 Links from the South Humber Bank 

4.33 These four groups will address some of the key flows within the area which will provide a basis for 

understanding the potential for investment.  The results presented in this section are for the good current 

and best current options. 

Page 50



JMP Consultants Ltd 

29 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Greater Lincolnshire Towns to Lincoln 

4.34 The table below presents the results for improvements between Lincolnshire stations and the city of 

Lincoln. 

Table 4.7  Agglomeration Benefits from Greater Lincolnshire Towns to Lincoln (£ 000 GDP) 

 Good Current Best Current 

 With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service 

Barnetby £129 £129 £225 £225 

Boston £34 £117 £74 £207 

Gainsborough £55 £102 £55 £102 

Grantham £114 £230 £175 £359 

Grimsby/Cleethorpes £301 £301 £603 £603 

Scunthorpe £231 £436 £371 £666 

Skegness £22 £54 £46 £86 

Sleaford £60  £128 £60 £128 

Spalding £53 £134 £53 £134 

Stamford £11 £42 £32 £64 

Total £1,001 £1,975 £1,392 £2,574 

 

4.35 When compared to the aggregate results presented in the previous sections the GDP benefits from 

service improvements for flows to Lincoln from elsewhere in Greater Lincolnshire are very limited. This 

largely reflects the small size of the majority of these locations. The key exceptions are Grantham, 

Grimsby/Cleethorpes and Scunthorpe. In the case of the latter two size is the main issue, with these 

being the second and third largest settlements in the area. In the case of Grantham it is likely to be a 

combination of size and the characteristics of the economy. Being located on the ECML with strong links 

to London it is likely that Grantham has a more service based economy than other parts of Lincolnshire. 

The introduction of a best current level of service would approximately double the existing value of the 

service, whilst even a good current service would increase the value by around 50%. 

4.36 The result for improvements between Grimsby/Cleethorpes and Lincoln is perhaps the most 

interesting, as it suggests that this linkage would benefit the most from improvement, which is 

intuitive as these are the two largest conurbations in Lincolnshire, and yet the rail link between the two is 

one of the poorest in Lincolnshire with a less than two hourly service. 

4.37 It will be noted that there are two particularly poor results, in Skegness and Stamford. In the case of 

Skegness the journey is very indirect by rail, and the economy is comparatively small. In practise it is 

likely that this journey will always be more attractive by road for business users, as the route is shorter 

meaning that the railway would have to see a very large improvement in journey times to be a lot more 

attractive. Stamford is in a similar situation being very distant from Lincoln, and served via indirect routes 

either via Peterborough and Newark or Peterborough and Sleaford.   In practise the geography of the 

area would tend to indicate that the economy of Stamford will not be linked to Lincoln, instead facing 

Peterborough and Leicester. This does not indicate that rail is unimportant for these areas, instead it 

suggests that the focus of rail should be on the development of longer distance journeys.   

Page 51



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 30 
 

Lincoln & Greater Lincolnshire to London 

4.38 The table below examines the agglomeration impact of improving services to London.  In comparing 

these results with others it needs to be understood that values for London are always very high due to 

the size and density of the area, and also the very large number of high value jobs within the capital.   

Table 4.8  Agglomeration Benefits from Lincoln & Greater Lincolnshire to London (£ 000 GDP) 

 Good Current Best Current 

 With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service 

Barnetby £172 £1,955 £602 £3,917 

Boston £1,709 £5,812 £3,583 £8,136 

Gainsborough £179 £1,776 £527 £2,620 

Grantham £4,148 £4,148 £8,374 £8,374 

Grimsby/Cleethorpes £773 £5,387 £1,673 £11,321 

Lincoln £935 £10,407 £4,981 £15,394 

Scunthorpe -£54 £8,368 £3,195 £14,908 

Skegness £632 £2,765 £1,406 £4,041 

Sleaford £1,189 £3,522 £2,248 £5,136 

Spalding £1,063 £5,947 £3,120 £8,811 

Stamford £406 £3,213 £1,578 £4,786 

Total £11,154 £53,304 £31,290 £87,445 

4.39 The table clearly illustrates the importance of London and that significant agglomeration benefits can be 

derived from improving services to London. However some locations appear to already have a “good 

current” level of service (via interchange), Scunthorpe in particular is already in this position along with 

Barnetby and Stamford.  . 

4.40 For Lincoln the scale of the increase from developing direct services to London is significant - 

benefits of up to £10M per annum can be seen from a good current direct service, approximately 

doubling the estimated value of the existing service. Similar value can also be seen from Scunthorpe, 

along with slightly lower values from Grimsby, reflecting the greater distance involved. Many of the 

benefits for Lincoln will be realised as part of the new Virgin East Coast franchise which will increase the 

number of direct services to London from Lincoln  

4.41 It can also be seen that, relative to their size, many of the towns in the south of Lincolnshire perform 

well, reflecting their proximity to London.  Both Spalding and Stamford perform well when direct services 

are modelled, and both of these towns are only a short distance north of Peterborough, which itself has 

an excellent service to London.    

4.42 The results of this table would suggest that there is scope to investigate developing services to and from 

London, particularly from Lincoln and the South Humber Bank areas, but also from the south of the area 

especially Sleaford and Spalding.    

City of Lincoln Strategic Links 

4.43 As Lincoln is the largest settlement in the study area, and is also at the centre of Lincolnshire’s rail 

network it is important to examine the strategic links from the area. As has been identified above Lincoln 

would benefit from improvements to services to London, however there may also be benefits from 

Page 52



JMP Consultants Ltd 

31 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

improvements to services elsewhere notably the Midlands and North. The table below presents the 

benefits of service improvements to a range of destinations. 

Table 4.9  Agglomeration Benefits of Strategic Links from Lincoln (£ 000 GDP) 

 Good Current Best Current 

 With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service 

Birmingham £160 £1,186 £917 £2,618 

Derby £163 £508 £388 £1,001 

Doncaster £499 £752 £1,054 £1,329 

Leeds £147 £1,539 £961 £2,674 

Leicester £719 £719 £1,166 £1,166 

Manchester £510 £1,408 £982 £2,186 

Nottingham £861 £861 £1,725 £1,725 

Peterborough £348 £519 £717 £871 

Sheffield £1,956 £1,956 £2,925 £2,925 

Wakefield £67 £665 £409 £1,048 

York £69 £339 £272 £624 

Total £5,499 £10,453 £11,517 £18,168 

4.44 The table above demonstrates that there is significant potential from investing in services around 

Lincoln. The most significant result is that for improving links to Sheffield which generates the largest 

GDP uplift across all service levels. It might have been expected that Nottingham would perform best as 

this is usually seen as Lincoln’s closest neighbour, however in comparative terms the service to 

Nottingham is better than that to Sheffield therefore there is less absolute benefit in improving the 

service. This is well illustrated when it is considered that moving to a good current level of service to 

Sheffield would more than double the benefits of the existing service. Furthermore the economy of 

Sheffield is significantly larger than Nottingham. As will be shown later there are other benefits in 

improving services to Nottingham linked to the cumulative benefits of improving services towards 

Birmingham.  

4.45 It can also be seen that there are significant benefits from improving links to the north with Doncaster, 

Wakefield, Leeds and York collectively representing a significant group of benefits.  This again is a 

function of the very poor existing linkages to these locations, and the size of the economies in these 

locations. From the table it is interesting to note the good range of towns and cities across the Midlands 

and Yorkshire that Lincoln could be better connected to.  

4.46 The results would therefore suggest that improving rail links from Lincoln to the North and the 

Midlands could make a useful contribution to developing the economy of the area.  

The South Humber Bank 

4.47 The South Humber Bank, which in this work includes Grimsby, Cleethorpes, Scunthorpe, and as a proxy 

for the industry around Immingham and Humberside Airport, Barnetby, represents a significant part of 

the economy of the Greater Lincolnshire area.  As these settlements are located in the north of the 

county the selection of locations is weighted towards Yorkshire rather than the Midlands. The following 

tables present the results for the three stations.  

Page 53



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 32 
 

 

 

Table 4.10  Agglomeration Benefits of Strategic Links from Grimsby/Cleethorpes (£ 000 GDP) 

 Good Current Best Current 

 With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service 

Doncaster £354 £354 £956 £956 

Leeds £427 £2,269 £1,775 £3,904 

Manchester £2,359 £2,359 £3,122 £3,122 

Nottingham £591 £1,546 £1,160 £2,133 

Peterborough £121 £511 £319 £960 

Sheffield £1,112 £1,112 £2,026 £2,026 

Wakefield £309 £1,080 £904 £1,630 

York £198 £394 £557 £824 

Total £5,474 £9,627 £10,822 £15,558 

Table 4.11  Agglomeration Benefits of Strategic Links from Barnetby (£ 000 GDP) 

 Good Current Best Current 

 With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service 

Doncaster £105 £105 £343 £343 

Grimsby £135 £135 £296 £296 

Leeds £261 £847 £727 £1,289 

Lincoln £129 £129 £224 £224 

Manchester £227 £227 £622 £622 

Nottingham £169 £419 £371 £644 

Peterborough -£22 £98 £72 £234 

Scunthorpe £147 £147 £301 £301 

Sheffield £259 £259 £563 £563 

Wakefield £124 £322 £262 £530 

York £7 £152 £108 £250 

Total £1,545 £2,843 £3,896 £5,301 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



JMP Consultants Ltd 

33 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Table 4.12  Agglomeration Benefits of Strategic Links from Scunthorpe (£ 000) 

 Good Current Best Current 

 With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service 

Doncaster £434 £434 £1,348 £1,348 

Grimsby £428 £428 £829 £829 

Leeds -£222 £1,462 £945 £3,176 

Manchester £1,009 £1,009 £2,284 £2,284 

Sheffield £1,049 £1,049 £2,732 £2,732 

Wakefield -£86 £618 £334 £1,605 

York -£113 £329 £218 £718 

Total £2,500 £5,333 £8,693 £12,695 

 

4.48 It can be seen from the tables that there are potentially large benefits available from developing 

services from the South Humber Bank. This is partly due to the relatively slow service that presently 

operates, which if speeded up would help develop existing links. The second issue is the lack of other 

direct services with service being limited to the Cleethorpes – Manchester Airport service and the 

Grimsby – Lincoln – Newark service.   The negative values for some destinations from Scunthorpe and 

Barnetby indicate that existing services are already better than the modelled service presented here. As 

with Lincoln it is clear that improving links towards Yorkshire especially Leeds would be beneficial, whilst 

there is still scope for improving services to Manchester.  

RESULTS BY ROUTE SECTION 

4.49 Having examined the results of the modelling by route section it is useful to examine the aggregate 

results by route section. This provides evidence on the cumulative benefits that might be derived from 

improvements to a section of line. For example the section of line from Lincoln to Peterborough will be 

important for a broad range of trips including to London and the Midlands, and therefore the benefits of 

improvements may be higher than a section of route where either the level of service is already high, or 

the number of origin destination pairs using the line is low. 

4.50 The table below summarises the result for key sections of line across the Lincolnshire.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 34 
 

Table 4.13  Agglomeration benefits by route section (£ 000 GDP) 

 Good Current Best Current 

 With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service With existing 

interchange 

Direct Service 

Lincoln - Newark £3,668 £20,932 £10,994 £34,656 

Newark – Nottingham £2,748 £5,422 £5,815 £9,583 

Lincoln – Sleaford £565 £908 £1,173 £1,486 

Lincoln – Barnetby £1,729 £6,495 £3,414 £11,837 

Lincoln – Gainsborough £2,963 £6,375 £6,041 £10,533 

Gainsborough – 

Doncaster £855 £2,115 £2,182 £3,000 

Gainsborough – Retford £2,783 £5,644 £5,440 £9,269 

Retford – Sheffield £2,561 £3,610 £4,463 £5,671 

Doncaster -  Scunthorpe £8,379 £26,636 £24,673 £50,957 

Scunthorpe - Barnetby £6,937 £13,939 £14,745 £25,314 

Barnetby – Grimsby £7,273 £16,172 £14,467 £29,075 

Sleaford - Grantham £5,573 £16,152 £11,075 £23,816 

Grantham – Nottingham £3,740 £7,064 £6,838 £11,179 

Sleaford – Boston £4,569 £13,367 £8,886 £19,329 

Boston – Skegness £1,523 £4,616 £2,834 £6,657 

Sleaford – Spalding £492 £813 £1,040 £1,280 

Spalding – Peterborough £2,647 £10,339 £6,204 £15,426 

Peterborough – Stamford £678 £4,026 £2,363 £6,258 

Stamford - Leicester £590 £2,222 £1,818 £4,061 

London – Peterborough £11,154 £53,304 £31,289 £87,445 

Peterborough – Grantham £9,652 £44,972 £27,129 £75,920 

Grantham – Newark £4,749 £34,207 £16,175 £58,436 

Newark – Retford £2,244 £15,751 £7,870 £28,495 

Retford - Doncaster £2,056 £14,704 £7,370 £27,183 

 

4.51 It can be seen that the routes with the greatest level of benefit accruing to them tend to be those on the 

East Coast Mainline. This is unsurprising as the ECML supports a lot of the links and in particular acts 

as a funnel for trips to and from London which generate the greatest level of benefits. Away from the 

ECML the sections with the greatest set of benefits is Scunthorpe – Doncaster which also acts as the 

main conduit to and from Scunthorpe, Grimsby and Cleethorpes. Following this is the link from Lincoln to 

Newark, again not unexpected as Newark is a trunk route to and from Lincoln and there are potentially 

significant benefits from upgrading it.   

4.52 At the other end of the scale is the section from Lincoln to Sleaford which performs quite poorly. This is 

in large part linked to the routing of many trips via the ECML rather than the Joint Line due to the poor 

service on this route. The route does however perform an important function in terms of connectivity 

within Lincolnshire. The section from Gainsborough to Doncaster appears to only have limited benefits, 

Page 56



JMP Consultants Ltd 

35 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

however this is because the present service is so poor that many journey planners route trips via Retford 

or Sheffield, and therefore the benefits of connectivity to these locations is shared between the three 

potential routes. Were the service to be improved on the direct line to Doncaster the benefits could be 

allocated to it.  The same would apply to Sleaford – Lincoln if the route received significant service 

improvements, although the case would be more difficult to make due to the quality of service on the 

ECML. 

4.53 It can be seen that the route from Skegness does not perform well, reflecting both the size of Skegness, 

but also its physical isolation from the rest of the county, and the characteristics of its economy. In 

contrast the section from Spalding to Peterborough produces very positive results due in part to the poor 

existing service but also the potential that exists from Spalding’s location relative to Peterborough and 

London.   

4.54 The following figures illustrate the impact on the routes of a good current (with interchange) level of 

service and a best current (with interchange) level of service.  

Figure 4.1  Route Benefits of Good Current (with interchange) Level of Service 

 

Page 57



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 36 
 

Figure 4.2  Route Benefits of Best Current (with interchange) Level of Service 

 

SUMMARY OF THE ECONOMIC BENEFITS 

4.55 It has been shown from the modelling that there is the potential to generate significant agglomeration 

benefits from improvements to rail services across Lincolnshire. Inevitably the largest benefits arise 

through improvements to services to London, however it has also been shown that there are large 

benefits from improvement to other major centres across the Midlands and North. In particular it is clear 

that there are large benefits from improvements to services to and from Lincoln and the stations on the 

South Humber Bank. It is especially clear that the poor links between Lincoln and Yorkshire have the 

potential for large improvements. 

4.56 It has been shown that for certain pairs of stations the benefits of service improvements would more 

than double the economic benefits that the services generate. A good example of this is the route from 

Lincoln to Sheffield.  

4.57 Inevitably the smaller settlements within Greater Lincolnshire do not generate such large benefits, 

however the there is still scope for improving such services, and these settlements may benefit from 

investment elsewhere in the network.     

4.58 In Part B and the following chapters we look at what the existing network delivers and what potential 

options exist for developing services to help to deliver the economic benefits forecast here. This begins 

in Chapter 5 by looking at long distance connectivity before moving onto services in different areas of 

Lincolnshire.  

Page 58



JMP Consultants Ltd 

37 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Part B: Delivering the Necessary Rail Improvements 

  

 

 

Page 59



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 38 
 

5 Long Distance Connectivity 

5.1 Long distance rail connectivity from Greater Lincolnshire is generally poorer than in other parts of the 

country, with services tending to be characterised by a mixture of inter urban and rural services. As we 

noted earlier the reason for this is that Lincolnshire is not directly served by any of the key radial 

mainlines meaning that it does not benefit from passing services. The exception being Grantham which 

is located on the ECML and has a high quality service to London, Leeds, York, Newcastle and 

Edinburgh.  

5.2 Instead of direct long distance services, passengers to and from Greater Lincolnshire have had to 

connect onto long distance services either at East Coast stations, at Doncaster, Retford, Newark, 

Grantham and Peterborough, or for other links made connections at Sheffield, Nottingham or Leicester.  

This lack of direct connectivity has tended to isolate services in Greater Lincolnshire from the rest of the 

rail network, and has contributed to lengthy journey times, making rail journeys to Greater Lincolnshire 

unattractive to potential passengers. 

5.3 The following sections describe the existing situation and aspirations for the development of services in 

the future in more detail.    

Figure 5.1  Lincolnshire:  Existing and Potential Long Distance Rail Services 

 

 

 

Page 60



JMP Consultants Ltd 

39 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

LINCOLN – LONDON 

5.4 For many years Lincoln was one of the largest cities in the country without a direct service to London. 

This was resolved, initially by East Midlands Trains in 2008 who introduced a direct service operating via 

Newark Castle and Nottingham to London St Pancras. From April 2011 this service was joined by a 

direct East Coast service operating from Lincoln to London Kings Cross via Newark and Peterborough. 

Both of these services operate only once per day in each direction, however the East Coast service is 

much the faster of the two with a journey time of 2 hours 4 minutes compared to the 2 hours 51 minutes 

of the St Pancras service. Indeed the East Midlands service provides more value in giving direct 

connectivity to Leicester, Bedford and Luton than it does in providing connectivity to London as the 

service leaves 15 minutes ahead of the East Coast service and arrives 30 minutes after it.  

5.5 A long held aspiration has been for the development of all day direct services from Lincoln to London, 

indeed this formed part of franchise commitment for the ill fated National Express East Coast franchise. 

For various operational reasons it was not possible to fulfil this commitment, leading instead to the 

introduction of the daily service described above.   

5.6 However the new Virgin East Coast franchise, launched in February 2015 promises to deliver a new 

service of seven trains per day from London to Lincoln and six trains from Lincoln to London, although 

the service won’t be introduced until May 2019.   This will approximate to a two hourly service frequency, 

but will bring a significant improvement by introducing direct service with a journey time of around two 

hours as opposed to the varying journey times that presently range from two hours 6 minutes to two 

hours 54 minutes, all requiring a change of trains and some requiring interchange on foot between 

Newark Castle and Northgate stations. This service will address key markets and be particularly 

attractive to business users and tourists visiting Lincoln. However there are aspirations for further 

improvements, and work carried out by JMP for the East Coast Mainline Authorities (ECMA) consortium 

identified that whilst service levels should ideally be introduced at a two hourly frequency, they should 

ultimately be increased to an hourly frequency and journey times should be driven down. This would 

represent a step change in service levels from Lincoln to London, although this aspiration may have to 

wait until after the present franchise to be fulfilled.  

5.7 To deliver reduced journey times may require work not just on the ECML between Newark and Lincoln 

to raise line speeds to maximise the benefits of improved services.  

SOUTH HUMBER BANK – LONDON 

5.8 One of the key service aspirations for North East Lincolnshire Council is the development of direct long 

distance services to London. The area is now the largest centre of population within the catchment of 

the East Coast Mainline without either an existing service or a commitment to developing a new service 

to London.  

5.9 Conditional outputs developed by JMP for the ECMA Consortium in 2014 identified a desired service 

level of every two hours from Cleethorpes to London serving Grimsby and Scunthorpe. This has been 

backed up further by work in this report that identifies that if a direct service to London could be operated 

the combined benefits to Cleethorpes, Grimsby, Barnetby and Scunthorpe would be between £15.5M 

and £30.11M per year. Such a service could also help support the development of passenger flights 

from Humberside Airport, by increasing the catchment area of the airport.   

5.10 As the new Virgin East Coast franchise did not identify Cleethorpes within the service improvements that 

they will deliver as part of the franchise it would seem that direct services from the South Humber Bank 

would have be delivered either as part of the next East Coast franchise, or alternatively by an Open 

Access Operator.   

5.11 In terms of open access operators a number of proposals have been made, the most recent being 

Alliance Rail who have submitted a Track Access Application to the Office of Rail and Road (ORR) to 

Page 61



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 40 
 

operate four services per day in each direction between Cleethorpes and London King’s Cross, calling at 

Grimsby Town, Habrough, Scunthorpe and Doncaster. At the time of this report (October 2015) the 

application had yet to be determined.  

Delivering a South Humber – London Service 

5.12 One of the issues relating to operating a Cleethorpes – London service is the routing of the service. 

There are two options, the first being to operate via Barnetby, Scunthorpe and Doncaster, and the 

second being to operate via Barnetby, Lincoln and Newark.   

5.13 The former option has the benefit of including Scunthorpe but would involve developing an entirely new 

service. Operating via Newark and Lincoln would theoretically allow the service to be developed as an 

extension of the already committed London – Lincoln service, bringing with it the additional benefit of an 

improved service from Grimsby to Lincoln and Newark.  

5.14 Carrying out a comparison of journey times between London and Cleethorpes via the two different 

routes shows very little difference between them with a potential journey time via Lincoln of 2 hours 57 

minutes and Doncaster of 2 hours 53 minutes.  

5.15 With so little difference between the journey times the next factor to contribute to the route choice would 

be the commercial impact of the service and the resource requirements to operate the service. A high 

level assessment would suggest that operating a service via Lincoln might only require one additional 

train, over and above the committed service from London to Lincoln, whilst operating the service via 

Scunthorpe would require two additional trains, doubling the operating costs.  

5.16 Nevertheless there may some operational factors that would suggest that routing the service via 

Scunthorpe would be more appropriate. At the present time a new fleet of Class 800 SET trains is on 

order for Virgin Trains East Coast. These will be maintained at a new depot at Doncaster, rather than the 

present depot used by Virgin Trains East Coast at Leeds Neville Hill. Locating the depot at Doncaster 

will have a positive impact on the operating costs of services as the level of empty running to and from 

the depot at the beginning and end of the day will be reduced.  

5.17 A good example of this is the present situation with the London – Lincoln service which spends more 

time running empty to the depot at Leeds than it does travelling from London to Lincoln. With a depot at 

Doncaster access to Cleethorpes would be much quicker than with a depot at Leeds. 

5.18  A further benefit of the SET programme is the introduction of a mixed fleet of nine and five car trains. 

The five car trains will allow ‘portion working’ to be introduced where two trains are coupled together and 

divide en-route to allow two destinations to be served. Virgin Trains East Coast already plans to operate 

portions for services to destinations in West Yorkshire such as Bradford and Harrogate. In the longer 

term it would be possible to extend this so that portion working could be used to provide the South 

Humber Bank with a direct service to London by coupling and dividing services at Doncaster. This would 

suggest that there may be more operational advantages to operating via Scunthorpe. 

5.19 In commercial terms there might also be more advantages to operating via Scunthorpe. Operation via 

Lincoln would only see calls at Cleethorpes, Grimsby Barnetby and potentially Market Rasen. Operation 

via Doncaster would allow calls at Scunthorpe which is a substantial market on the South Humber Bank.  

The new service would also offer an uplift in frequency between Cleethorpes and Doncaster which 

would generate more intermediate traffic along this section of the route.  

5.20 Overall it would seem that in the medium term there are more advantages to developing the aspirations 

for South Humber Bank to London services via Scunthorpe rather than via Lincoln, allowing the 

committed service between London and Lincoln to develop independently. This would maximise the 

connectivity and economic benefits to the area, and may also bring operational and commercial 

advantages to the train operator.   

Page 62



JMP Consultants Ltd 

41 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

THE EAST COAST MAINLINE 

5.21 Whilst the East Coast Mainline (ECML) only serves one station within Lincolnshire directly it is of greater 

importance to long distance rail travel within Lincolnshire. Stations at Doncaster, Retford, Newark, 

Grantham and Doncaster act as interchanges for feeder services to and from the Greater Lincolnshire 

area.  

5.22 However the ECML also acts as a constraint to developing services within Lincolnshire. This is 

particularly the case at Newark where the ECML crosses the Lincoln – Nottingham line at grade. This is 

a major capacity constraint, the impact of which is felt on both routes, but due to the higher traffic levels 

on the ECML tends to constrain service development more on the Lincoln – Nottingham line. A further 

constraint exists at Peterborough where services from Sleaford and Spalding have to share capacity 

with the ECML for around 3 miles between Werrington Junction and Peterborough station.  

5.23 Capacity issues around Peterborough are to be improved during Control Period 5 with the development 

of a ‘dive-under’ scheme for Werrington Junction north of Peterborough which will allow freight services 

from East Anglia to access the Great Northern Great Eastern Joint Line towards Spalding without 

crossing the ECML at grade. Work on this scheme is currently planned to begin in 2018 with completion 

planned in Autumn 2020.  

5.24 Virgin East Coast has promised a range of service improvements including changes to service patterns 

and the introduction of new rolling stock.  Aside from the improvements to the direct Lincoln service 

there are no other significant changes to service levels at the stations between Doncaster and 

Peterborough but the development of more frequent and direct services to Bradford, Harrogate, 

Huddersfield, Middlesbrough and Sunderland will help to improve connectivity more broadly.     

5.25 During Control Period 5 (CP5) which runs from 2014 to 2019 Network Rail has a fund of £240M to spend 

on ECML capacity improvements. As its name implies this fund will deliver increases in capacity at key 

locations along the route. This has the potential to not just increase capacity for long distance services 

but also for other services using the route. It is unclear at the present time which schemes will be 

delivered as part of this fund, however the following are under consideration: 

Options Under Consideration 

 Capacity increase between Huntingdon and Peterborough 

 Peterborough station improvements 

 Grade separation of the flat crossing at Newark 

 Capacity improvements at Doncaster and Darlington stations 

 Increases in capacity between Ferryhill and Newcastle and Doncaster and Wakefield 

 

 

5.26 Given the size of the fund it is unlikely that all of these schemes will be delivered within CP5, although it 

is clear that there are a number of schemes which would impact on rail services in Lincolnshire. In the 

longer term such capacity increases may help to deliver improved long distance service within 

Lincolnshire, such as the Cleethorpes – London service described above and could be prioritised for 

delivery in Control Period 6 (2019-2024). 

SUMMARY 

5.27 Lincolnshire is at present comparatively poorly served by long distance services, with the area being 

reliant in interchange into long distance services at various points on the ECML.  However matters seem 

Page 63



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 42 
 

set to improve in coming years with a fresh commitment to operating a two hourly service between 

Lincoln and London.  

5.28 There are however two clear aspirations for further service improvements and these are as follows: 

 Introduction of a Cleethorpes – London service 

 Further increase in the frequency of Lincoln – London services to hourly 

5.29 Clearly the development of these services will be in large part dependent on the success of the 

proposed Lincoln service, which would encourage the development of further services, and also 

increases in capacity on the East Coast Mainline.    

Page 64



JMP Consultants Ltd 

43 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

6 Lincoln Radial Routes 

6.1 The City of Lincoln is the largest settlement in the county of Lincolnshire and unsurprisingly is at the 

centre of the rail network in the area. The city is served by four routes. Two of these act as strategic links 

into and out of the county, to the East Midlands, and to South Yorkshire, whilst the other two provide 

important links within the county, to Grimsby in the North East of the area and Sleaford to the south.  

Figure 6.1  Lincolnshire: Lincoln Radial Routes 

 

6.2 Passenger services to Lincoln are entirely operated by East Midlands Trains, with the exception of the 

Sheffield – Lincoln service which is operated by Northern Rail and the daily East Coast service to 

London King’s Cross.  Service patterns have remained largely unaltered across the area for many years, 

with service levels broadly comparable to the situation at the time of privatisation in the mid 1990’s. 

However over this time demand has grown significantly, using ORR Station Usage figures trips from 

Lincoln Central have increased by 89% since 1997/98 and by 30% since 2002/03. Whilst this is 

encouraging it is however significantly lower than the national levels of growth which using the same 

approach indicate that passenger number have risen 116% since 1997/98 and 70% since 2002/03. This 

gap between Lincoln and the rest of the rail network reflects the lack of service development in the area.  

6.3 A further common feature of the routes described here has been the lack of change in the rolling stock 

fleet in use. Both East Midlands Trains and Northern Rail are using the same fleets on services around 

Lincoln that were in use 20 years ago.  The majority of East Midlands services are formed of Class 153 

or Class 156 Sprinter trains, the former being only one coach trains. Services operated by Northern are 

formed of either Class 142/144 Pacer trains or Class 150 Sprinters. These trains do not meet modern 

passenger expectations, and Northern rolling stock in particular suffers from being of a very low quality.  

6.4 The following sections describe the situation on each route and identify potential service enhancements.     

Page 65



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 44 
 

LINCOLN – NEWARK/NOTTINGHAM 

6.5 The route from Lincoln to Newark and Nottingham is the most important route from Lincoln both in terms 

of passenger numbers and the potential economic benefits accruing from improvements. Service on the 

route provide direct links to both the East Coast Mainline at Newark, and the East and West Midlands 

either directly (to Nottingham and Leicester) or via interchange to Derby and Birmingham. Despite its 

importance to Lincoln and Lincolnshire the route is one of the most operationally constrained due largely 

to the flat crossing of the East Coast Mainline immediately north of Newark Northgate station. This 

combined with the mixture of passenger and freight services on the route has historically limited the 

scope for developing services.   

Existing Services & Usage 

6.6 The route is served by two groups of passenger services. The first of these is the service that operates 

from Lincoln to Leicester. The service operates at a broadly hourly frequency throughout the day but 

with some notable gaps including a two hour gap in the evening between 1835 and 2035 and a 70 

minute gap during the day from 1230 to 1340. The service is relatively unusual by modern standards in 

that it does not run at set minutes past each hour, with services typically departing Lincoln between 30 

and 40 minutes past each hour. This is a commercial disadvantage as it makes the service pattern 

difficult to remember for users, and also impacts on potential interchanges at other stations.  

6.7 The journey time from Lincoln to Nottingham is around 1 hour and 1 hour 40 minutes to Leicester. Whilst 

providing a strategic link the service also acts as a local service calling at a number of smaller stations, 

including Hykeham, Swinderby and Collingham between Lincoln and Newark and up to seven stations 

between Newark and Nottingham. The stopping pattern varies significantly with some services operating 

fast, whilst others call at all stations. East of Newark stops are shared with the Lincoln – Newark 

Northgate service.  It is the variations in the stopping pattern that contribute to the fluctuations in 

departure times from Lincoln.  

6.8 The second service operating on the route is that from Lincoln to Newark Northgate. This service 

operates 13 services from 0526 to 1925 each day; the main rationale for the service is to provide 

connections on East Coast Mainline services at Newark Northgate, and as such many of the services 

operate non-stop with a journey time of 26 minutes.  Like the Nottingham service the timing of train is 

somewhat sporadic with a gap in the afternoon service of two and a half hours, and a number of gaps of 

over an hour. Seven of the services originate at Grimsby providing a connection from the north east of 

the area into East Coast services at Newark.  

6.9 The Sunday service on the route is very poor with the first train from Nottingham to Lincoln not departing 

until 1633 and the Newark – Lincoln shuttle operating at a variable frequency from the 1105 departure 

from Lincoln. 

6.10 Overall it can be seen that the combined pattern of services has the potential to provide a good link 

between Lincoln, Newark and Nottingham, however the anomalies within the timetable dilute the 

benefits of the services operated.  

6.11 The table below presents information from the 2013 Network Rail Regional Market Study on usage of 

services between Lincoln and Newark, looking at all stations within Lincolnshire and key stations outside 

Lincolnshire. The information is partial as it only covers flows into Lincoln and Nottingham stations and 

not intermediate flows. 

  

Page 66



JMP Consultants Ltd 

45 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Table 6.1  Journeys per year Lincoln – Newark – Nottingham Route (Source: Network Rail) 

 Total Station Usage (2012) Lincoln Nottingham 

Lincoln 1,655,000 N/A 172,000 

Hykeham 35,000 9,000 8,000 

Swinderby 17,000 6,000 1,000 

Newark 1,422,000 223,000 216,000 

Nottingham 6,437,000 174,000 N/A 

 

6.12 Interestingly the table shows that the most significant flows on the route are those from Newark to and 

from both Lincoln and Nottingham. In part this is likely to be related to interchanges at Newark onto the 

East Coast Mainline, but also reflects the proximity of Newark to both cities and potentially commuter 

markets from Newark to the two cities. This compares to the flows of around 170,000 trips per annum 

between Lincoln and Nottingham, which might be expected to be higher given the size of the cites. This 

would indicate that the long journey times and irregular service pattern are deterring potential users and 

weakening rail’s competitive position.  

6.13 The final major issue with the route is the lack of longer distance services using the route. At present all 

services operate through to Leicester, however there are no direct links further afield to Derby and 

Birmingham, both of which are important regional centres. Such services existed until as recently as 

2003, but have over time been removed, not helped by changes to franchise geography which has 

isolated Birmingham from Lincoln.   

Upcoming Service Changes 

6.14 However from the May 2015 timetable change a number of service improvements will be put in place. 

The main change is the introduction of a new hourly service from Nottingham to Newark Castle, this will 

improve frequency within Nottinghamshire but will also allow a change in the stopping pattern of services 

from Lincoln to Nottingham, as services will no longer have to serve (except at peak times) intermediate 

stations between Newark and Nottingham. This in turn will allow a change in the stopping pattern of 

services between Lincoln and Newark, Hykeham for example receives an hourly service all day to 

Nottingham and Lincoln. The Lincoln – Newark service will remain largely in its present form providing a 

fast link to and from Newark Northgate for connections on the ECML. 

6.15 The improvements above will address some but not all of the issues with the present service. The key 

constraints are discussed in more detail below. 

The Constraints to Service Development 

6.16 There are two infrastructure constraints that limit the potential for significantly improving services on the 

Lincoln – Newark – Nottingham line.  The first of these is the maximum permitted line speed. At the 

present time there are extensive sections of route where a 50mph speed restriction is in place. It is 

unclear if the limiting factor is related to signalling issues or track quality; however the speed limit would 

need to be raised to bring significant changes to journey times. The table below compares the existing 

average speeds and journey times with potential journey times with increased line speeds for Lincoln – 

Nottingham journeys, a distance of 33.75 miles.    

 

 

Page 67



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 46 
 

Table 6.2  Comparison of potential journey times Lincoln - Nottingham 

 
Existing Service 

(Best) 
50 mph Ave 60 mph Ave 70 mph Ave 

Average Speed 39 50 60 70 

Journey Time 52 41 34 29 

 

6.17 It can be seen that moving to average speeds of 50 or 60 miles per hour makes a significant difference 

to journey times and with the limited number of stops that the service makes this would be readily 

possible if the line speed of the route permits it. It should also be considered that in the economic 

modelling presented earlier in the report the average speed for a “good current” level of service was only 

45mph, whilst a best current service was 60mph. Given the limited number of stops and comparatively 

forgiving infrastructure that is relatively straight and flat such targets should be achievable.  

6.18 Resignalling is planned for much of the route in the next few years and it is possible that this will provide 

the opportunity to address many of the line speed issues.  

6.19 The second major infrastructure constraint, which is more difficult to address is the Newark Flat 

Crossing. This is a now almost unique arrangement in the UK where different routes cross on the level. 

The flat crossing is a major planning constraint and as traffic on the East Coast Mainline has grown 

significantly in recent years is now a major constraint to the development of services from Lincoln to 

Nottingham. The greater volume of both trains and passengers on the ECML has meant that the ECML 

has always taken precedence over the Lincoln – Nottingham line in planning services.   

6.20 Resolving the issues presented by the flat crossing is not easy, and although schemes have been 

proposed in the past there is no scheme being pursued at the present time. The delivery of such a 

scheme would require a very significant investment to deliver a flyover paralleling the A46 and crossing 

both ECML and the River Trent to the south west, the construction of such a flyover and its associated 

earthworks would be extremely costly, the business case for delivering it would have to be driven by the 

need to improve services on the ECML as much as a desire to improve services from Lincoln to 

Nottingham.  

6.21 The earliest that such a scheme could be delivered would be during Control Period 6 from 2019 to 2024, 

however in reality the development of such a scheme could be blighted by uncertainty over the 

development of HS2 and its resulting impact on services on the ECML after completion. 

6.22 There is however a strong case for addressing the existing constraints to improving services, especially 

journey times based around the modelling work presented earlier in this report. This demonstrated that if 

a “best current” level of service could be delivered to the route there would be around £11M of 

agglomeration benefits accruing to the Greater Lincolnshire economy every year. This would be 

increased further if more direct services were operated to locations such as Birmingham, with an 

absolute maximum of around £34M of benefits each year.    

Future Services 

6.23 Looking at the issues surrounding the present service and the role that the route plays as a strategic link 

into and out of Lincoln there are a range of service changes that would deliver improvements. The main 

requirements would be to reduce journey times and increase direct connectivity. The following options 

would address this: 

 

 

 

Page 68



JMP Consultants Ltd 

47 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Options for improvement 

 Development of “best current” journey times, with an average speed of 60 mph between 

Nottingham and Lincoln 

 Extension of Birmingham – Nottingham services operated by Cross Country to Lincoln providing 

direct services to Nottingham, Derby and Birmingham, either replacing or complementing the 

existing service 

 Examining the scope of a regular pattern of departure times, ideally spreading out departures 

from Lincoln to Newark Castle and Newark Northgate into half hourly intervals.    

 Reduction of the Lincoln – Newark shuttle to a two hourly frequency on commencement of two 

hourly London – Lincoln service. 

 Operation of all day Sunday service from Lincoln to Nottingham 

 

 

 

6.24 Given the strategic nature of the route this list of service improvements may seem comparatively 

modest; however in combination they would represent a step change in the level of service on the route, 

and a significant improvement in the level of connectivity on the route. The development of a direct 

service to Birmingham with a journey time of 1 hour 54 minutes would be a significant improvement on 

the present best case situation of a journey time of 2 hours 14 minutes with an interchange at 

Nottingham. Without detailed modelling work it is not clear if the route could sustain a half hourly service 

from Nottingham to Lincoln, and a Lincoln – Newark shuttle service, however if it could it would allow the 

Birmingham service to operate fast calling at Newark Castle only. 

6.25 The resource implications of these improvements would not necessarily be severe as the reduction in 

the Newark – Lincoln shuttle service after the improvement in direct services to London would release a 

train whilst the Birmingham service would be an extension of an existing service from Birmingham to 

Nottingham limiting the need for additional rolling stock. Finally the significant reduction in journey times 

proposed, an 18 minute reduction on the existing best service, may have implications for rolling stock 

utilisation as trains could be worked more intensely on a faster railway.  

Summary 

6.26 The Lincoln – Nottingham route is the City of Lincoln’s strategic connection to the East and West 

Midlands, however the service on the route has been neglected for a long time with a considerable 

reduction in direct services by historic standards. There are two major constraints on the route, but the 

resolution of one of these (line speeds) would make a significant difference to the attractiveness of 

services, and could act as a catalyst for further improvements.  

6.27 A number of service changes have been identified that would potentially increase the usage of the route 

and bring wider benefits to Greater Lincolnshire as a whole as identified in the economic modelling work.         

LINCOLN – SHEFFIELD/DONCASTER 

6.28 The line from Lincoln towards Sheffield and Doncaster is the second strategic route from Lincoln, 

providing direct links to South Yorkshire and the wider Yorkshire and the North East area. Like the route 

to Nottingham described above the route between Lincoln and Sheffield has become something of a 

Cinderella service.  

6.29 The service towards Sheffield is the better of the two operating at an hourly frequency throughout the 

day. However all services are stopping services calling at both stations within Lincolnshire and Saxilby 

Page 69



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 48 
 

and Gainsborough, but also all stations west of Retford as the service provides an urban link from 

Worksop to Sheffield. Services often operate through to Doncaster via Sheffield largely for reasons of 

operational convenience but also to provide a direct link to the Meadowhall shopping centre. The 

journey time to Doncaster is however very unattractive at around two hours. Service on this route are 

operated by Northern Rail, with operations centred on Sheffield. The rolling stock used is of very poor 

quality with Pacer trains often being used, making their only appearance within the County of 

Lincolnshire.  The average speed for the 48.5 mile journey is 35 mph, slightly worse than that for the 

route from Lincoln to Nottingham, although more stops are made.  

6.30 The service provides connectivity with ECML services at Retford, which enjoys a broadly hourly service 

to London through a combination of East Coast and Hull Trains services, however return services from 

London are poorer with services tending to cluster, being followed by a long gap. The range of 

destinations to the north is also limited with services terminating at either York or Hull.  Only Saxilby and 

Gainsborough passengers would be likely to use Retford for interchange purposes as better connections 

with the ECML can be made at Newark from Lincoln.  

6.31 The second service is that from Lincoln to Doncaster operated by East Midlands Trains. The frequency 

of this service is only five trains per day in each direction with all northbound services originating at 

either Sleaford or Peterborough but with all southbound services terminating at Lincoln. As well as 

having a very poor frequency the timing of services is such that they are quite inconvenient for users. 

There are no services in either direction timed to allow use by commuters whilst two of the services 

operate within an hour of each other in the evening, with departures from Doncaster at 1934 and 2033, 

the former of these following a five hour gap from 1427.  

6.32 This poor service frequency lets down a service which has the potential to provide the quickest access 

to Lincoln to and from Yorkshire and the North East. Although the average speed is only 41mph, despite 

only having two intermediate stops on a 36 mile journey, the route offers the most direct and quickest 

service. A journey time from Leeds to Lincoln of 1 hour 40 minutes with only one interchange compares 

to a journey time of 1 hour 45 minutes via Newark, requiring two changes, or 2 hours 27 minutes via 

Sheffield. The route lacks any intermediate stops between Doncaster and Gainsborough. However there 

have been proposals to build a station at Robin Hood Airport, which would require an improved service 

to operate.   

6.33 The Sunday service on the route is especially poor with a service of only four trains in each direction at a 

two hour frequency, which do not begin until a 1515 departure from Lincoln. There is no service between 

Lincoln and Doncaster on Sundays. 

6.34 The table below presents information from the Network Rail Regional Market study on usage between 

key stations on the routes and also the total usage of that station, to put the demand flows in context. 

Table 6.3  Journeys per Year: Lincoln – Sheffield/Doncaster 

 ORR Station Usage Lincoln Sheffield 

Lincoln 1,655,000 N/A 57,000 

Saxilby 59,000 45,000 3,000 

Gainsborough 154,000 90,000 5,000 

Retford 406,000 38,000 25,000 

Worksop 464,000 17,000 157,000 

Kiveton Bridge 66,000 9,000 41,000 

Sheffield 8,424,000 57,000 N/A 

Doncaster 3,884,000 20,000 N/A 

 

Page 70



JMP Consultants Ltd 

49 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

6.35 It can be very clearly seen that there is dividing line in the Sheffield service with Retford and points east 

facing towards Lincoln, while Worksop and points west face towards the Sheffield catchment. Given the 

very poor service from Doncaster to Lincoln it is interesting to note that Doncaster can generate 20,000 

trips per annum in contrast to the 57,000 that Sheffield generates with an hourly service operating all 

day.   

6.36 The study suggests that the total number of trips from the two routes into Lincoln is around 135,000 trips 

per annum. This compares with 446,000 trips per year on the route from Nottingham to Newark. The 

economic modelling work also identified both links, but especially that to Sheffield, as being of 

importance to Lincoln, with economic benefits comparable to those for improvements to Nottingham. 

Constraints to Development 

6.37 The greatest infrastructure constraint to developing services on the route is the comparatively low line 

speed. Whilst the line speeds vary there are few sections where speeds exceed 60mph. This limits the 

competitiveness of rail against other modes and limits the demand for services.  

6.38 There are relatively few limits on capacity for services in the areas, although the use of the route 

between Lincoln and Doncaster as a strategic freight route is a potential planning constraint.  

Planned Service Improvements 

6.39 The trains service requirements for the Sheffield – Lincoln service specifies a number of improvements 

to services during the next franchise from 2016. From the 2019 timetable change it is planned to 

increase service frequencies between Sheffield and Retford, giving a half hourly off peak service. 

However only Worksop and Retford stations are planned to receive this service level. This indicates that 

a fast service would be introduced, removing stops at intermediate stations in South Yorkshire. Although 

not specified it would seem logical for the fast service to be the service that operates to Lincoln. The 

removal of the intermediate stops west of Worksop would reduce journey times to and from Sheffield by 

around 10 minutes.  

6.40 The TSR also improves Sunday services by bringing forward the existing first departure from Sheffield to 

0900 and operating an hourly service thereafter until 2100. This represents a substantial improvement 

on the existing level of service. 

Further Improvements to Services 

6.41 Whilst the service improvements outlined above will bring an improvement over the existing service 

offered there is some way to go before the routes deliver on their strategic potential.  

6.42 The most pressing case for improvement is on the Lincoln – Doncaster service. This route has the 

potential to provide improved links from Lincoln and Gainsborough to the north via interchange at 

Doncaster. With targeted journey time reductions and a significant increase in service frequency the 

route could bring a significant improvement in connectivity even with interchanges to other services at 

Doncaster. This would help provide better links for both business and leisure users and make Lincoln a 

more attractive place to access for residents of the West and South Yorkshire conurbation. In the short 

term a two hourly service should be introduced ultimately increasing to an hourly service. 

6.43 Providing a direct service beyond Doncaster is more challenging with no obvious service for an 

improved Doncaster – Lincoln service to be integrated with.  Improvements to the Doncaster – Lincoln 

service will in large part hinge on the development of a station at Robin Hood Doncaster Sheffield 

Airport, which would help to generate more passengers on the route.  

6.44 The proposals to improve journey times by reducing stops as part of the next Northern franchise on the 

Lincoln – Sheffield route presents the opportunity to upgrade the service. In other parts of the franchise 

a “Northern Regional” service has been identified for longer distance more strategic routes that are not 

Page 71



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 50 
 

covered by the Trans Pennine Express. This service level involves the use of new or enhanced rolling 

stock and would act to improve the attractiveness of the service between Lincoln and Sheffield, making 

it more attractive for business and tourist use. 

6.45 The following identifies the potential improvements to services on the two routes: 

Options for improvements 

 Opening of station at Robin Hood Doncaster Sheffield Airport 

 Development of a two hourly Lincoln – Doncaster services, increasing to hourly 

 Introduction of Sunday services between Doncaster and Lincoln 

 Improvements to line speeds throughout 

 

 

 

Summary 

6.46 The route north from Lincoln to Sheffield and Doncaster has the potential to be developed to play a 

more important role in the development of services in Lincolnshire, especially as the economic modelling 

identified benefits from improving services to Sheffield. Some improvements to services are already 

planned but there is scope for further improvements through changes to line speeds and the 

transformation of service levels. In the long term this could include the development of through services 

to the North West.  

LINCOLN – SLEAFORD 

6.47 The route from Lincoln to Sleaford provides an important link between Lincoln and South Lincolnshire. 

Services on the line operate at a broadly hourly frequency throughout the day although there are a 

number of gaps particularly in the afternoon where there is 80 minute gap between departures followed 

by a 70 minute gap.  

6.48 Whilst a number of services, mainly in the morning and evenings shuttle between Lincoln and Sleaford 

the majority of services operate to and from Peterborough, with a number of the northbound services 

operating through to Doncaster. The route only has two intermediate stations at Metheringham and 

Ruskington. Like many routes in Lincolnshire journey times are disappointing with an average speed of 

only 40mph for a journey of 21 miles with only two intermediate stations.  

6.49 The two intermediate stations perform well given the size of the population served, Ruskington has a 

population of 5,169 but generates 92,000 trips per annum whilst Metheringham has a population 3,384 

but generates 110,000 trips per annum.  

6.50 Interchange with other services is available at both Lincoln and Sleaford, with services interchange for 

Grantham and Skegness available at Sleaford.  

6.51 The table below sets out the key flows to Lincoln on the route based on information in the 2013 Network 

Rail Regional Market Study. 

 

 

 

Page 72



JMP Consultants Ltd 

51 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Table 6.4  Journeys per year Sleaford - Lincoln 

 ORR Station Usage Journeys to Lincoln 

Metheringham 110,000 84,000 

Ruskington 92,000 61,000 

Sleaford 337,000 136,000 

Spalding 173,000 15,000 

Peterborough 4,208,000 31,000 

 

6.52 It can be seen that there are very strong links between Sleaford and Lincoln but that demand from 

stations south of Sleaford towards Lincoln is significantly lower, suggesting a clear division in the 

catchment for services at Sleaford.  

Scope for Developing Services 

6.53 Given the rural nature of the area the justification for significant improvements to services is relatively 

limited. However the route would benefit from the introduction of a regular hourly all day service, 

removing the present gaps in the service, this could be supplemented by the development of selected 

peak services into Lincoln to improve the frequency of service making rail more attractive and providing 

greater access to opportunities.  

6.54 Journey times on the route could also be improved, taking advantage of line speed increases introduced 

as part of the Joint Line upgrade. This has increased the predominant line speed on the route from 55 

mph to 75 mph. Although detailed modelling would be required to confirm the level of change the implied 

30% uplift in speed could reduce journey times between Sleaford and Lincoln by up to 10 minutes, a 

substantial reduction that would make journeys by rail more competitive than car.  

6.55 If as described above services between Lincoln and Doncaster were improved these could be linked into 

an improved Lincoln – Sleaford service in both directions all day to improve the range of connectivity 

available across Lincolnshire.  

6.56 The line would also benefit from the introduction of a year round Sunday service.     

LINCOLN – GRIMSBY 

6.57 The route from Lincoln to Grimsby provides a potentially important but underutilised service, currently 

eight services per day operate at an approximately two hourly frequency, although there are a number of 

larger gaps. For example in the afternoon and evening, services depart from Grimsby at 15:45,18:28 

and 21:45. The economic modelling identified this route as the most important internal route within 

Lincolnshire. 

6.58 At the present time all but one service from Lincoln originates at Newark Northgate and all southbound 

services terminate there, providing connectivity with East Coast Mainline services. The first and last 

southbound services of the day start from Cleethorpes, whilst the last northbound evening service 

terminates there. This lack of a direct all day service to Cleethorpes prevents the development of a 

potential tourism market for trips by rail from Lincoln to Cleethorpes.     

6.59 There are only a few intermediate stops, at Market Rasen, Barnetby and Habrough.  The services 

provides the only rail link to and from Market Rasen, and also provides links that could be developed at 

Barnetby which acts as a railhead for the growing Humberside Airport.  

6.60 Historically the route played an important role in linking Grimsby with London, both via interchange at 

Newark and also via direct services. However over time the stagnation of journey times on the route via 

Page 73



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 52 
 

Lincoln and the improvement in journey times and frequency on the ECML, coupled to the more frequent 

Trans Pennine service via Scunthorpe has made the route via Doncaster more attractive for London 

trips.   

6.61 As discussed above it is possible in the longer term that delivering a Grimsby – London service may be 

more effectively achieved through extending Lincoln – London services which would route services via 

Barnetby and Market Rasen. This could help to provide a useful boost to service frequency were an all 

day service to be developed. This is however a longer term options that could only be considered for 

delivery beyond the scope of the existing Virgin Train East Coast franchise.  

6.62 The average speed of the service is higher than other services in Lincolnshire at 47 miles per hour; 

however there is scope for further improvement given the lack of intermediate stops especially between 

Barnetby and Lincoln. The line speed is presently 75mph for most of the route between Wrawby 

Junction (Barnetby) and Lincoln, with short sections at lower speeds mainly around Market Rasen. 

However between Barnetby and Grimsby the line speed is only 60mph limiting the journey time 

improvements that can be achieved.  

6.63 The table below presents the level of usage on the route based on the Network Rail Regional Market 

Study.  

Table 6.5  Journey per Year Lincoln – Grimsby  

 ORR Station Usage Lincoln Grimsby 

Cleethorpes 265,000 6,000 37,000 

Grimsby 447,000 39,000 N/A 

Habrough 33,000 5,000 11,000 

Barnetby 69,000 10,000 7,000 

Market Rasen 59,000 40,000 2,000 

Lincoln 1,655,000 N/A 39,000 

 

6.64 The table above includes some movements that are shared with other services in Northern Lincolnshire, 

however the largest flow is clearly that between Market Rasen and Lincoln, followed by movements 

between Grimsby and Lincoln. Given the relatively poor service on the route and low population of 

Market Rasen (3,230) the number of trips from Market Rasen is reasonable. However given the size of 

Grimsby and Lincoln it might be expected that number of trips between them would be higher. The level 

of trip making from Barnetby towards Lincoln is also quite high given the poor service and that 

economically Barnetby faces towards Scunthorpe and Grimsby rather than Lincoln. 

Potential Service Developments 

6.65 Although journey times could be improved further the main issue with the present Lincoln – Grimsby 

service is the poor service frequency. There are a number of ways that this could be addressed. The first 

options relates to the introduction of the two hourly Lincoln – London service from May 2019. This 

service will reduce the need for the Newark – Lincoln shuttle allowing to it to operate on a two hourly 

basis rather than its present approximately hourly pattern. This in turn could release a train to increase 

service frequencies between Lincoln and Grimsby, as a minimum delivering a clockface two hourly 

service and extending to Cleethorpes.  

6.66 In the longer term an hourly service should be worked towards. This could be delivered in one of two 

ways, firstly as a direct development of the existing service, or alternatively through the extension of 

Lincoln – London services to start at Grimsby. These could be overlaid on the existing timetable to 

provide an hourly service, which would provide an improvement in connectivity and an uplift in service 

Page 74



JMP Consultants Ltd 

53 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

quality through the introduction of IEP trains. However delivery of such an option is only likely to be 

possible beyond the end of the existing Virgin Train East Coast franchise, and after some initial 

improvements have been made to the service. 

6.67 Across all routes in the area there is a need to develop the case for increasing line speeds to reduce 

journey times. This is likely to be an ongoing incremental process taking advantage of re-signalling 

works and track maintenance and renewals work to deliver enhancements in a cost effective manner.   

6.68 The potential improvements to the route are therefore: 

Potential improvements 

 Introduce a two hourly all day service with all services extended to Cleethorpes 

 Work towards the introduction of an hourly service either through development of the existing 

service or through the extension of Lincoln – London service to Grimsby.  

 Work to increase line speeds to improve journey times, especially between Barnetby and 

Cleethorpes 

 

SUMMARY 

6.69 There are four routes radiating from Lincoln that are of both local and strategic importance to Lincoln 

and Lincolnshire. The four routes provide varying levels of service however all are characterised by a 

need for further improvements to services to realise the potential benefits of the rail network to 

Lincolnshire as a whole.   

6.70 Across all of the routes the outstanding feature is the relatively low average speeds given the 

combination of straight routes, a lack of gradients and the infrequent stops that services make. Some of 

these issues are being addressed - for example line speeds have been increased between Sleaford and 

Lincoln as part of the Joint Line upgrade. However, there is a need to develop more strategic links to 

other parts of the country, with direct services largely being limited to the nearest major settlements 

outside of Lincolnshire for example Sheffield and Nottingham. Such links would help deliver the 

economic benefits estimated in the previous chapters. Finally the frequency of services across all four 

routes is often variable with a need in two cases for substantial improvements (Lincoln – Doncaster and 

Lincoln – Grimsby), an on other routes for more minor improvements. Again some progress is already 

being made with an upgrade to Lincoln – Nottingham services from the May 2015 timetable change, and 

improved services from Lincoln to Sheffield specified as part of the next Northern Rail franchise. 

6.71 The benefits of investment may however be significant with three of the four routes being identified as of 

importance in the economic modelling. Clearly however more work is required on the detail of service 

improvements, including liaison with TOCs and Network Rail.      

Page 75



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 54 
 

7 South Lincolnshire & East Midlands 

7.1 In the south of Lincolnshire there are a group of routes which serve a number of towns providing links 

between Grantham, Skegness, Spalding, Peterborough and Stamford. These routes, with one exception 

run on an east-west axis providing links to the East and West Midlands and also to East Anglia. There is 

only one through service towards Lincoln with services tending to be isolated from Lincoln and the north 

of the county.  

Figure 7.1  Lincolnshire: South Lincolnshire & East Midlands Routes 

 

 

7.2 Like the rest of the county services have tended to be relatively static in recent years, with frequency 

and journey times remaining constant, and rolling stock remaining largely unchanged since privatisation. 

The services described are all operated by East Midlands Trains at the present time with the exception 

of the service from Birmingham to Stansted which is operated by Cross Country.  

NOTTINGHAM – GRANTHAM – SKEGNESS 

7.3 The route from Nottingham to Skegness via Grantham provides a link from a number of larger 

settlements in South Lincolnshire to the East Midlands. The service operates over a distance of 80 miles 

and serves the towns of Grantham, Sleaford, Boston and Skegness in Lincolnshire, as well as a number 

of smaller settlements. East of Sleaford the route has historically been dependent on tourism traffic to 

Skegness which in turn helps to support the use the route for other purposes. Tourism traffic is still of 

importance today with overcrowding of service being an issue in summer months.  

Page 76



JMP Consultants Ltd 

55 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

7.4 The service operates at an hourly frequency on weekdays, with journey times varying between 1 hour 

55 minutes and 2 hours 15 minutes. The variation in journey times is largely related to the stopping 

pattern of services especially west of Grantham, where the Nottingham – Skegness service acts as a 

local stopping service, of which only Bingham has a regular service. East of Grantham stopping patterns 

are also variable with10 intermediate stations between Grantham and Skegness, however no train stops 

at all stations and only Sleaford, Heckington, Boston and Wainfleet receiving stops from all services. A 

number of the smaller stations have only very infrequent services with Rauceby and Ancaster receiving 

only four calls in each directions and Thorpe Culvert and Havenhouse only receiving two trains in each 

direction. This illustrates the role that the service plays in providing a service of social importance to rural 

communities.   

7.5 The Sunday service on the route varies by season. During summer there are eight services in each 

direction between Nottingham and Skegness, however in winter this is reduced to four trains in each 

direction, with the first arrival in Skegness not until 1400. This seasonal variation clearly illustrates the 

importance of tourism to the route.  

7.6 Services make a detour to serve Grantham which also involves the train reversing and adds around 15 

minutes to journey times compared to the direct route. However this additional journey time is offset by 

the additional connectivity that stops at Grantham brings, providing interchange for London, East Anglia, 

as well as Yorkshire, the North East and Scotland. This does however have a substantial impact on 

journey times from Lincolnshire to the East Midlands. Sleaford in particular suffers. Without the diversion 

via Grantham Sleaford would be within around 50 minutes of Nottingham, however journey times via 

Grantham are a minimum of 65 minutes.  

7.7 Average speed on the route are not high, the table below presents average speeds over a number of 

sections; these can vary further depending on the stopping pattern of services.  

Table 7.1  Average Speeds: Nottingham – Skegness Route 

Route Section Average Speed (mph) 

Nottingham – Skegness 36 

Grantham – Sleaford 42 

Grantham – Skegness 38 

Sleaford – Skegness  45 

 

7.8 It can be seen that the overall average speed of 36 mph is very poor; the fastest section is Sleaford – 

Skegness reflecting the relative lack of stops for most services over this section.  

7.9 Partial information is available on the usage of the route, with the 2013 Network Rail Regional Market 

Study containing information on flows to Nottingham from all stations excluding Skegness. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 56 
 

Table 7.2  Total Journeys to Nottingham and total station usage 

Origin Station ORR Station Usage Journeys to Nottingham  

Boston 216,000 31,000 

Hubberts Bridge 1,000 0 

Swineshead 2,000 0 

Heckington 65,000 4,000 

Sleaford 337,000 19,000 

Rauceby 2,000 0 

Ancaster 4,000 1,000 

Grantham 1,120,000 178,000 

 

7.10 Unsurprisingly Grantham, Sleaford and Boston provide the vast majority of demand on the route. It is 

interesting to note that trips from Sleaford to Nottingham are relatively limited compared to the number to 

and from Lincoln, around 100,000 per annum. The total number of trips from Grantham to Nottingham is 

very large, although some of these trips may be interchange trips from the East Coast Mainline. 

Grantham is however located in a very convenient position for residents to commute to Nottingham.   

7.11 The route has an active Community Rail Partnership which aims to promote and develop the route and 

in turn increase demand. 

Infrastructure Constraints 

7.12 There are two main infrastructure constraints on the route from Nottingham to Skegness. The first of 

these are two single track sections of line east of Sleaford, one running from Sleaford to Heckington and 

one from Hubberts Bridge to Sibsey.  At the present time the length of these single track sections and 

the level of service provided does not present any serious constraints to operation, however if service 

levels were increased above hourly the single track sections might present a timetabling problem.  

7.13 The second, more pressing constraint is the low line speeds that are prevalent along the route. The 

table below summarises the predominant line speeds between Nottingham and Skegness. 

Table 7.3  Predominant line speeds Nottingham - Skegness 

Route Section Line Speed (mph) 

Nottingham – Grantham 60-75 

Grantham – Sleaford 50 

Sleaford – Boston 60 

Boston - Skegness 50-60  

 

7.14 It can be seen that line speeds on the route are generally low, with the section from Sleaford to 

Grantham being especially poor.  It is known that there have been issues with the permanent way east 

of Sleaford, with heavier locomotive hauled trains banned from the route for a period due to concerns 

over track quality. This would suggest that the existing infrastructure would need substantial investment 

to bring substantial improvements to journey times.   

7.15 As the lowest line speeds are at the west end of the route between Grantham and Sleaford, and this 

section will have the greatest number of passengers using it, there would be a case for using any 

available budget for investment on improving journey times on this section, before working eastwards 

towards Skegness. This approach would also be justified by the economic modelling presented earlier 

Page 78



JMP Consultants Ltd 

57 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

that shows that substantial benefits would be gained from improving the section of route from Sleaford to 

Grantham, with still useful, but lower benefits from the eastern section of the route.  

Service Developments 

7.16 The greatest scope for improving services on the route is by reducing journey times on the route. Based 

on the population and number of settlements east of Grantham the case for increases in service 

frequencies, which would add substantially to the cost base of the route, is likely to be poor. The 

exception to this is during the summer season when severe overcrowding occurs on some services. This 

may justify an increase in service frequencies to deliver extra capacity, although the current policy of 

operating longer trains at weekends also helps. Historically Skegness received trains from a variety of 

destinations in the summer season, especially South Yorkshire and the West Midlands. It may be worth 

examining the case for such services particularly from Sheffield which might be the easiest for East 

Midlands Trains to deliver. The operation of such services on Sundays would be beneficial to both the 

resort and make use of rolling stock that is spare on Sundays. 

7.17 The only case for changes in weekday services may be around developing a dedicated service between 

Grantham and Nottingham for intermediate stations, as is currently being introduced between 

Nottingham and Newark Castle. Such a service would relieve the Nottingham – Skegness service of 

intermediate stops between Nottingham and Grantham allowing some journey time reductions especially 

at peak times, whilst also improving services between Grantham and Nottingham. An alternative to this 

would be to try and timetable the two existing services between Grantham and Peterborough to provide 

a more even split in departures times and remove the existing bunching which sees two services depart 

in 15 minutes followed by a 45 minute gap which afflicts services in both directions. Due to the difficulties 

in planning the Liverpool – Norwich services, the Nottingham – Skegness service would seem the most 

likely to be retimed to deliver this improvement. 

7.18 There is also a need to develop an all year round all Sunday service to and from Skegness.      

SLEAFORD – PETERBOROUGH  

7.19 The Sleaford – Peterborough is the southern part of the Great Northern Great Eastern Joint Line which 

runs from Peterborough to Doncaster and has recently been heavily upgraded to allow freight traffic to 

be diverted from the East Coast Mainline.  

7.20 The passenger service on the route is broadly hourly on weekdays with most services operating direct 

from Peterborough to Lincoln. However there are a number of issues with the service provided. The first 

relates to services in the mornings and evenings, with no service leaving Sleaford for Peterborough 

before 0834 making commuting trips via this route impossible. Instead two services depart from 

Spalding for Peterborough at 0700 and 0800. This gap in services is reflected in the evening with the 

last through service from Peterborough to Sleaford departing at 1625. Services from Peterborough are 

in general poor after this time with departures from Peterborough to Spalding at 1732, 1836 and 2030. 

7.21 The alternative option of travelling from Sleaford to Peterborough via Grantham is both slower and 

involves an interchange. The historic reason for this lack of early morning and evening services has 

been the times that the signal boxes on the route were open. However as part of the upgrade of the 

route for the diversion of freight trains the numerous mechanical signal boxes have been abolished and 

replaced by control from Lincoln Signalling Control Centre which is open continuously. This therefore 

removes one of the main barriers to service development on the route.  

7.22 Weekend services are also very poor on the route. There is no Sunday service, and there are 

substantial gaps in the service on Saturdays with for example a 2 hour 20 minute gap in departures from 

0932 to 1149, and a further gap from 1242 to 1510. These gaps reduce the potential use of the service 

for leisure travellers at weekends. 

Page 79



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 58 
 

7.23 Journey times on the route, as elsewhere in Lincolnshire are poor. Despite there being only one 

intermediate station, at Spalding, average speeds over the 35.5 mile route are only 40mph. However as 

part of the upgrade of the joint line, line speeds have been increased to 75mph giving scope for journey 

time reductions.  Indeed from the May 2015 timetable change there appear to be some improvements to 

journey times with up to 6 minutes removed from the Peterborough – Sleaford journey time.     

7.24 Little information is available about flows of traffic on the route. However based on the service pattern 

the largest flow is likely to be Spalding to Peterborough. The service that Spalding receives is 

surprisingly poor. The town has a population of over 30,000 but as described above receives only an 

hourly service to Peterborough and Lincoln with very poor evening services and no Sunday service and 

large gaps in the Saturday service. There is a case for improvements to services to Peterborough to 

allow the town to take full advantage of the high quality links available to London and East Anglia. The 

situation at Spalding contrasts with Stamford, discussed below, which receives an hourly service to 

Peterborough, Cambridge, Stansted, Leicester and Birmingham, and usage that is approaching double 

that at Spalding, despite have a population of only 20,000.      

Service Improvements 

7.25 Whilst there have been historic constraints to developing services on this route linked to the opening 

hours of signal boxes, and low line speeds, many of these constraints have now been removed following 

the upgrade of the joint line. The only significant constraint remaining is capacity around Peterborough 

where there may be some pathing constraints between Werrington Junction and Peterborough station, 

as well as platforming issues at Peterborough station, although the development of a grade separated 

dive under at Werrington Junction may help resolve these issues. 

7.26 There is a long standing aspiration for the development of a station at Littleworth between Spalding and 

Peterborough. Such a station could act as a Park & Ride to Peterborough for settlements south of 

Spalding. More work is required to examine the viability of such a station .If there was suitable demand, 

then such a station might contribute revenue to the route as a whole helping to improve the financial 

performance of the route.  

7.27 The main service improvements that the route would benefit from are: 

 

Potential Improvements 

 Journey time reductions by taking advantage of recent signalling and track upgrades. 

 Scheme that encourage more commuting by rail to Peterborough, such as a new station at 

Littleworth if a feasibility study showed that this was viable. 

 Clockface hourly service between Sleaford and Peterborough, retaining through links to Lincoln 

where possible, operating Monday to Saturday, and providing an early morning and late evening 

services.  

 Development of a two hourly Sunday service ideally building to a hourly service. 

 

NOTTINGHAM – GRANTHAM – PETERBOROUGH – NORWICH 

7.28 The route from Nottingham to Norwich via Grantham and Peterborough is served as part of a much 

longer route from Liverpool to Norwich. The service only crosses into Lincolnshire at Grantham, but is an 

important cross country link. Service are operated by East Midlands Trains and are typically operated by 

heavily refurbished Class 158 trains which provide a relatively high standard of travel compared to other 

rolling stock in use in Lincolnshire.  

Page 80



JMP Consultants Ltd 

59 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

7.29 It serves both a local and strategic function by providing important strategic links for Grantham to 

Liverpool, Manchester, Sheffield, and Norwich. It also provides a local function by providing a service 

from Grantham to Nottingham.  It shares this function with the Skegness – Nottingham service described 

above however the value of the service is not maximised with departures from Grantham to Nottingham 

and vice versa tending to be clustered. For example there are two services in 15 minutes from Grantham 

to Nottingham followed by a 45 minute gap.   

7.30 The route is known to have overcrowding problems. Historically these have been worst west of 

Nottingham, but in recent years the service has been strengthened from two to four car trains west of 

Nottingham. East of Nottingham the majority of services are two car and do suffer from overcrowding.  

Potential Improvements 

7.31 Over almost the full length of the route the service is paralleled by other services which limit the scope 

for improving service frequencies, however there may be scope for journey time improvements to the 

service at a number of locations. The most relevant to Grantham would be improvements to journey 

times between Peterborough and Nottingham. Between Peterborough and Grantham this would require 

the use of different rolling stock with a higher maximum speed, than the 90 mph the Class 158s can 

achieve, as the East Coast Mainline already operates at 125mph. This would actually bring wider 

benefits to the planning of the ECML as the Liverpool – Norwich service represents a planning constraint 

as it is the slowest passenger service in operation on the section between Doncaster and Peterborough.   

7.32 Between Grantham and Nottingham increases in line speeds would be required to deliver a faster 

service. The existing speeds are poor with an average of 40mph for the section from Grantham to 

Nottingham, despite the lack of intermediate stops. If line speeds on this sections could be increased 

this would benefit both the Norwich – Liverpool and Skegness – Nottingham service.  

BIRMINGHAM – LEICESTER – STAMFORD – STANSTED AIRPORT 

7.33 The Birmingham – Stansted Airport service operated by Cross Country trains skirts through the southern 

edge of Lincolnshire, serving the town of Stamford. The service operates at an hourly frequency and 

provides an important strategic regional link from the West Midlands to the East of England.  

7.34 Services on the route are operated by 100mph capable Class 170 trains which provide a relatively high 

standard of passenger accommodation. However services on the route can be overcrowded at times 

with the service being used by a mixture of local and long distance passengers.   

7.35 The rail journey time is competitive with car between Peterborough and Leicester with a journey time of 

56 minutes compared to a car journey time of over an hour. This in spite of the route being relatively 

indirect, diverting via Melton Mowbray to access Leicester. The rail journey time from Stamford to 

Peterborough, at 14 minutes is also significantly faster than car, which has a journey time of around 30 

minutes. These strong competitive features of rail are however diluted by the frequency of the service, 

which at hourly, makes rail less attractive.    

Potential Improvements 

7.36 The main improvement needed to the Birmingham – Stansted service is an increase in capacity to 

reduce overcrowding. This could be delivered through cascades of rolling stock following electrification 

of other routes in coming years. 

7.37 The other main issue is the frequency of services between Peterborough and Leicester. The 

development of a half hourly service would make the route significantly more attractive, especially for 

shorter trips between Stamford and Peterborough. The easiest way of delivering such a service would 

be to extend the existing Birmingham – Leicester service, also operated by Cross Country through to 

Peterborough. An alternative option that would expand the level of direct connectivity on the route would 

Page 81



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 60 
 

be to extend the existing two hourly service from Ipswich to Peterborough, operated by the Greater 

Anglia franchise to Leicester giving a direct link from Suffolk to the East Midlands. This service would 

require increasing to an hourly service to give a full half hourly service from Peterborough to Leicester. 

SUMMARY 

7.38 There are four routes of differing character in the south of Lincolnshire. Two of these routes provide 

important links across Lincolnshire providing services to towns such as Boston, Skegness, Sleaford and 

Spalding. These routes are characterised by low speeds, and variable frequencies making the routes 

less attractive.  

7.39 The other two routes provide a contrast, being part of longer distance strategic services which although 

not fast by the standards of long distance services, provide a high level of connectivity to a wide variety 

of locations. However the penalty for the good links is overcrowding  as a single service attempts to 

provide both local and strategic functions.  

7.40 Whilst there is scope for improving all of the services in this group of routes, the most pressing issues 

relate to the Nottingham – Skegness and Sleaford – Peterborough routes, especially the latter, which 

requires changes to both frequencies and journey times to provide a more attractive service to users.       

 

Page 82



JMP Consultants Ltd 

61 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

8 Northern Lincolnshire 

8.1 The rail network in Northern Lincolnshire serves the major towns of Scunthorpe, Grimsby and 

Cleethorpes, as well as Barnetby for Humberside Airport, and Barton-on-Humber. The rail network in the 

area is relatively isolated from the rest of the Lincolnshire rail network being operationally focussed on 

Yorkshire rather than the East Midlands. The only link to the rest of Lincolnshire being via the Grimsby - 

Lincoln service, discussed in Chapter 6. Although there are only two main service groups the service in 

the area are provided by two operators, Northern and Trans Pennine Express.  

Figure 8.1  Lincolnshire: Northern Lincolnshire Routes 

 

 

8.2 Service levels in the area have, like much of Lincolnshire, been static for many years, with the structure 

of the timetable dating back to privatisation. The main change has been investment as part of the Trans 

Pennine Express franchise which has brought modern Class 185 Desiro trains to the area.      

SOUTH HUMBER MAINLINE 

8.3 The South Humber Mainline runs from Doncaster to Cleethorpes through Scunthorpe, Barnetby and 

Grimsby. Whilst the route is principally a freight route linking the Port of Immingham & Grimsby with the 

Yorkshire area and providing a link to the ECML at Doncaster, the line is also the main passenger route 

from North East and North Lincolnshire to the rest of the national rail network. Services on the route are 

characterised by comparatively low frequencies and poor journey times.  

8.4 There are two contrasting passenger services operating on this route. The first is operated by TPE and 

is an hourly service running from Cleethorpes to Manchester Airport, running via Doncaster and 

Page 83



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 62 
 

Sheffield. All services call at Grimsby, Barnetby and Scunthorpe with selected services also calling at 

Habrough and certain peak services calling at intermediate stations between Scunthorpe and 

Doncaster. Typical journey times from Cleethorpes to Doncaster are around one hour 12 minutes, with 

the journey to Manchester Airport taking 3 hours.  

8.5 The route is however of economic importance to the development of the area. Work conducted by JMP 

Consultants in 2014 to look at the value of the existing service estimated that the direct service from 

Cleethorpes to Manchester Airport in its current form is worth around £68M per annum to the local 

economy. Reducing journey times by around 10 minutes between Cleethorpes and Doncaster was 

found to bring an additional £5M per annum benefit. 

8.6 The second passenger service is that from Scunthorpe to Sheffield operated by Northern. This service 

runs hourly throughout the day and calls at all intermediate stations. This gives a journey time of one 

hour 20 minutes from Scunthorpe to Sheffield and 40 minutes from Scunthorpe to Doncaster, 10 

minutes longer than the TPE service. Eastbound the two services in combination leave Sheffield at 30 

minute intervals; however the westbound service from Scunthorpe operates with two trains in 11 minutes 

followed by a 49 minute gap. In effect this makes the service from Scunthorpe to Sheffield hourly as few 

passengers will be likely to use the stopping service with a longer journey time when a faster service 

operates so closely ahead of it. 

8.7 Track capacity on the route is high to accommodate freight traffic, although between Grimsby and 

Cleethorpes, where only passenger services operate, the route is reduced to single track. Signalling on 

the route is mixed although there are a significant number of manual signal boxes especially in the 

Barnetby area which will be abolished in late 2015 as part of the North Lincolnshire Re-signalling 

Scheme.  

8.8 Line speeds are not high with a ruling speed of 55 mph, which is the cause of the significant journey 

times to Doncaster from Cleethorpes. An improvement in line speeds would bring considerable benefits 

to the operation of the passenger service, and would also bring some benefits to freight traffic, as 

container trains and other types of train, when running empty, can operate at up to 75 mph.   

8.9 As the route is served by services operating on a single corridor, connections with other routes are 

important, especially at Doncaster. At the present time the timetable is arranged such that there are 

unattractively long connection times at Doncaster for Leeds and York, limiting the attractiveness of travel 

by rail to these destinations and potentially impacting on the economy.   

8.10 The Network Rail Regional Market Study (2013) provides evidence on the usage of the existing services 

based on data for 2012. This includes information on trips to Sheffield and to Grimsby. 

Table 8.1  Passenger Flows and Station Usage: South Humber Mainline 

Station ORR Station Usage Sheffield Grimsby 

Doncaster 3,884,000 N/A 21,000 

Crowle 34,000 2,000 2,000 

Althorpe 9,000 0 0 

Scunthorpe 395,000 39,000 34,000 

Barnetby 69,000 5,000 7,000 

Habrough 33,000 1,000 11,000 

Grimsby Town 447,000 31,000 N/A 

Cleethorpes 265,000 34,000 37,000 

 

Page 84



JMP Consultants Ltd 

63 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

8.11 The table shows some interesting patterns of demand, for example it is interesting to note that Grimsby 

and Cleethorpes each generate nearly as many trips to Sheffield as Scunthorpe despite Scunthorpe 

being much closer to Sheffield and having two trains per hour.  In both cases car has a very similar 

journey time to rail, however at Scunthorpe frequency may be of more importance and the existing 

pattern of services is such that the frequency is essentially hourly due to the clustering of services. The 

station at Barnetby has an important role to play in providing interchange to Humberside Airport, a role 

that may develop further as the Airport grows. This is hinted at by the comparatively high proportion of 

trips to Sheffield relative to Grimsby. 

8.12 As Grimsby and Scunthorpe have similar populations and Grimsby is further from the urban centres of 

South Yorkshire it is possible that Scunthorpe is underperforming as it has fewer users than Grimsby 

Town, indicating there may be the potential for growth.   

8.13 In the short term it may be beneficial to develop the Cleethorpes – Manchester Airport service as a 

branded Airport service, as it serves both Manchester Airport and Humberside Airport. This would be 

useful for developing greater awareness of Humberside Airport and sustainable access to it, benefitting 

both the rail operator through increased use of rail to access the Airport, and the Airport through 

increased patronage. However to deliver this there is a need to improve linkages between the Airport 

and Barnetby station.  At the present time the bus link from Humberside Airport to Hull misses out 

Barnetby entirely, apart from one service per day in each direction, meaning that there is no direct bus 

link. Therefore a taxi trip is required for the final part of the journey. As demand for the Airport increases 

it would appropriate to examine the case for a dedicated bus service connecting into and out of rail 

services at Barnetby. This accompanied by improvements to passenger facilities at Barnetby would 

serve to increase the attractiveness of using rail to access the Airport. In the longer term there are 

aspirations for the development of a station closer to the Airport. This however would be dependent on 

future growth of the Airport.   

Developing Services 

8.14 There are a number of potential options for developing services on the South Humber Mainline. Both 

services on the route are affected by the refranchising of both Northern and Trans Pennine Express from 

2016; however the service specifications for the route do not indicate any substantial changes to the 

existing service pattern. The main improvements to services can be summarised as follows: 

Potential Improvements 

 Reduction in journey times between Doncaster and Cleethorpes 

 Restructure of  the existing timetable to provide a half hourly service from Scunthorpe to 

Doncaster 

 Introduction of a half hourly Cleethorpes – Manchester service 

 Ensuring there is sufficient capacity in summer for seasonal trips to Cleethorpes 

 

8.15 It is likely that reductions in journey times will be delivered during Control Period 5 as part of renewals to 

both the signalling on the route and track renewals. Indeed steps towards re-signalling are already 

taking place with an upgrade planned over the 2015-16 between Scunthorpe and Ulceby Junction. As 

described above a journey time reduction of 10 minutes along the length of the route would bring 

benefits of around £5M per annum.   

8.16 Redrafting the timetable to provide a half hourly service from Scunthorpe to Doncaster may be possible 

if additional services were terminated at Doncaster rather than operating to Sheffield, as many of the 

timetabling constraints, especially crossing the East Coast Mainline at Doncaster would be removed. 

Whilst ideally services would continue to Sheffield, termination at Doncaster may not have a severe 

Page 85



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 64 
 

impact on demand as the vast majority of existing passengers would use the Trans Pennine Express 

service rather than the Northern Rail service as the former is quicker and heading southbound departs 

from Scunthorpe only 10 minutes ahead of the stopping service. Work by JMP Consultants in 2014 

suggested that the benefits of a half hourly service from Scunthorpe might be as high as £1.7M per 

annum.  

8.17 In the medium to long term the development of a half hourly service between Cleethorpes and 

Manchester would be beneficial. Modelling carried out by JMP Consultants in 2014 suggested that there 

would be benefits of up to £4.6M per annum to the economies of North Lincolnshire and North East 

Lincolnshire from such a change. Delivering such service would however be resource intensive, and 

would raise capacity issues particularly between Sheffield and Manchester as other services compete 

for available capacity. It may therefore be necessary to deliver such a service in an incremental way with 

a half hourly service between Cleethorpes and Doncaster being developed first, followed by incremental 

steps westwards. An alternative option of operating a service from the South Humber Mainline to other 

locations is unlikely to be viable due to a lack of capacity on routes northwards from Doncaster to Leeds 

and York. 

8.18 Delivering sufficient capacity to the route in summer is a difficult issue with rolling stock resources being 

very tightly controlled. Releasing additional trains to operate to Cleethorpes in the summer season 

would mean removing a train from use elsewhere on the network which given broader overcrowding 

issues on the Trans Pennine network may not be feasible. A potential alternative solution to delivering 

extra capacity might be for Northern Rail to operate seasonal services for example during the school 

summer holidays on the route via Brigg. This option is described in more detail in the section covering 

that route.        

8.19 In the long term it may desirable to increase service frequencies between Scunthorpe and Doncaster to 

try and improve connectivity from the town to other locations. Operating direct services from Scunthorpe 

beyond Doncaster is operationally difficult, however a high frequency service, with a lower journey time 

would make best use of the excellent connectivity that Doncaster already has.   

CONNECTIVITY TO WEST YORKSHIRE & THE NORTH 

8.20 As described above the South Humber Bank has direct services to Sheffield and Manchester, however 

connectivity to West Yorkshire, York and the north is poorer, with interchange at Doncaster required. 

This is a limiting factor as the need to interchange introduces a potential source of unreliability to 

journeys whilst connection times impact on the frequency of journey opportunities.  

8.21 As timetables are seldom planned around connections journey times can be very variable with times 

varying by direction. A good example of this is the present service between Scunthorpe and Leeds 

where the journey to Leeds takes 1 hour 29 minutes and according to journey planners can only take 

place on an hourly basis, whilst in the return direction there are two opportunities to travel each hour 

with journey times between 1 hour 17 minutes and 1 hour 32 minutes. In practise shorter journeys to 

Leeds are possible by using an unadvertised connection at Doncaster. The situation for Barnetby, 

Grimsby and Cleethorpes is worse with only an hourly service making connections at Doncaster and 

relatively high connection times at Doncaster.   

8.22 The scope for making significant changes to the timetable is limited with the development of direct 

services to the north from the South Humber Bank unlikely due to capacity issues on the ECML and also 

the need to reverse at Doncaster which would involve a number of conflicting movements at an already 

constrained location.  The only options for direct services would be to utilise the Doncaster North Chord 

that provides a direct link from the South Humber Mainline to West Yorkshire via routes which are used 

for freight traffic, or alternatively using the Doncaster avoiding line to run from Hatfield & Stainforth to 

Adwick on the Doncaster – Leeds line. These routes are however relatively low speed and avoiding 

Doncaster would present a commercial risk for services.  

Page 86



JMP Consultants Ltd 

65 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

8.23 It is possible that a peak service could be developed to operate direct from Scunthorpe to Leeds via 

Hatfield & Stainforth, Adwick Junction and Wakefield Westgate. Such a service would test the viability of 

such services and would present opportunities for commuting and business trips, journey times would be 

around one hour.  

8.24 The most viable option for improvement is likely to be a focus on improved connections at Doncaster. 

Ideally steps could be taken to ensure that the timetable is reflective, in that journey times and 

frequencies are consistent in both directions as far as possible. Additionally the planning of services on 

the East Coast Mainline should take more account of the need for viable connections. The next 

opportunity to address this lies in the development of the next major East Coast Mainline timetable 

change in 2019 when Virgin Trains East Coast increase service levels. Retiming the Doncaster – 

Scunthorpe stopping service would also address this issue.      

Potential Improvements 

 Peak direct services from Scunthorpe to Leeds via Adwick and avoiding Doncaster 

 Improved connections at Doncaster for West Yorkshire and the north 

CLEETHORPES – BARTON-ON-HUMBER 

8.25 The Cleethorpes – Barton-on-Humber service is presently a very isolated part of the Northern Rail 

network. The service provides a local stopping service to a number of smaller station on the South 

Humber Mainline as well as the stations on the branch itself. From Barton-on-Humber interchange is 

possible with bus services across the Humber Bridge to Hull. The route is one of two in Greater 

Lincolnshire that has a Community Rail Partnership (CRP) in place and the route plays an important role 

in providing accessibility between Barton-on-Humber and Grimsby/Cleethorpes for those without access 

to a car. 

8.26 The existing weekday service on the line comprises a two hourly service calling at all stations from 

Cleethorpes to Barton-on-Humber operated by Northern. The service makes full use of the one train 

allocated to it making an increase in service levels difficult without a significant increase in resources 

and costs. The average speed of the service is very low at around 30mph. For journeys to and from Hull 

via the bus connection the total journey takes around one hour 25 minutes from Grimsby to Hull 

compared to a journey of 50 minutes by car. The reason for this journey time difference is a mixture of 

low line speeds and the high density of stops in the service. A competing bus service operated by 

Stagecoach, while slightly slower operates at an hourly frequency adds as a further detraction from the 

attractiveness of the line for connections to Hull, although this service does not serve the same 

intermediate settlements. 

8.27 A further complication is the timing of the connecting “Fast Cat” service to Hull, from Barton-on-Humber. 

Whilst connections from Hull are typically around 10 minutes the times of connections to Hull vary, with 

typically a 17 minute wait but at some times of the day a wait of half an hour, the latter occurring in the 

morning peak period. Such gaps and variability detract from using the route as a through link as well as 

issues relating to the unreliability of connections between the two services.   

8.28 The operation of the service is complicated by the isolation of the service from all other services 

operated by Northern. The services are crewed, under subcontract, by TPE staff based at Cleethorpes. 

Trains are provided by a solitary Doncaster – Grimsby service operated by Northern each day which 

swaps over the train that works the Barton branch. This situation is likely to change from 2017 when the 

Barton–on-Humber branch may be transferred from Northern to East Midlands Trains. At this point the 

service may become operationally more integrated with the Grimsby – Lincoln service.  

Page 87



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 66 
 

Potential Service Improvements 

8.29 There are a number of options for developing service on the Barton-on-Humber branch, some of these 

are incremental changes whilst others would involve significant expenditure. The following changes 

could be made to the service. 

Potential Improvements 

 Improved connections at Habrough with TPE services 

 Introduction of improved all year round Sunday service 

 Introduction of hourly service  

 Improved connections with Humber Fast Cat 

 

 

8.30 At the present time it is possible to make connections with TPE services at Habrough, however this 

typically requires either a 25 minute or 30 minute wait in each direction. Ideally this connection time 

would be lower to reduce journey times. However it would be important to ensure that the if the 

connection were reduced in one direction through the retiming of a service this did not in turn increase 

the journey time for services in the other direction. 

8.31 Improved Sunday services could be introduced at a relatively limited cost subject to the completion of 

resignalling works that would reduce the cost of operating the service.  

8.32 The introduction of an hourly service to the route would make the service a more viable alternative to car 

for local trips on the line. The cost of achieving this would be large as an additional train would have to 

be leased, however it would address the existing poor service frequency on the route. Such a service, 

operating at the same minutes past each hour throughout the day would make the service more 

attractive for through trips to Hull, if coupled with improved integration with the Humber “Fast Cat” bus 

timetable.  

CLEETHORPES – BRIGG – SHEFFIELD  

8.33 The Cleethorpes – Brigg – Sheffield service, operated by Northern Rail, presently only operates three 

times per day in each direction on Saturdays only as a ‘Parliamentary Service’ required to prevent 

closure proceedings taking place. The service provided represents the only service to use the stations at 

Gainsborough Central, Kirton Lindsey and Brigg. The service on this route has been in place for over 20 

years, after weekday services were withdrawn by Regional Railways in a round of cuts during 1992. The 

journey time from Sheffield to Cleethorpes via Brigg is slower than the route via Scunthorpe but serves 

the stations at Retford and Worksop.  

8.34 The routes present role is dominated by freight traffic, providing a route from Immingham to the East 

Midlands and South Yorkshire that does not require an at grade crossing of the ECML, as is required on 

either of the alternative routes via Newark or Doncaster. The route also has an important function as a 

diversionary route for both passenger and freight traffic when the South Humber Mainline is closed. The 

route was used extensively for this purpose during 2013 after a major landslide at Hatfield closed the 

South Humber mainline. The friends of the Brigg and Lincoln Lines hold aspiration for the development 

of a service operating six days per week.  

8.35 The case for developing further passenger services on the route is complex. The journey time from 

Sheffield to Cleethorpes is a little over two hours. Therefore to introduce even a two hourly service would 

require as a minimum two and potentially three additional trains, which would be a significant expense, 

for a service that would largely duplicate the existing Sheffield – Cleethorpes via Doncaster service. 

Page 88



JMP Consultants Ltd 

67 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

8.36 One potential role for the route may be to develop its role as a tourist route, for accessing Cleethorpes. 

The present service from Sheffield to Cleethorpes suffers from overcrowding in summer months. It is 

possible that weekday services could be developed during the summer months via Brigg to provide 

increased capacity and give Worksop and Retford a direct link to Cleethorpes. The resourcing of such a 

service would have to be achieved by utilising rolling stock that is spare in the off peak period in the 

Sheffield area. Whilst this may not be possible at the present time looking to the future increased 

capacity within the new Northern Rail franchise may provide some scope for delivering such a service.  

Summary 

8.37 The routes that serve Northern Lincolnshire are in many ways separate from other routes in 

Lincolnshire, tending to face towards South Yorkshire rather than the Midlands. However they do share 

similar characteristics with the rest of Lincolnshire with service frequencies being comparatively low and 

journey times also being low.  The area does enjoy a strategic link to and from Manchester Airport, 

which is of a high quality, and there are plans in place to reduce journey times through changes to 

signalling and track.        

Page 89



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 68 
 

9 The Role of Freight 

9.1 The rail network in Greater Lincolnshire, especially Northern Lincolnshire plays an important role in the 

UK rail freight network. Much of the area has benefitted from major investment in infrastructure to 

improve services such as the recent upgrade to the GN/GE Joint Line. The rail network also serves 

Immingham, the largest port by tonnage in the UK, which has for many years focussed on the shipment 

of bulk products. There are also a number of flows that are generated locally within Greater Lincolnshire.  

9.2 Whilst in many areas of the country passenger and freight movements have conflicted with each other 

when planning the use of scarce capacity, rail freight has enjoyed a symbiotic relationship with 

passenger services in Greater Lincolnshire where the strength of freight services have historically 

helped to support the continuance of passenger services. At the present time investment in the networks 

infrastructure primarily for freight traffic, most notably through the upgrade of the GN/GE Joint Line, also 

potentially benefits passenger traffic for example through increased line speeds.  

THE NORTH LINCOLNSHIRE PORTS 

9.3 The largest single generator of freight traffic in Greater Lincolnshire is the Port of Immingham & Grimsby 

on the South Bank of the Humber Estuary. This port was developed largely by the Great Central Railway 

in the early years of the twentieth century, and as such has always been very rail focussed.  

9.4 Immingham is the largest Port in Britain by tonnage moved, and much of this is moved by rail, indeed 

25% of the UK’s rail freight uses the route to and from the South Humber Ports. The port has specialised 

in the import of coal and iron ore in recent years, the latter for the steelworks at Scunthorpe. The port 

also supplies a number of oil refineries and chemical works in the area around it, which in turn generate 

their own rail freight movements, although the movement of petroleum products has declined in recent 

decades as pipelines have replaced rail for bulk movements.   

9.5 The movement of coal traffic is likely to decline in coming years as the number of coal fired power 

stations declines, at the present time the port serves power stations at Cottam, Ratcliffe, Eggborough, 

Drax, Rugeley. Coal traffic is however being replaced with biomass traffic with a flow having already 

been developed from Immingham to Drax Power Station.  

9.6 There are a small number of finished steel flows to and from Immingham from destinations as diverse as 

Scunthorpe, Wolverhampton and Llanwern.  

9.7 Oil flows from Immingham originate at either the Humber or Lindsey refineries, close to the Immingham 

port complex. Although services have been in decline for a number of years,  a diverse range of 

destinations are served including Jarrow, Rectory (near Nottingham), Preston Docks, Kingsbury (near 

Tamworth), Colnbrook (near Heathrow), and Westerleigh (near Bristol).  

9.8 All freight traffic from Immingham uses the South Humber Mainline as far as Barnetby, this is the busiest 

section of the rail network in the UK for freight traffic. At Immingham traffic take one of three routes 

towards Scunthorpe, Brigg or Lincoln.   Much of the traffic towards Scunthorpe is coal or iron ore traffic, 

the route towards Brigg is also dominated by coal and biomass traffic, whilst the line to Lincoln is a 

mixture of coal traffic for Radcliffe Power Station and oil traffic heading towards the Midlands and 

beyond.  

9.9 Looking to the future rail freight around Immingham will benefit from two investments taking place 

simultaneously. The first is the re-signalling of the route from Scunthorpe to Immingham which will 

deliver additional capacity, and potentially contribute to line speed improvements. This £80M scheme 

will transfer control from a large number of annual signal boxes to Network Rail’s new control centre in 

York.   

Page 90



JMP Consultants Ltd 

69 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

9.10 The second investment funded and led by North Lincolnshire Council and the Humber LEP is gauge 

enhancement of the route from Doncaster to Immingham which will allow the development of container 

traffic from Immingham which uses larger 9’ 6” containers. This will help the port to maintain its 

competitiveness as a container and intermodal traffic becomes more important and bulk products 

decline.  

FREIGHT TRAFFIC GENERATED IN GREATER LINCOLNSHIRE 

9.11 Rail freight traffic is generated from a small number of locations within Greater Lincolnshire. The largest 

of these is the steelworks at Scunthorpe which in addition to the flows of raw materials arriving from 

Immingham also generates a number of flows of finished products, and transhipments between other 

steelworks in the UK. At the present time there are flows to Aldwarke (Rotherham), Goole Docks, 

Lackenby (Teesside), and Wolverhampton. The frequency of these flows varies depending on 

commercial requirements with some flows operating on a daily basis and others on a “as required” basis. 

9.12 Other flows in the Scunthorpe area include the movement of refuge for landfill from the Greater 

Manchester area to a site near Scunthorpe at Roxby Gullet.  

9.13 Within Lincolnshire itself the only regular flow of traffic serving the area is a flow of imported steel that 

operates from Boston Docks to Washwood Heath (Birmingham).  

9.14 As part of the Local Growth Fund there are plans to develop a 60 hectare Rail Freight Hub at Deeping 

Fen near Spalding to support the growth of food processing activity in the area.  

FLOWS PASSING THROUGH LINCOLNSHIRE 

9.15 In addition to the freight flows that originate at Immingham that pass through Lincolnshire there are a 

number of other flows that pass through the county. The most important of these are flows on the 

GN/GE Joint Line between Peterborough and Doncaster via Sleaford and Lincoln that has recently 

enjoyed a £280M upgrade. The rationale for this improvement is the need to remove freight traffic from 

the East Coast mainline between Peterborough and Doncaster to provide capacity for additional 

passenger services.  To achieve this the Joint Line route has been resignalled to facilitate all week 

opening, and has seen substantial track upgrades to increase the ruling line speed to 75mph, fast 

enough to allow the operation of container trains at their maximum permissible speed.  

9.16 Although the upgraded route has only recently been completed a number of services have already been 

diverted including a number of heavy freight trains as well as some container trains running from 

Felixstowe to the north of England. These flows may well increase over time as daytime freight paths on 

the ECML become less attractive as passenger services are enhanced and freight paths become 

slower. The proposed scheme to provide grade separation at Werrington Junction (north of 

Peterborough) will further enhance the attractiveness of the Joint Line to freight operators as existing 

issues with conflicting movements at Peterborough to access the Joint Line will be removed, where 

presently freight travelling from East Anglia has to cross the ECML on the level which is time consuming 

and absorbs available capacity for passenger and freight traffic alike.    

SUMMARY 

9.17 Overall freight traffic is of critical importance to the rail network in Greater Lincolnshire and is growing 

through the diversion of more services away from the ECML. In the north of the Greater Lincolnshire 

area rail freight also provides an important support to the local economy through the steelworks at 

Scunthorpe and the Port of Immingham. Whilst rail freight traffic is entirely commercial there has been, 

and continues to be, significant investment in infrastructure to support its development.  

Page 91



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 70 
 

10 Developing the Network 

10.1 The preceding chapters described the existing situation on rail routes in Greater Lincolnshire and 

identified the economic benefits that could be gained from developing these routes further.  This chapter 

sets out an approach for delivering schemes that would help the rail network deliver its full potential to 

the economy of Greater Lincolnshire - fulfilling its role in business, commuter and leisure markets and 

providing a sustainable transport system.  

10.2 The following sections group the interventions into categories and provide indicative costs for them, 

culminating in a list of schemes for development. It is important to note the level of inter linkage between 

schemes as these may support different options for the strategy in future years. Many of the 

enhancements will support the delivery of the benefits identified in the economic modelling chapters of 

this report but in identifying priorities for delivery we have taken recognition of any tradeoffs between the 

benefits a scheme brings and the feasibility of its delivery.  

NETWORK WIDE IMPROVMENTS 

10.3 In addition to the route specific improvements identified in the preceding chapter there are a number of 

network wide improvements that could be applied across the rail network in Greater Lincolnshire. These 

are described below. 

Timetabling 

10.4 As we have already described the rail network within Greater Lincolnshire is comparatively isolated from 

the rest of the national rail network. Whilst this isolation creates some issues around developing 

services, it also presents an opportunity. To try and develop a more cohesive network at minimum cost a 

timetable could be developed that maximises the connectivity between services. Both Lincoln and 

Sleaford are hubs in the Greater Lincolnshire network and a timetable could be developed that 

maximises the opportunities for connections by ensuring that services on all routes converge at the 

same time, allowing interchange between all services before departing again. These could feed into 

strategic services such as those to Nottingham and London.   

10.5 The development of such a timetable would contribute to reducing journey times across Greater 

Lincolnshire, helping increase use of services, and making rail more attractive for tourism visitors. At 

Lincoln such a plan could potentially be integrated with the planned Transport Hub so that key bus 

services to other parts of Greater Lincolnshire not served by rail could be integrated into the timetable. 

10.6 Even allowing for the freestanding nature of the Greater Lincolnshire rail network implementing such a 

timetable may take time especially where incremental changes are needed to introduce new services to 

fill gaps in the existing timetable, for example between Lincoln and Sleaford. The East Midlands Trains 

franchise renewal process presents the opportunity to explore this issue further.     

Rolling Stock 

10.7 Much of the existing rolling stock used across Lincolnshire by all operators is now approaching 25 years 

old. The main exceptions to this are the Class 185 trains used by Trans Pennine Express on the 

Manchester – Cleethorpes service.  

10.8 Rolling stock operated by Northern Rail is going to be subject to significant change in the coming years 

after the franchise is re-let, including a commitment to withdraw all Pacer trains by 2020. There are 

however no plans at the present time for changes to the East Midlands Train fleet. This fleet is largely 

composed of older British Rail built Sprinter trains. Whilst the operator has been successful at 

Page 92



JMP Consultants Ltd 

71 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

refurbishing this fleet, particularly the Class 158 units, there is an ongoing issue about the suitability of 

many of these trains, especially the Class 153 and 156 vehicles, for the needs of modern passengers. 

These latter classes are used on a number of the more strategic longer distance services such as 

Lincoln – Nottingham and Skegness – Nottingham. Looking to the future there is a need to operate more 

suitable stock with better passenger amenities, such as air conditioning, wi-fi and power sockets, at the 

very least on longer distance services.  

10.9 The refranchising of East Midlands Trains in 2017 presents the opportunity to address these issues. The 

outcome of the Northern Rail franchise which presents a commitment to ordering 120 carriages that are 

capable of operation on non electrified lines may provide an indication of the scope for rolling stock 

renewal in the next East Midlands Trains franchise and would provide a basis for lobbying for new trains 

in the next franchise.  

Line Speeds 

10.10 To provide improved journey times across the network there is a need to work with Network Rail and 

train operators on the issue of line speeds. Whilst it would be desirable for line speeds to be improved 

as soon as possible the volume of work required and the need to deliver it in a cost effective manner 

means that that the work would probably be delivered over several years. The most appropriate 

approach to prioritising work in a cost effective way is to work with Network Rail to ensure that: 

 When re-signalling works take place the spacing of signals is planned to provide passive provision 

for higher line speeds  

 When track renewal work takes place the opportunity is taken to carry out work to increase line 

speeds. 

10.11 The approach set out would deliver a progressive series of enhancements that would collectively make 

useful inroads to journey times. It will also help to deliver outcomes in a cost effective manner, the 

approach has been taken elsewhere for example in the delivery of the South Humber Gauge 

Enhancement Scheme where some works have been planned to take place as part of broader 

maintenance and renewals work, and disruptive works have been planned to take place at the same 

time as other disruptive works such as the North Lincolnshire re-signalling scheme. Delivery of line 

speed enhancements is something that would fall outside the scope of franchise renewal, however the 

franchise renewal consultation process would present a useful forum to explore the issue further.  

Electrification 

10.12 At the present time no part of the rail network in Greater Lincolnshire is electrified (apart from the 

ECML). Historically this has not been a major issue, as much of the rest of the network in the East 

Midlands and Yorkshire is also not electrified. Looking to the future however the lack of electrification 

may limit the ability to develop services. A good example of this is the Lincoln – London service, which 

when introduced at a two hourly frequency from 2019 will utilise bi-mode IEP trains which will operate as 

an electric train from London to Newark and a diesel train to Lincoln. However were the service to be 

increased further to hourly it is likely that the operator would need the route to be electrified as there 

may be insufficient bi-mode trains to operate an hourly service. Furthermore bi-mode trains are unlikely 

to have the acceleration in diesel mode that they will have in electric mode and there could therefore be 

timetabling benefits from electrification.  

10.13 Other benefits of electrification include lower operating costs, reducing the need for subsidy of services, 

and greater reliability. Electrification of other parts of the network would threaten the development of 

new services and the retention of existing strategic links. For example if the route from Manchester to 

Sheffield were electrified then there would be an implied threat to the future of the Manchester – 

Cleethorpes service, as the business case for electrification between Manchester and Sheffield would 

hinge on the conversion of as many services as possible to electric traction. A similar situation would 

Page 93



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 72 
 

apply to the future development of services from Lincoln to Birmingham if the Birmingham – Derby route 

were electrified.  

10.14 There is therefore a need to investigate the case for electrification of routes into Greater Lincolnshire. 

Many of the routes will be difficult to justify due to their comparatively sparse service. Equally those 

routes would not be impacted by electrification elsewhere to the same extent. The two main routes that 

might justify electrification would be the Nottingham – Lincoln route which with a relatively high density of 

services could present a positive case. The second route is that from Doncaster to Cleethorpes. The 

case for this would be more complex with a relatively low frequency service operating over a long 

distance. It is likely that electrification of this route would in large part be dependent on the use of 

electric traction by freight operators. Additionally there may be a case for electrification of the GN/GE 

Joint line in the long term if the benefits to freight traffic were included within the assessment, this point 

also applies to the Doncaster – Cleethorpes route.   

10.15 The Northern Sparks report completed in Spring 2015 identified the route from Doncaster to Cleethorpes 

as a ‘Tier 3 Scheme’, which meant it would be towards the end of a rolling programme of electrification. 

Whilst it would be sensible to leave electrification of the route until after other key routes including 

Doncaster – Sheffield - Manchester are completed, the low score achieved by the Doncaster – 

Cleethorpes route was based on the route being electrified in isolation from other routes, and 

consequently the benefits were limited. Had it been treated as an incremental extension, following the 

electrification of the Hope Valley line the case may well have been different, especially as the renewed 

commitment to direct South Humber – Manchester services in the latest TPE franchise specification 

means that the full benefits of electrification from Sheffield to Manchester could not be realised without 

electrifying Cleethorpes – Doncaster.    

10.16 It is possible that over time the costs of electrification may fall, whilst the operational benefits will 

increase as more of the network is electrified and the operating costs of diesel services increase. In the 

case of Greater Lincolnshire the case is helped by the comparatively simple nature of electrification 

across the area with relatively few tunnels or over bridges to complicate the engineering.  

Interchanges and Ticketing 

10.17 Whilst the rail network serves many of the key settlements across the Greater Lincolnshire area there 

are a number of areas of the county that are not rail served and there is the opportunity to develop a 

series of bus rail interchanges to maximise the benefits of both bus and rail services. A good example of 

this is the scheme presently being developed for a Transport Hub in the centre of Lincoln combining bus 

and rail facilities. The development of a series of similar hubs at key locations across the Greater 

Lincolnshire area would act to improve integration between modes and introduce a broader range of 

journey opportunities.  The benefits could be maximised if timetables between services were integrated, 

building on the ideas described above. This would be especially useful for providing north south links in 

the east of the county for example between Skegness and Cleethorpes via Mablethorpe.  

10.18 Looking to the future an integrated approach to smart ticketing might further serve to make travelling by 

public transport more attractive. Smart ticketing could provide combined rail and bus tickets across the 

whole area. This could build on work carried out elsewhere in the country for example through the 

introduction of MCard smart ticketing in West Yorkshire and “The Key” on services operated by Southern 

Railway and Brighton & Hove buses. More locally East Midlands Trains already have a Smartcard 

system in use at stations on the Midland Mainline. This system could be extended further to include 

Lincolnshire. This latter issue could be pursued as part of the next East Midlands Trains franchise.  

10.19 In areas covered by the Northern Rail franchise the “Smart in the North” programme being developed by 

Rail North and DfT will seek to deliver smart ticketing during the next franchise, starting April 2016.    

Page 94



JMP Consultants Ltd 

73 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Stations 

10.20 The Greater Lincolnshire area has a wide variety of stations with a varying quality of facilities. Over time 

there is a need to maintain and develop these facilities to meet passengers’ expectations. Within the 

specification of the new Northern Franchise is a requirement to develop a Social and Commercial 

Development Plan, part of which seeks to develop redundant or underutilised buildings for use for either 

community or commercial purposes. Such an approach could logically be extended to include stations 

managed as part of the East Midlands Trains franchise when that is re-franchised. Such investment 

would not just act as a catalyst for improvements benefiting both passengers and rail operators alike, but 

would also help support the adjacent local communities. An approach like this would be especially 

applicable across Greater Lincolnshire where there are many rural stations particularly if linked to the 

development of smaller transport hubs providing integration into local bus services. 

10.21 The Greater Lincolnshire LEP should seek an identified fund for stations in Greater Lincolnshire as part 

of the next EMT franchise to ensure that stations receive appropriate levels of investment. This could be 

supported by developer contributions in areas where housing or employment development is taking 

place close to the stations.          

Community Rail Fund 

10.22 Two of the routes in Greater Lincolnshire benefit from the existence of Community Rail Partnerships 

(CRPs) that have helped the routes to develop. CRPs play an important role on the routes they serve in 

terms of promoting lines and developing local initiatives, as well as lobbying operators for improvements 

to services.  

10.23 Whilst they have achieved a lot they have been constrained by the relatively limited funding available. 

An initiative in the Northern franchise specification has been to provide an increased fund of £0.5M per 

annum for CRPs. A similar initiative as part of the next East Midlands Trains franchise would help to 

develop the activities of CRP’s further, and would provide a budget for the grass roots promotion of any 

service enhancements that are implemented. There is a need therefore to lobby for the inclusion of such 

fund at the consultation stage of the franchising process.  

COMMITTED & DELIVERED SCHEMES 

10.24 There are already a number of schemes and improvements that have either already been delivered or 

are in the process of delivery. It is useful to summarise these to clearly identify what improvements are 

coming forward. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 74 
 

Table 10.1  Committed Schemes 

 Schemes 

 Lincoln – London two Hourly service (from 2019) 

 Peterborough – Doncaster GN/GE Joint Line Upgrade including higher line speeds, resignalling 

and extended opening hours. 

 Scunthorpe – Immingham resignalling scheme, bringing increased capacity and line speed 

improvements 

 South Humber Gauge enhancement – gauge clearance Doncaster - Immingham to accommodate 

9’ 6” containers 

 Lincoln – Newark – Nottingham service enhancements (implemented from May 2015) 

 Lincoln – Sheffield journey time reductions as part of new Northern franchise 

 Replacement of Pacer trains and major refurbishment of other rolling stock operated by Northern 

by 2020. 

 Transfer of Barton-on-Humber branch to East Midlands Trains from 2017 

 Dive under at Werrington Junction to open in Autumn 2020 

10.25 By recent standards the railways in the Greater Lincolnshire area are receiving relatively high levels of 

investment. A number of the schemes identified above will work towards addressing existing issues with 

passenger services and contribute towards realising their potential economic benefits.  This especially 

applies to the delivery of improvements in services between Lincoln and Nottingham, Lincoln and 

London and the improvements to services between Lincoln and Sheffield.   

10.26 These improvements should be seen as important stepping stones towards delivering further larger 

improvements that would realise the full benefits identified within Section 4 of this report. The 

introduction of these schemes will demonstrate the benefits of improvements and provide greater 

confidence about the case for further investment in the medium to long term.     

INCREMENTAL IMPROVEMENT SCHEMES 

10.27 There is a range of incremental improvements that could be delivered relatively quickly, often but not 

always as part of a new franchise agreement. These schemes largely relate to small scale changes to 

stations and timetables, and could therefore be requested from franchise bidders or alternatively be 

negotiated with the existing operator. The consultation process that will precede the refranchising of the 

East Midlands Trains franchise would present an opportunity to take these improvements forward.  

10.28 The table below presents a group of incremental schemes, and provides indicative costs for their 

implementation. These costs have been estimated at a high level from previous work where JMP has  

looked at similar schemes.  

10.29 All of these improvements are of a similar level of priority as they all make contributions to improving the 

quality of the rail network. The recent Invitation to Tender for the Northern franchise would tend to 

indicate that all of these improvements could well fall within the remit of new franchises - this certainly 

applies to Sunday services where the new Northern Rail timetable specification requires franchise 

bidders to make substantial improvements.  

10.30 In addition to funding requirements the table below also identifies any other factors that may be a 

constraint to introducing the scheme. 

 

 

Page 96



JMP Consultants Ltd 

75 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Table 10.2  Potential Incremental Improvement Schemes 

Improvement 
Indicative 

Cost 
Notes/Other Constraints 

All year round and all day Sunday 
services including on routes that 
presently have no Sunday service 

£500k-£1M pa Assumes no addition rolling stock needed, additional costs are 
crew, fuel and variable track access charge. Costs sensitive to 
service level specified 

Upgrade Lincoln – Sheffield to 
“Northern Regional” service 

£500k pa Additional leasing costs of using new trains on hourly Sheffield 
– Lincoln service requiring three 2 car trains. Service already 
likely to be sped up as part of new Northern franchise 

Improvements to stations and 
introduction of a Community Rail 
Development Fund 

£100k per 
annum 

Develop a fund from train operators (as specified in the 
Northern franchise) to support community rail. The estimate 
here is based on the two CRPs in Greater Lincolnshire, plus 
an allowance for other stations and initiatives 

Journey time improvements on the 
Joint Line taking advantage of line 
speed improvements 

Nil Partially delivered as part of May 2015 timetable change 
which may have some timetabling implications 

Improved Scunthorpe – Doncaster 
timetable to better utilise frequency 

Nil This is subject to pathing issues especially around Doncaster 
where the existing service crosses the ECML 

Improved connections between 
Barton-on-Humber branch and TPE 
Services at Habrough 

Nil Subject to timetabling issues, this should be lobbied for as 
part of any forthcoming timetable recasts.  

10.31 It can be seen that three of the schemes have no additional costs associated with them, being issues 

where lobbying may be required to ensure that the best use is made of any opportunities that arises as a 

result of the introduction of new timetables. The other three options all have costs associated with them, 

the most substantial relating to the introduction of more Sunday services. The level of costs for Sunday 

services would be very sensitive to the exact specification of services.  

10.32 More certainty surrounds the upgrading of the Lincoln – Sheffield service to a “Northern Regional” 

service. This would build on the implied commitment to speed up Lincoln – Sheffield services in the new 

Northern Rail franchise. The additional costs associated with this would involve the allocation of higher 

quality rolling stock to the route, potentially some of the new build of trains that are committed as part of 

the next franchise, or heavily refurbished trains.  

10.33 The level of funding for a Community Rail fund is based, pro rata, on the commitment made in the 

Northern Rail franchise ITT, but with an additional allowance for the routes in Lincolnshire that have 

Community Rail characteristics but have not been classified as such.   

10.34 It should be remembered that all of the options presented here will increase revenue and therefore the 

net costs of support will be lower than shown in these tables. 

SERVICE CHANGES WITHIN EXISTING INFRASTRUCTURE 

10.35 There are a further group of service changes that could be delivered without major changes to 

infrastructure. These are mainly service enhancements, and would be dependent on the availability of 

additional rolling stock, but some include minor infrastructure changes. The availability of rolling stock is 

only likely to be forthcoming as part of the next franchise agreement, largely related to the East Midlands 

Trains franchise, although potentially also the Cross Country franchise.  

10.36 As with the previous group of schemes JMP has prepared indicative costs based on experience from 

other similar projects. However it is possible that if a number of service enhancements are delivered 

together the total costs might reduce as operational cost efficiencies can sometimes be generated when 

several new services are introduced  - for example through more efficient rostering of rolling stock and 

train crew.  

Page 97



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 76 
 

10.37 The enhancements are presented in two groups. The first examines those that could be prioritised as 

part of the East Midlands Trains franchise renewal, and which are estimated to deliver a high economic 

impact based on the modelling results presented in chapter 4. The second group have been identified as 

priorities not linked directly to the EMT franchise. These are presented in order of importance for 

development.  

 

10.38 These schemes would be likely to require both a detailed operational and commercial assessment to 

validate them and to better understand the costs and revenues associated with them. The table presents 

indicative costs and notes any constraints associated with delivery. 

Table 10.3  Potential Service Improvements Linked to East Midlands Trains Franchise 

Improvement Indicative Cost Notes/Constraints 

Development of hourly Lincoln – 
Birmingham service operated either 
by Cross Country or EMT. Depending 
on the commercial case this service 
may be additional to the existing 
service 

£3M per annum This assumes than an additional service is operated 
rather than amalgamating two services. £3M is based on 
a requirement for up to three additional trains to operate 
the service.  

Clockface  Half hourly Lincoln – 
Newark service 

Nil Plan on the basis on re-timetabling without additional 
resources. New Lincoln – London service may assist with 
this by providing a two hourly Newark Northgate – Lincoln 
service 

Extension of Newark – Grimsby 
service to Cleethorpes and 
introduction of two hourly service, 
rising to hourly. Also introduce 
journey time improvements subject to 
infrastructure improvements 

£1M per annum Cost based on continued use of Class 153 units and 
introduction of two hourly service. This may be assisted by 
any Lincoln – Newark service resources released through 
replacement by Lincoln – London services 

Two hourly clockface Lincoln – 
Doncaster service, operating all day, 
rising to hourly if RHADs station 
opened 

£1M per annum Cost based on continued use of Class 153 units, and the 
introduction of a two hourly service. 

All day hourly service between 
Sleaford and Lincoln  

£0.5M per 
annum 

Costs based on additional movement costs, but assumes 
that there is no need to lease additional rolling stock 

Hourly Sleaford – Peterborough 
service operating all day with 
potential for peak additional services 
between Spalding and Peterborough 

£0.5M per 
annum 

Costs based on additional movement costs, but assumes 
that there is no need to lease additional rolling stock 

Development of an integrated 
timetable maximising connectivity 
across Lincolnshire, thorough 
interchange at key nodes such as 
Lincoln and Sleaford 

Nil It is assumed that there will be no additional costs 
associated with this proposal; additional services specified 
above would provide sufficient resource to deliver this. 

10.39 The costs presented are all revenue costs which, as a minimum, would require a pump priming initiative 

to fund them until additional revenue from passengers was sufficient to support services. 

10.40 It can be seen that the improvement with the highest priority, introducing direct services from Lincoln to 

Birmingham, also has the highest costs associated with it due to the need to lease and operate 

additional trains for the service. However such a service would also be likely to generate the greatest 

level of demand, helping offset the costs, not just between Lincoln and the West Midlands, but also by 

improving the service offer between Lincoln and Nottingham.  

10.41 The other options which would increase operating costs would bring a step change in service levels on a 

number of routes and help to make these services more attractive. The options with no cost associated 

with them would add value to the other initiatives by enhancing the attractiveness of the services.   

Page 98



JMP Consultants Ltd 

77 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

Table 10.4  Service Improvements outside scope of next EMT franchise 

Improvement Indicative Cost Notes/Constraints 

Delivery of all existing commitments N/A Ensure that all existing commitments by TOCs and 
Network Rail to 2020 are delivered  

Development of Cleethorpes – 
Scunthorpe – London service  

£5M per annum This is based on the marginal operating and lease costs 
for the service whilst off the ECML. i.e. Doncaster - 
Cleethorpes 

Increase frequency to half hourly 
Doncaster - Cleethorpes 

£3M per annum Based on the assumption that three additional trains 
would be required to operate a Doncaster – Cleethorpes 
service 

Half hourly Peterborough – Leicester 
service either by extending existing 
Birmingham – Leicester service, or 
extending Ipswich – Peterborough 
service 

£2M per annum Assumes that two additional train would be required to 
operate the service 

Continued management of seasonal 
capacity constraints on services to 
Skegness and Cleethorpes. 

£0.25M Based on marginal operating costs of lengthened services 
in summer or limited additional service operating, 
assuming that no additional trains needed to be leased 

Enhanced rolling stock with 
improved passenger 
accommodation and capacity for 
Liverpool – Norwich and 
Birmingham – Stansted Airport 
services 

£5M per annum Based on upgrade of existing fleet and increase in train 
length from 3 to 4 car for Stansted services and 2 to 3 car 
for Norwich services. Benefits accrue mostly to areas 
outside Greater Lincolnshire 

Development of half hourly stopping 
service between Scunthorpe and 
Doncaster in addition to TPE service 

£1M per annum This assumes that one train is required to operate the 
service. There may be a potential commercial conflict with 
introducing a half hourly service to Cleethorpes 

Investigation of Grantham – 
Nottingham stopping service, 
initially at peak times potentially 
operating all day. 

£0.5M Assumes the lease of a Class 153 with the service only 
operating at peak times. 

 

10.42 It can be seen that the range of service improvements identified here generally have higher costs 

associated with them than the previous group of schemes, although the costs would be offset by 

increases in revenue lowering any requirement for support. However the absolute costs involved and the 

significant impact on capacity of these services would tend to suggest that these are more long term 

aspirations. The main exceptions to this are; 

 The improvements in the quality of rolling stock and increased capacity on Norwich – 

Liverpool and Stansted Airport – Birmingham services which are needed to help the 

service develop, and; 

 The development of a South Humber Bank – London service which would have 

significant economic benefits for the area, although realistically it is unlikely that such a 

service could be delivered before the end of the existing Virgin Trains East Coast 

franchise.    

TRANSFORMATIONAL SCHEMES 

10.43 There are a small number of schemes that could deliver a significant change in capacity and capability 

of the infrastructure. Some of these schemes have been assessed in the past, and some are still being 

considered by Network Rail. These schemes can be generally characterised as “big ticket” items, and in 

the Lincolnshire context are often linked to improvements that benefit the ECML as their primary 

justification but which would also bring benefits to Lincolnshire by unlocking opportunities for service 

development.  

Page 99



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 78 
 

10.44 There are also a number of smaller schemes which would be locally transformational, either by reducing 

journey times of existing services or by improving connectivity to the rail network through new stations. 

The costs for some of these schemes are very high level and have been identified based on the costs of 

similar schemes elsewhere in the country.  

Table 10.5  Potential Transformational Schemes 

Schemes Indicative Cost
37

 Notes/Constraints 

Grade separation of Newark Flat 
Crossing – increasing ECML capacity 
but also removing planning 
constraints on the Nottingham – 
Lincoln line 

Circa £100M  This scheme is complex and is likely to be 
driven by the needs of the ECML timetable 
rather than the Lincoln – Nottingham route. 

Significant line speed enhancements 
on key routes, notably Lincoln – 
Nottingham, Doncaster – Cleethorpes 
and Sheffield – Lincoln to reduce 
journey times 

£0.25M per mile Resignalling of routes is likely to be a 
prerequisite for this work due to the need 
to alter signal positions. Upgrade works 
could be phased as part of planned track 
renewal. Targeting core sections would 
yield the greatest benefit. 

Line speed increases Nottingham – 
Grantham – Sleaford – Skegness 

£0.25M per mile Resignalling of routes is likely to be a 
prerequisite for this work due to the need 
to alter signal positions. Upgrade works 
could be phased as part of planned track 
renewal. Targeting Grantham – Sleaford 
would yield the most benefit initially. 

Electrification of Nottingham – 
Lincoln and Doncaster – Cleethorpes 

Circa £150M This is dependent on linked routes such as 
Manchester – Sheffield – Doncaster being 
electrified. The benefits to freight traffic 
would also form part of the case. 

Development of stations at 
Littleworth and Robin Hood 
Doncaster Sheffield Airport 

£8M capital cost 
each 

Subject to development of business case 
and impact of external factors such as 
local population growth and air passenger 
growth at RHADS. 

 

10.45 Clearly the transformational schemes set out above represent major investments and would require 

significant planning. The timescales are not clear for the schemes but none could be delivered before 

Control Period 6 (2019-2024). It is possible that the introduction of the incremental enhancements and 

other service changes would help to pave the way for some of these transformational schemes by 

developing the rail market in Greater Lincolnshire. However it is likely that in the case of Newark Flat 

Crossing, it is the development of the East Coast Mainline that will determine if these enhancements are 

progressed. 

10.46 The opening of new stations is dependent on both the local justification for a station, for example 

population growth and supporting development, but also the level of service that operates which would 

determine the attractiveness of a station to potential passengers. Both new stations identified here are 

on routes where there is scope for improvement.  

10.47 The introduction of line speed increases which have been identified throughout this report as a necessity 

for improving and growing rail services across Greater Lincolnshire is something that would have to be 

phased over time. Given that line speed is in part determined by signal spacing and associated braking 

distances there is a need to consider the progress of Network Rail’s national re-signalling programme 

when planning line speed enhancements. In addition the most effective way to implement line speed 

                                                        

 

37
 Indicative costs based on comparisons with other similar previous schemes 

Page 100



JMP Consultants Ltd 

79 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

improvements would be to carry out track works as part of any planned renewals that are taking place in 

order to improve cost effectiveness.    

10.48 In all cases the schemes and service enhancements presented here would require more detailed 

discussions with TOC’s and Network Rail before proceeding further. 

PRIORITIES FOR DELIVERY 

10.49 Having identified a range of schemes and service improvements it is possible to identify a list of priorities 

for investment that should represent the key targets for developing services. These are options which 

are considered to deliver the most economic benefits but which are also realistic objectives for delivery 

in coming years. Most of them are focussed on the renewal of the East Midlands Trains franchise 

renewal which presents the next major opportunity to improve services. The following schemes have 

been identified: 

 Development of a direct service between Lincoln and Birmingham, either by amalgamating the 

Lincoln – Nottingham and Nottingham – Birmingham service or by introducing a new service 

(subject to business cases). 

 Frequency enhancements across the EMT Lincolnshire network to fill anomalous gaps in services, 

and provide a minimum of a two hourly service on routes that do not currently achieve this (Lincoln 

– Doncaster and Lincoln – Grimsby) and a minimum of an hourly service on other routes (Lincoln – 

Sleaford – Peterborough, Nottingham – Skegness and Lincoln – Nottingham). 

 Linked to the above, introduce regular clockface departures ultimately working towards the 

development of an integrated timetable to maximise connectivity across the network 

 Improve Sunday services by providing year round services on routes that do not presently have 

Sunday services and enhance Sunday services on other routes.  

 Develop the case for a South Humber Bank – London service and for improvements in connectivity 

from the South Humber bank to other key centres across the north. 

10.50 Linked to the priorities above that could be delivered by the new EMT franchise, there should also be a 

priority to work with Network Rail and train operators on the issue of line speeds. Whilst it would 

desirable for line speeds to be improved as soon as possible the volume of work required and the need 

to deliver it in a cost effective manner means that that is likely to be an ongoing programme over several 

years. The most appropriate approach to prioritising work in a cost effective way is to work with Network 

Rail to ensure that: 

 When re-signalling works take place the spacing of signals is planned to provide passive provision 

for higher line speeds.  

 When track renewal work takes place the opportunity is taken to carry out work to increase line 

speeds. 

10.51 The priorities set out above, if delivered, would represent a significant improvement in the quality of 

services offered by the rail network across Greater Lincolnshire and would provide a basis for longer 

term investment.     

Page 101



JMP Consultants Ltd 

 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4 80 
 

11 Conclusions 

11.1 This report has sought to examine the role that rail plays in the Greater Lincolnshire area, the benefits to 

the economy that improvements to services might bring and the types of service improvements that 

might deliver these benefits.  

11.2 This has been carried out by applying an economic modelling framework that looks at the size of the 

benefits to be gained from improvements, before moving on to examine at a route level how services 

might be enhanced in order to deliver these benefits. From this a delivery framework has been 

developed for implementing service changes identified. 

THE ROLE OF RAIL IN LINCOLNSHIRE 

11.3 At the present time rail has a varied role across the Greater Lincolnshire area. Many services are 

characterised by their rural nature, and for historic and geographical reasons the Lincolnshire network is 

comparatively isolated from the rest of the rail network.  

11.4 The main city of Lincoln lacks the strategic service that might be expected for a city of its size, with a 

very limited service to London and no east – west services running beyond Nottingham. Whilst the 

service to London is to be substantially improved from 2019 there are presently no clear plans for the 

improvement of services beyond Nottingham. 

11.5 Over the last 20 years there have been relatively few changes to the rail network, with almost no service 

enhancements or changes to rolling stock. Despite this rail use across the county has grown, with an 

increase in overall usage of in excess of 60% and increases at main stations such as Lincoln of around 

90%, showing that there is demand for services. However the stagnation of use in some places in recent 

years (such as Sleaford), and decline at other locations (such as Skegness), suggests that the existing 

service has reached the limit of its usefulness with a need to improve services further, to help develop 

the rail network and to support the economy of the area.  

ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF IMPROVING SERVICES    

11.6 The economy of Greater Lincolnshire is one that is not dominated by the types of businesses such as 

financial or professional services that are heavily dependent on agglomeration with other businesses. 

Nevertheless the results indicated substantial benefits to the economy from improvements in services. 

Inevitably these benefits were focussed on flows from the main centres such as Lincoln, Scunthorpe, 

Grimsby and Cleethorpes.   The results highlighted the strategic importance of rail with the benefits of 

linkages to areas outside of Lincolnshire being substantially greater than those for movements within 

Lincolnshire.  

11.7 This implies that the improvement of strategic links is of greatest importance. However there is also a 

need to develop the rail network within Greater Lincolnshire to help develop labour markets and address 

environmental and social objectives. The improvements needed to services within Greater Lincolnshire 

are often comparatively minor and may in fact be easier to deliver than some of the more strategic 

services.  

11.8 Modelling work indicated that the wider economic benefits delivered by the rail services in the area are 

worth around £161M per annum. The modelling highlighted a particular need to improve links to the 

main centres in the East Midlands from Lincoln as well as West and South Yorkshire, the former via 

Doncaster and the latter via the existing service to Sheffield. It was shown that in certain cases, for 

example Lincoln – Sheffield, even comparatively modest improvements in services levels would 

potentially double the wider economic benefits relative to the existing services.     

Page 102



JMP Consultants Ltd 

81 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study : NEA7043-1/4  
 

DELIVERING ASPIRATIONS 

11.9 Rail can play an important role in strengthening the economy across Greater Lincolnshire, supporting 

business, tourism and labour markets. However there is a need for further investment to fulfil its 

potential. To deliver the growth that the economic modelling indicated maybe possible requires a 

number  of improvements which can be summarised as: 

 Development of strategic links - to London/Nottingham/Birmingham/Sheffield and, via interchange, 

Leeds. 

 Infill service improvements - filling in gaps in timetables, improved Sunday services etc. 

 Journey time reductions - increasing the sometimes extremely low line speeds that prevail across 

the area. 

 Transformational schemes – those that would deliver fundamental changes to service patterns, but 

would also be very costly 

11.10 Clearly more work is required to understand the operational and commercial impacts of changes, 

however many of the service enhancements could be delivered with a relatively limited increase in 

rolling stock provision in the area. 

11.11 These enhancements could in turn be used to justify the case for further enhancements and ultimately 

contribute to the delivery of transformational schemes.    

THE EAST MIDLANDS TRAINS FRANCHISE 

11.12 As has been highlighted throughout this report the East Midlands Trains franchise is the main operator 

of services across Lincolnshire. The franchise has recently received an extension and the next franchise 

will now start in March 2018. Consultation on the next franchise will begin in July 2016, which will 

present the opportunity for the local authorities and Greater Lincolnshire LEP to identify aspirations and 

opportunities for service development. The renewal of the franchise represents the biggest single 

opportunity to influence the development of services over the next decade, and represents a sensible 

point at which to lobby for enhancements which should be within the gift of the potential franchisees, 

whilst raising the profile of, and setting out the case for, longer term improvements.    

  

 

 

 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Policy and Scrutiny

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, Executive Director for Environment 
and Economy

Report to: Economic Scrutiny Committee
Date: 24 May 2016
Subject: Theme Performance – 2015/2016 Quarter 4
Decision Reference:  Key decision? No 
Summary: 
This report provides members with an update on the Lincolnshire economy, and 
on the economic development unit's progress with its performance indicators. 

Overall business confidence is weaker than in recent quarters, and this is 
probably linked to continued uncertainty over global markets. An increase in 
confidence over exports is seen, and it is likely that this is linked to the level of 
the pound against the dollar and euro.  Bank lending to SMEs has increased.

The economic development unit has four indicators. It has achieved the target 
in three indicators, but it has not met its target on the attraction of external 
funding. This is not because bids for funding have been rejected, but because 
the delays in processes operated by government officials have meant that 
project approvals have taken longer than anticipated.

Actions Required:
Members are asked to 

1. note that three indicators have been met, and that the fourth is close to 
being met;

2. task the Enterprise Commissioner with liaising with government officials 
over how they could accelerate their funding processes.

1. Background

Discussion (economic situation):

The latest Quarterly Economic Survey (QES) is attached for members' reference at 
Appendix A.  

The QES is produced in partnership with Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce and 
University of Lincoln.  The QES is sent to roughly 400 businesses, and it gives a 
quarterly snapshot of the opinions of business leaders in Lincolnshire.  The same 
businesses are polled each quarter in order to give a good view of how the 

Page 105

Agenda Item 6



economy is faring.  We understand that other surveys in the country, which are run 
independently by Chambers of Commerce, have a lower sample base and 
response rate than ours.

The highlights of this quarter's survey are:

Overseas sales and orders have both been given a boost due to changes in 
exchange rates. The possibility of a ‘Brexit’ has created uncertainty in sterling on 
currency markets and as a result the pound has dropped considerably against both 
the euro and the dollar.  Subsequently UK products and services are now cheaper 
for overseas markets and we have seen an improvement in both sales and orders.

A small increase in the proportion of businesses reporting improved UK sales 
to 46% means that this is the second highest proportion on record.

Uncertain conditions will also have played a part in the large jump in the 
proportion of businesses reporting no change in their workforce over the last 
three months.

Businesses are feeling the pressure to raise prices, and ‘pay settlements’ 
(30%) are now the main cause of this, most likely representing the incoming 
National Living Wage and its increase on the national minimum wage for over 25s.

Discussion (performance indicators):

The economic development unit has four indicators which feature in the council 
business plan. These are jobs created/safeguarded, businesses assisted, people 
trained, and external funding attracted.

The infographics attached at Appendix B show that three of the indicators have 
been met. These are jobs created/safeguarded, businesses assisted, people 
trained. These are the indicators which relate to "outputs" – i.e. specific 
achievements in the local economy by council backed schemes. Anecdotally we 
believe that the target outputs for these indicators are higher than other councils 
and the team is proud to have achieved these three indicators.

At the discussion about performance indicators at the Economic Scrutiny 
Committee on 23 February 2016, it was noted that the jobs created/safeguarded 
figure would be changed to a lower figure for 2016/2017. This was not because 
activity would be less, it was because the government department which supports 
our efforts to create and safeguard jobs (UKTI) are going through some changes 
and it is unwise to include their figures our performance indicators. The latest 
performance indicators for UKTI are attached and they show the importance of 
UKTI to economic growth objectives. Although UKTI's targets will not be included in 
our indicators we will nonetheless work closely with UKTI, through creating a 
shared investor development and export plan. These are elements of the greater 
Lincolnshire devolution deal. It may be useful for the economic development team 
to brief a forthcoming Economic Scrutiny Committee on the relationship with UKTI, 
and for UKTI to provide a presentation on the services that they offer to 
businesses.

Page 106



The fourth indicator, external funding received, has not been met. This indicator 
could be described as a "throughput" – i.e. it is a way of enabling a scheme to take 
place. Although the indicator has not been met, the level of external income 
generated (£42.877m) is still very high. The Economic Scrutiny Committee was 
briefed on problems with this indicator in Quarter 2. The problem related to the time 
it was taking for government officials to appraise and then approve bids that had 
been made for EU funding for specific projects. At the time of the last scrutiny 
meeting LCC officers had been assured by government officials that projects would 
be considered at a meeting on 16 March 2016. However, that date was not met 
and whilst our projects continue to be appraised (with the exception of one project), 
the deadline for reporting to LCC's 2015/2016 council business plan has passed.   

The exception to this case is the bid that was made for extending the rural 
broadband programme, and this has been withdrawn by government because they 
do not have a state aid agreement in place which will allows our project and others 
elsewhere in the country to go ahead at this stage. This will not affect the current 
Onlincolnshire programme, stage one of which has recently concluded 
successfully, because the bid was to add value to the targets that LCC agreed with 
BT. Government have told us that they would still welcome a bid from LCC when 
the state aid approval is in place.

Returning to the problem of delays, the agreement of a devolution deal for greater 
Lincolnshire provides us with the opportunity to explore ways of reducing the risk of 
delay. There are two possibilities - firstly, by creating a situation in which 
"programme bids" are prepared and secondly by giving greater Lincolnshire a 
bigger say in the operational management of the programmes. The benefit of both 
approaches is that grants will flow more quickly, but the downsides are that the 
approach has not been tried anywhere else and it could be very resource intensive 
for LCC and other local partners. However, finding ways of accelerating the funding 
process merits further exploration in order to avoid the same situation happening in 
2016/2017 and beyond.

2. Conclusion

In conclusion, the economy continues to show signs of growth and confidence.  
Whilst one of the council's economic development performance indicators has not 
been achieved, three of them have and the one that was not achieved was a 
question of timing rather than the indicator not being met at all.

3. Consultation

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required
n/a

Page 107



4. Appendices

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report
Appendix A Quarterly Economic Survey
Appendix B Council Business Plan Performance Indicators
Appendix C UKTI Successes 2015/16 
Appendix D Customer Satisfaction Data

5. Background Papers

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.

This report was written by Justin Brown who can be contacted on 01522 550513 or 
Justin.brown@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 108



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Lincolnshire 
Economic Briefing 

 

 
 

 

Sales & 
Markets  
Last 3 Months 

   Q4 15       Q1 16 

Sales Orders Sales Orders 

   Q4 15       Q1 16    Q4 15       Q1 16    Q4 15       Q1 16 
Domestic Overseas 

Improved 
(%) 

 
Stayed the 

Same (%) 
 

Worsened (%) 
 

Headlines 

Performance 
Next 12 Months 

Profitability Turnover 

Quarterly Economic Survey Snapshot – Q1 

National 
Economic growth for Q4 revised up - by 0.1% 
to 0.6%  
Production output decreased by 0.4 per cent 
but services growth remains strong at 0.8% 
Inflation rises holds at 0.3% in February 

Local 
Unemployment rate steady at 1.5% but 
increases in youth and long term unemployment 
Employment rate falls slightly to 73.8% but 
remains above the national rate (73.2%) 
Increase in bank lending to Lincolnshire SMEs 

Workforce 
Increase  

(%) 
 
 

Stay the  
Same (%) 

 
 
 

Decrease (%) 
 Next 3 months Last 3 months 

Shot in the arm for exports 
(sales and orders) 
Domestic demand remains 
reasonably strong in the 
face of uncertainty and 
economic headwinds 
Stable workforce predicted 
 

Confidence levels for the 
year ahead take a hit 
Future plans for workforce 
relatively unchanged 
Manufacturing sector 
continues to struggle 
compared to service sector 

Q
ES

 H
ea

dl
in

es
 

   Q4 15       Q1 16    Q4 15       Q1 16 

   Q4 15       Q1 16 Q4 15       Q1 16 

6

64 66

23 25

13 23

35 23

43 46

16 21

31 30

40 34

26 19

57
43

17
38

24 20

57 50

19 30

11
28

30
18

52 46

9
25

27
15

58 57

Q
ES

 H
ea

dl
in

es
 

7 11

56
75

31
10

 April 2016  

Increase 
(%) 

 
 

Stay the  
Same (%) 

 

Decrease (%) 
 

Page 109



Lincolnshire Research Observatory www.research-lincs.org.uk   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
            

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Where is all this uncertainty emanating from? 
The latest growth figures for the UK were ok with 
Q4 growth revised up by 0.1% to 0.6%, and 
whilst a lot has been made of slowing growth this 
was still the strongest growth of any of the G7 
economies. 

The questions around our EU membership is 
certainly playing its part, and not just in the 
currency markets. The EU is the UKs biggest 
export market and businesses who rely on 
exports, imports, and migrant labour, will be 
waiting to see what happens here (and the 
possible ramifications) before making decisions 
that affect the future of the business. 

Further afield there is the issue of China’s 
slowing economy. Being the world’s second 
largest economy means that any effects there 
are felt around the globe through supply chains, 
prices, changes in consumer habits, and 
resulting exports and imports. So despite double 
digit growth in recent years China’s economy has 
now slowed to around 7%. To put this into 
context, the Bank of England recently modelled a 
1% drop in China’s GDP would reduce UK GDP 
by 0.1%, and that this was a conservative 
estimate. 

Looking ahead now, there is little change in how 
businesses expect their prices for goods and 
services to change over the next three months, 
suggesting that that forecasts for inflation to 
slowly rise over the year are accurate. 

Where businesses are feeling the pressure to 
raise prices then ‘pay settlements’ (30%) are 
now the main cause of this, most likely 
representing the incoming National Living Wage 
and its increase on the national minimum wage 
for over 25s.  

Given many of these factors more businesses 
now expect levels of profitability and turnover to 
decrease, but despite this uncertainty a quarter 
of businesses do expect to increase their 
workforce. Perhaps more reassuring is that only 
three per cent of businesses expect their 
workforce to reduce over the next few months.  

Exports are up, domestic sales and workforce 
numbers are relatively stable, but business 
confidence is down in the face of national and 
global economic uncertainty. 

A potential ‘Brexit’, global economic slowdown, 
and the introduction of the National Living Wage, 
are all factors impacting on business performance 
and confidence according to the latest findings 
from the Lincolnshire Quarterly Economic Survey. 

Overseas sales and orders have both been 
given a boost due to changes in exchange rates. 
The possibility of a ‘Brexit’ has created uncertainty 
in sterling on currency markets and as a result the 
pound has dropped considerably against both the 
euro and the dollar (see page 3).  

Subsequently UK products and services are now 
cheaper for overseas markets and we have seen 
an improvement in both sales and orders. Sales 
in particular, where the proportion of businesses 
reporting an improvement more than doubled 
based on last quarter (17% to 38%), is now at its 
highest since Q1 2014. 

The turnaround in orders is less dramatic but still 
good with balances for both sales and orders 
returning to positive territory after two quarters of 
zero or negative results. On the downside, much 
of this positivity is being driven by services, with 
performance in manufacturing similar to that of 
last quarter. 

Back home, a small increase in the proportion 
of businesses reporting improved UK sales to 
46% means that this is the second highest 
proportion on record (the highest being 50% in Q3 
2014).  

However, and further compounding this issue of 
economic uncertainty, there has also been a jump 
in the proportion of businesses reporting 
worsening levels of sales, and at 23%, this is the 
highest it has been since Q1 2013. 
These uncertain conditions will also have played a 
part in the large jump in the proportion of 
businesses reporting no change in their workforce 
over the last three months (from just over 50% 
last quarter to 75% this quarter).  

Businesses feeling the effects of economic uncertainty  

Page 110



Lincolnshire Research Observatory www.research-lincs.org.uk   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Services Output  

Source: 
Office for 
National 
Statistics 

 
 
 

National and Local Economic Indicators 

 

               

 

   

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Manufacturing Output 
(% change, latest 3 months on same 3 months a year ago) 

 

 
 

 
 

UK Quarterly Change 
in GDP 

Unemployment in Lincolnshire Claimant Count and Rates (JSA and Universal Credit), Feb16 

Inflation – UK Monthly Change 
in Consumer Price Index (CPI) 

 

Exchange Rates 
£1 = US Dollar  

Source: Office for National Statistics 

UK Quarterly Change in 
Consumer Spending 

Source: Office for National Statistics 

Total Rate 

UK 

Youth 

All claimants aged 16-64 

Long Term 

All claimants aged 16-24 
as a % of total claimants 

All claimants aged 16-64 claiming for 
6 months or more as a % of total 
claimants Source: Office for National Statistics 

Source: 
xe.com 

Expected Change Over the Next 12 Months  

 
 

 

 

 

Source: Office for National Statistics 

Source: 
Quarterly 
Economic 
Survey 

Source: Office for National Statistics 

£1 = Euro 

Lincs 

 

 

 

Bank Lending to Lincolnshire SMEs 

Source: British Banking Association 

 

 

Page 111



Lincolnshire Research Observatory www.research-lincs.org.uk   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Business Lincolnshire - The local website linking 
you to schemes and services to help you start or 
grow your business: www.businesslincolnshire.com  
www.gov.uk 
 
Greater Lincolnshire Employment and Skills 
Board - Giving employers opportunities to lead and 
influence local training provision to have access to 
skills needed to grow their business.  
tel: 01522 550545  
email:clare.hughes@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise 
Partnership - Supporting business in the region; 
aiming to improve infrastructure and conditions for 
doing business from the Humber to the Wash. 
www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk 
email:GLLEPsecretariat@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
Jobcentre Plus - Providing services that support 
people of working age from welfare into work, 
helping employers fill their vacancies 
www.gov.uk/jobs-jobsearch  www.gov.uk/advertise-
job 
 
Select Lincolnshire - Raising the profile of 
Lincolnshire, promoting and attracting investment 
into the county, signposting to local produce within 
the County and promoting food and drink across the 
UK.  www.selectlincolnshire.com  tel: 01522 550618  
email: select@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce  
A membership organisation providing business -
support advice and benefits. www.lincs-
chamber.co.uk tel: 01522 523333 email: 
enquiries@lincs-chamber.co.uk 
 
Trading Standards business advice  
Giving support and encouragement to businesses 
by giving advice and information to help them get it 
right first time. www.lincolnshire.gov.uk tel: 01522 
782341 
email: TradingStandards@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
Federation of Small Businesses 
A non-profit making membership group promoting 
the interests of the self-employed and owners of 
small businesses www.fsb.org.uk email: 
david.thorpe@fsb.org.uk tel: 01522 790806 (Direct) 
m: 07917 628927 tel: 01522 688070 (Lincoln Office) 
	

 All information contained in this briefing is the most up-to-date available at time of publication (11th April 
2016). This briefing has been produced by Codename Consulting Ltd on behalf of Lincolnshire County Council, 
and published on the Lincolnshire Research Observatory (LRO) website. Visit the Economy theme page on the 

website for more information http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/Economy.aspx/Economy.aspx 

 

Devolution for Greater Lincolnshire  
shire A devolution deal document has been 

agreed with Whitehall by all 10 local 
authorities from the Humber to the Wash, 
plus the Greater Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP). 

Although all the councils will continue to exist in 
their current form, they will also come together 
to form a “combined authority” to exercise the 
new powers. Like other areas with devolved 
powers, such as Sheffield and Manchester, the 
combined authority will also have its own 
directly elected mayor. 

The funding and responsibilities will include 
transport, housing, skills training and flood risk 
management. Further commitments are also 
agreed on health and social care, as well as 
court and prison services. The aim is to ensure 
local accountability, making the new body 
answerable to the one million people in Greater 
Lincolnshire. 

Leader of Lincolnshire County Council, Cllr 
Martin Hill, said: 

“In Greater Lincolnshire we will have more 
control of our own future, rather than letting 
Whitehall decide what’s best for us. As well as 
unlocking the economic potential of the region, 
the new arrangements re-unite the historic 
Greater Lincolnshire area.” 

The devolution arrangements could boost the 
area’s economy by £8bn, create 29,000 jobs 
and provide 100,000 new homes. The 
combined authority will receive £15m a year, for 
the next 30 years, for infrastructure projects to 
boost economic growth, and will have 
responsibility for a devolved and consolidated, 
multi-year local transport budget for the entire 
combined authority area. 

Page 112



There have been a further 45 new jobs created and 125 jobs safeguarded  by the council's business 

support/investment schemes.  The schemes that the council runs directly assist businesses, leading to 

job creation and safeguarding.

About the latest performance

75

Jobs created as a result of the Council's support

Jobs created and safeguarded

Number of jobs created and safeguarded as a result of the Council's support.

Copy and paste banner here

Jobs

Target for March 2016

758

Quarter 4 March 2016

884
Jobs

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Cumulative
Performance

145 690 714 884

Quarterly
Performance

145 545 24 170

Target 190 380 570 758

0

200

400

600

800

1000

Jobs 

Jobs created and safeguarded 

Page 113



Further details

Jobs Created and Safeguarded 
2013/14 

Page 114



About benchmarking

This measure is local to Lincolnshire and therefore is not benchmarked against any other area. 

About the target

The council commissions a series of programmes which help business leaders to grow their business.  

This includes the building of business sites and premises for selling or renting to businesses which are 

growing.  We do this in order to create jobs in the county, and the jobs are counted in this target.

About the target range

Page 115



We have substantially exceeded our target because we attracted additional funding during the year and 

were able to deliver extra courses and advice. 

About the latest performance

76

Jobs created as a result of the Council's support

Businesses supported by the Council

Number of businesses who receive direct support and advice from services the Council commission.

Copy and paste banner here

Businesses

Target for March 2016

350

Quarter 4 March 2016

779
Businesses

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Cumulative
Performance

415 525 634 779

Quarterly
Performance

415 110 109 145

Target 88 175 263 350

0

200

400

600

800

Businesses 

Businesses supported by the Council 

Page 116



About benchmarking

This measure is local to Lincolnshire and therefore is not benchmarked against any other area. 

Further details

About the target

The council commissions a series of programmes which help business leaders to grow their business.  

The businesses who receive support will grow creating jobs and other opportunities (for example, the 

supply chain).

About the target range

Page 117



About the latest performance

77

Jobs created as a result of the Council's support

Qualifications achieved by adults

Number of qualifications achieved (Skills programmes, vocational training programmes, adult and 

community learning) through programme support by the council.

Copy and paste banner here

The difference between the target and achieved figures relates to qualification accreditation which are 

currently being processed but are delayed. The majority of qualifications were achieved in the months 

July to September in line with the academic year. 

978
Qualifications

Quarter 4 March 2016

Qualifications

Target for March 2016

902
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Cumulative
Performance

71 796 934 978

Quarterly
Performance

71 725 138 44

Target 45 805 855 902

0

200

400

600

800

1000

Q
u

a
li

fi
c
a
ti

o
n

s
 

Qualifications achieved by adults 

Page 118



About benchmarking

This measure is local to Lincolnshire and therefore is not benchmarked against any other area. 

Further details

This is a new measure for 2015-16 therefore historical data is not available

About the target

The council commissions a series of training schemes which help individuals to gain skills.  These 

training schemes are focused on the skills that employers need.  Employers can understand an 

individual's skills level by the qualification that they hold, hence the reason that we count the number of 

qualifications achieved.

About the target range

Page 119



About the latest performance

78

Jobs created as a result of the Council's support

Amount of external funding attracted to Lincolnshire

Amount of external funding attracted to Lincolnshire (including Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise 

Partnership and European Union funding programmes) by the council.

Copy and paste banner here

Due to delays with processing applications for funding from the EU programmes, the initial target  set of 

£54.8m has not been met this financial year.  We have made strong bids and they are progressing 

through the funding system but have not been approved this financial year.  In Quarter Four, a 

European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) contract has been approved to support pre-start up 

businesses and a further £300,000 has been drawn down from the Growth Hub Fund. European 

Structural & Investment Funds (ESIF) has included £2.1m supporting people back into employment and 

£1.6m to support soft skills and debt management. Income for Q1 2016/2017 is predicted to be £14.8m.

42,877,794
£

Quarter 4 March 2016

£

Target for March 2016

54,800,000
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Performance 0 0 33,400,000 42,877,794

Target 34,000,000 48,800,000 54,800,000 54,800,000

0

10,000,000

20,000,000

30,000,000

40,000,000

50,000,000

60,000,000

£ 

Amount of external funding attracted to 
Lincolnshire 

Page 120



About benchmarking

This measure is local to Lincolnshire and therefore is not benchmarked against any other area. 

Further details

This is a new measure for 2015-16 therefore historical data is not available

About the target

The annual target of £54.8 million is made up of the following:

European Union Growth Programme £6 million;

European Union Leader Programme £6.5 million;

Single Local Growth Fund £27.5 million;

Growth Deal II £14.8 million.

About the target range

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



UKTI CONFIRMED SUCCESSES FOR 2015/16 YEAR

Investment type Location Project Nature  Country of FDI(origin) UKTI Sector Sector(CDMS)

Number of New
Jobs (Year 3
Forecast)

Number of Safe
Jobs(Year 3
Forecast)

New Investment Boston Manufacturing Germany Food & Drink
Agriculture, Horticulture and
Fisheries 10 0

Expansion Lincoln E-Commerce United States Creative Media Creative and Media 50 206

Expansion Wellingore Services + R&D Japan LSH
Biotechnology and
Pharmaceuticals 6 0

New Investment Market Deeping Sales Austria Transport Aerospace 2 0
Retention Lincoln Manufacturing and R&D Spain Transport Aerospace 16 140
New Investment Heighington Medical Sweden Healthcare & Medical 2 2
New Investment Lincoln Financial Spain Financial 7 0
New Investment Long Bennington Environment Italy Environment 0 4
New Investment Immingham Services Singapore EEI Ports and Logistics 70 0
Expansion Flixborough Manufacturing Norway Manufacturing Chemicals 8 0

Total for GLLEP: 171 352
Total for Lincolnshire only: 93 352

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Customer Satisfaction Information – Scrutiny Committees

Economic 
Scrutiny Committee

Date Range for Report 1st of January – 31st of March (1st October – 31st 
December)

Total number of complaints 
received across all LCC service 
area. 

181(152)* individual school complaints not 
included

Total number of complaints 
relating to Economic  Scrutiny 
Committee

1 (1)

Total number of compliments 
relating to Economic Scrutiny 
Committee

2 (1)

Total Service Area Complaints Economic Regeneration 1 (1)
Adult Education 0 (0)

Service Area Economic 
Regeneration Complaint 
Reasons

Conduct/attitude/rudeness of 
staff 0 (1)

Disability 0 (0)
Disagree with Policy 0 (0)
Disagree with Procedure 0 (0)
Insufficient information 
provided 1 (0)

Service Area Compliments Adult Education 0 (0)
Economic Regeneration 2 (1) 

How many LCC Corporate 
complaints have not been 
resolved within service standard

 2 (10)        

Number of complaints referred to 
Ombudsman 10 (7)

0
2
4
6
8

10

3rd Qtr
14/15

4th Qtr
14/15

1st Qtr
15/16

2nd Qtr
15/16

3rd Qtr
15/16

4th Qtr
15/16

Total Complaint Receipts by Quarter

Economic Regeneration Adult Education 

Page 125



Summary 

 

LCC Overview of Complaints
The total number of LCC complaints received this Quarter (Q4) shows a 19.1% 
increase on the previous quarter (Q3). When comparing this Quarter with Q4 of 
2014/15, there is a 48% increase when 122 were received.

Economic Regeneration Complaints
Economic Regeneration received 1 complaint this Quarter. This was regarding 
unclear signage regarding dog access at Anderby Creek Cloud Bar.

Adult Education Complaints
Adult Education received no complaints this Quarter. 
 
Compliments 

Economic Regeneration received 2 compliment this Quarter.  One was praise for 
the Business Lincolnshire website and the second was praise for organising a 
manufacturing event.

Adult Education received no compliments this Quarter.  

Ombudsman Complaints
In Quarter 4 of 2015/16, In Quarter 4 of 2015/16, 10 complaints were registered 
with the Ombudsman.  0 of these complaints were recorded against the Economic 
Scrutiny Committee

Page 126



 
Policy and Scrutiny

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, Executive Director for Environment 
and Economy

Report to: Economic Scrutiny Committee
Date: 24 May 2016
Subject: Place Marketing and Alignment with GLLEP's Work
Decision Reference:  Key decision? No 
Summary: 
Place marketing is critical to economic growth. The Greater Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP) is establishing a vision for place marketing which 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) and other partners are contributing to.

Actions Required:
Members of the Economic Scrutiny Committee are asked to support the work of 
the Greater Lincolnshire LEP and partners locally in developing place marketing 
activity as set out in this report.

1. Background

Greater Lincolnshire has ambitious targets for growth reflected in both the Greater 
Lincolnshire Devolution Deal and embedded in the Strategic Economic Plan. Over 
the past 3 months the Greater Lincolnshire LEP and partners have met and 
discussed how place marketing in Greater Lincolnshire can successfully support 
these aspirations for growth. This has involved over 30 businesses and wider 
stakeholders such as district councils, Chamber of Commerce and universities. 

Place marketing can be considered as the communications, branding, sales and 
marketing activities that make a place appealing to a wide range of audiences such 
as visitors, employees, residents, learners, businesses, and investors and 
developers.  The conclusion reached is that a strategic and co-ordinated approach 
to place is needed but that this is not needed for all audiences. Place marketing is 
all embracing, but there is a risk that by addressing every aspect of place 
marketing could delay anything happening at all. By identifying various small but 
essential packages of work to be undertaken, the GLLEP can lead some activity 
quickly by focusing on the gaps and capitalising on current opportunities.

Focus and Tasks

The GLLEP and partners have asked for the GLLEP to take a leadership role in 
strengthening elements of place marketing across Greater Lincolnshire, and form a 
partnership steering group to drive the outcomes and align existing partners. The 

Page 127

Agenda Item 7



areas of focus should be on telling the economic growth story of Greater 
Lincolnshire, addressing the gaps in "living and working in Greater Lincolnshire", 
and turning up the volume on the investment potential and delivery in Greater 
Lincolnshire.  Each of these items is expanded in more detail within the report.

LCC will use a cost saving from a vacant post to contribute cash to the thinking 
stage work. GLLEP are also contributing cash and others are offering 'in kind' 
support. 

Overall the activity should complement the number of strategic development sites 
being brought forward across the area and address long term under performance 
in positioning and marketing the Greater Lincolnshire offer to potential new 
investors and developers, occupiers and businesses.

The task will focus on 

1. The Thinking Stage – Developing an overarching Greater Lincolnshire story
2. GLLEP Directors – Cllr Colin Davie and Chris Baron (Butlins) are the board 

champions on this.
3. The Inventing Stage  - bringing the ideas to life
4. The Implementation Stage – Crafting and executing the marketing plan
5. Specific Gaps - Commission specific work packages such as a hotel 

demand study, and information and events to promote development 
opportunities to house builders and developers.

Planned Activity

Work stream 1 – The Thinking Stage – up to 3 months
The GLLEP will commission a compelling Greater Lincolnshire story, or economic 
narrative, that clearly sets out a strong visual identity and a clear sense of purpose 
and place. This will support future place marketing and positioning by the partners 
across Greater Lincolnshire.  

This stage may involve a locational survey, customer research, and market 
positioning & brand definition development.  It will deliver an economic narrative 
that can be shared by partners in the private and public sector.  Existing work by 
Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce and Team Lincolnshire will contribute 
significantly to this task.

Work stream 2 - The Inventing Stage  - up to 3 months  
The development of a visual identity, core messaging, Imagery creation, brand 
guidelines and toolkit.  The branding should be white labelled and the key focus be 
"Greater Lincolnshire".

Work stream 3 – The implementation Stage – Medium Term 
The crafting of both the marketing plan and its component parts across all 
platforms. Specifics will include:

An initial 18 month media and communication campaign, especially utilising 
existing digital channels, appropriate to target audiences.  

Page 128



A web portal that promotes the Greater Lincolnshire economic narrative. It should 
have resources such as short films, photographs, brochures, case studies and the 
latest development news for Greater Lincolnshire. This should build on existing 
websites, making them as strong as those of our counterparts elsewhere.

Work stream 4
Specific deliverables such as GLLEP wide evidence base for hotel development 
and working together to attract a wider range of house buildings and commercial 
agents to Greater Lincolnshire.

The key objectives of the activity are:

 Improve the positioning of Greater Lincolnshire in a national context and the 
GLLEP and Greater Lincolnshire in a regional context within the Midlands 
Engine

 Establish a strong and clear economic identity for Greater Lincolnshire that 
highlights key attributes such as live and work and the benefits by sector.

 Identify key stakeholders and opinion formers regionally and nationally and 
transform them into supporters and influencers of the Greater Lincolnshire 
brand.

 Stimulate further interest, enquiries and subsequent UK and inward 
investment enquiries to Greater Lincolnshire.

 Raise the profile of strategic investment opportunities which flow through the 
GLLEP, particularly our strategic housing and employment sites.

 Identify the key achievements and messages that best portray the Greater 
Lincolnshire "story" through a multi-channel approach to target audiences.

 Develop engagement and closer working relationships with the private 
sector in communicating a united and proud Greater Lincolnshire that has a 
confident and ambitious voice.

 Identify a suite of marketing collateral and opportunities to showcase the 
Greater Lincolnshire "story" regionally and nationally.

Proposed Budgets
At the meeting of the GLLEP Board in January, it was agreed that a costed 
proposal would be brought for consideration.  The figures below are estimates over 
a two year period starting April 2016.

Area Estimated Amount during 
2016/2017 and 2017/2018

Programme Management £38,000
Workstream 1 – Story and comms 
programme

£40,000
£60,000

Workstream 2 Portal £15,000
£4,000

Workstream 3 – Specific tasks hotel and 
house builders
Promotional films

£26,000
£34,000
£16,000

Total £239,000 over two years

Page 129



Potential Contributions
GLLEP £60,000 over two years
LCC £60,000 over two years
Other Partners £120,000 over two years

£240,000

LCC will use a cost saving from a vacant post to contribute cash to the thinking 
stage. GLLEP are also contributing cash and others are offering 'in kind' support. 
There may be a further opportunity to bid for European funding or Midlands Engine 
funding to increase the budget, developing and delivering specific activity.

Using Existing Partnerships

The intention is for the GLLEP and a wider partnership group to enable activity on 
place marketing. This group would be chaired by a GLLEP Board member, to take 
forward the initial work. Core partnership members should be Lincolnshire 
Chamber, Greater Lincolnshire LEP, Lincolnshire County Council (both strategic 
communications and economic development), Lincoln University, a district council, 
North Lincolnshire Council and North East Lincolnshire Council. The partnership 
could co-commission activity. Wherever possible, local partners should be 
commissioned to undertake the work streams because of their strong local 
knowledge and "ambassadorial" qualities.

Resources

LCC and the GLLEP have committed £30,000 per annum each towards this 
activity, for an initial period of two years. Other partners will be approached to 
commit either financial or in kind resources to contribute to this important piece of 
work and deliver the tasks above.  

It is envisaged that the activity will start during May 2016, with the thinking phase 
being complete by September 2016. A further report with emerging findings will be 
brought to an autumn meeting of the Economic Scrutiny Committee. 

2. Conclusion

GLLEP's leadership of place marketing is welcome and LCC's input is vital. Raising 
the profile of Lincolnshire as a place to invest will support economic growth. 

3. Consultation

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required

Page 130



n/a

4. Background Papers

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.

This report was written by Ruth Carver, who can be contacted on 01522 550515 or 
ruth.carver@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Scrutiny

Open Report on behalf of the Executive Director for Environment & 
Economy  

Report to: Economic Scrutiny Committee
Date: 24 May 2016    
Subject: Single Local Growth Fund - Accountable Body 

Progress Report

Summary: 
This report provides an update from the Accountable Body on the progress of the 
Single Local Growth Fund (SLGF) operated on behalf of the Greater Lincolnshire 
LEP. The report is focussed on the financial year 2015/16 and highlights the 
spend position for the year end and the challenges faced in providing a robust 
Accountable Body function.     

Actions Required:
It is recommended that members:-

1. Comment on the role of Lincolnshire County Council as Accountable Body 
of the Single Local Growth Fund;

2. Note the current progress on project delivery and spend. 

1. Background

As part of their Growth Deal, Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) were asked to 
sign up to working with government to develop a single assurance framework 
covering all Government funding flowing through LEPs, to ensure all LEPs have 
robust systems and processes in place. Work on developing each LEP’s local 
assurance framework was a core element of their Growth Deal, and as such 
provided the assurance to enable the release of Single Local Growth Funds for 
projects identified within the growth deal offer.

Lincolnshire County Council is the accountable body for all the Greater 
Lincolnshire LEP (GLLEP) funds with the single local growth funding being the 
predominant fund. This is set out in the original memorandum of understanding 
that created the LEP. We were instrumental in producing the assurance framework 
and ensured the successful transfer of £26.4 million of Single Local Growth Fund 
grant via a Section 31 grant determination for the financial period 2015/16. 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8



Government have appraised the GLLEP Assurance Framework. Our assurance 
framework was deemed as low risk around the following areas:

 LEP governance and decision making
 Local authority partnership working across the LEP
 Transparent decision making
 Accountable decision making (including role of the Accountable Body and 

by Economic Scrutiny Committee)
 Ensuring value for money (prioritisation; appraisal; business case 

development; risk management)

This enabled the release of funds upfront and it is worth noting that not all LEPs 
and their accountable bodies received the monies in this way. Government were 
clearly confident that there is strong underpinning local authority partnership 
arrangement in place to facilitate strong decision making and fund accountability. 

The £26.4m was the first expenditure target from the £82.3m identified for Single 
Local Growth Fund project through the growth deal offer. Greater Lincoln's local 
growth allocation of £146.2m also includes £50m towards Eastern By-Pass, Local 
Transport Board funding of £11.9m and Regional Growth Fund of £2m.

National Audit Office Review

The National Audit Office (NAO) and Government Internal Audit Agency (GIAA) 
recently undertook some work to review all LEPs assurance frameworks prior to 
agreeing the release of further funding. We received a letter on the 10th March 
highlighting 2 minor areas.

The audit was undertaken as a desk based exercise and no discussion was held 
with us as part of the process. In our response back to government (provided in 
Appendix A) we have reiterated that we continue to review and improve our 
systems and processes. 

The points raised by the audit were minor and this has given us increased 
confidence that Lincolnshire County Council's working practices to support the 
work of the LEP remain strong. Aligned to this was a positive annual "conversation" 
that we had with members from the Local Growth Unit and a subsequent report 
highlighting our strengths as a LEP area.    

A member from the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) was 
interested in visiting Greater Lincolnshire and assess how we operate the Growth 
programme. It was incredibly positive that we were selected especially as this 
occurred prior to further announcements on funding. We hosted Douglas Leckie 
(Growth Deal Implementation Policy Lead) on 24th March and as a result of the 
meeting have instigated sharing identified best practice with other accountable 
bodies around our audit and accounting practices.

Page 134



2015/16 Contracted Project Spend Overview

This was always going to be a challenging year as we implemented and tested 
systems and worked to progress projects to contracting stage. As highlighted in 
previous reports these are complex, multi funded, multi partnered schemes where 
contract negotiations can take a long time.      

To date we have contracted with 9 schemes to the value of £147m and agreed 
contracted grants of £38.9m single local growth fund contribution. Projects are 
progressing on site but there have been unforeseen delays resulting in increased 
pressure to agree and release the £26.4m spend target. 

In order for the grant recipient to report on delivery and draw down SLGF grant, in 
line with the terms and conditions set out in the funding agreement, an application 
for reimbursement, "grant claim", must be made. We have requested that all claims 
are fully evidenced on eligible expenditure both incurred and defrayed. 

The table below identifies the amount of monies expended within an identified 
period and shows a cumulative spend picture.

As you can see there is a large spike in expenditure in the last month of 2015-16 
resulting in the release of £21m solely in March. The accountable body team 
endeavored to ensure that claims submitted were robust so that they will withstand 
scrutiny from future audits.  

Many of the claims were for large amounts including agreed retrospective costs 
and as part of first claim submissions we tested the projects' reporting mechanisms 
and challenged expenditure that did not meet our strict audit requirements.  
Although this approach is often difficult for projects, it does enable a lighter touch 
approach moving forward.   

We are aware, however, that there is a balance between ensuring we hit spend 
targets and providing a good audit trail. 
  

Page 135



The table below shows target and actual spend for contracted projects.

15/16 GROWTH DEAL CLAIM EXPENDITURE OVERVIEW 
Project Name Target Spend Target Grant Total Spend Total Grant Spend Grant

Boole Technology Centre 2,884,928£      1,442,464£           1,767,286£               1,767,286£            1,117,642-£         324,822£            
Grantham Southern Relief Road 9,400,000£      5,900,000£           5,997,109£               5,997,109£            3,402,891-£         97,109£              
Bishop Burton College 8,241,594£      6,500,000£           7,087,277£               6,161,111£            1,154,317-£         338,889-£            
Unlocking Rural Housing Programme 4,050,863£      368,000£              2,572,157£               900,000£                1,478,706-£         532,000£            
Boston Quadrant 5,174,857£      1,000,000£           1,106,187£               856,187£                4,068,670-£         143,813-£            
Tentercroft Street Growth Corridor Ph1 700,000£          350,000£              700,000£                  350,000£                -£                      -£                     
Tentercroft Street Growth Corridor Ph2 1,050,555£      749,745£              785,007£                  560,232£                265,548-£             189,513-£            
Skegness Countryside Business Park 4,316,328£      1,309,086£           1,649,267£               1,309,086£            2,667,061-£         -£                     

Sub Total 35,819,125£    17,619,295£        21,664,290£            17,901,011£          14,154,835-£       281,716£            
Target Grant 26,400,000£          
Underspend 8,498,989£            

2015/16 Contracted 2015/16 Acutal 2015/16 Variance 

Note that against the target of £26.4m of grant available that we were only able to release grant of £17.9m for contracted projects. 
This resulted in an underspend of £8.5m.  

P
age 136



As agreed by the Economic Scrutiny Committee when it scrutinised SLGF in 
September 2015, it was important that we took steps within our agreed freedom 
and flexibilities in order not to risk losing funding to Greater Lincolnshire.   

For 2015/16 our original growth deal package expenditure target was £18.7m, 
however in late September 2015 Department for Transport (DfT) stated that the 
funding profile for Local Transport Board (LTB) contributions to Grantham Southern 
Relief Road, as included in the allocation released to the Accountable Body of 
£26.4m in February 2015, had to be spent against Growth Deal projects in this 
financial year. This placed us in an extremely difficult position and several other 
LEP Accountable Bodies across the Country found themselves in a similar 
predicament.

As a result Government confirmed that if it was not possible to spend all of the 
2015/16 target on the contracted projects due to unavoidable delays and if future 
allocated schemes could not be brought forward to meet the gap, funding could be 
spent in 2015/16 with the agreement of the Accountable Body's Section 151 Officer 
against identified LCC Capital Schemes, and reimbursed completely against the 
SLGF programme in a future year as required.

The accountable body did look at reducing any underspend by bringing spend 
forward and we implemented the flexibility of increasing intervention rates for a 
number of schemes. There was however the need to identify LCC projects that 
aligned to the ethos of growth deal and had expended monies within the 2015/16 
period.      

The table below identifies the LCC projects that utilised the remaining grant: 

Project Name Total spend
East West Link 5,429,452£     
Eastern Bypass 546,822£        
Lincoln Canwick 2,522,716£     

Total grant paid and LCC capital released 8,498,989£     

Three internal transfer payments were made to the sum of £8.5m, in the main to 
East/West Link. A proportion was also used for Lincoln Eastern Bypass and 
Lincoln Canwick Hill works. 

The approach taken effectively earmarks and utilises LCC capital budget in future 
years against the SLGF contracted schemes.  

We have specifically raised the issue with Government around undertaking such 
transactions when we could simply hold the monies on reserves; however we have 
followed the government's preferred approach in order to secure our future 
allocations.   

Page 137



We can provide assurance that for the financial year 2015-16 that for the single 
local growth fund:-  

 resources have been subject to the usual local authority checks and 
balances;

 decisions and activities taken on projects have conformed with legal 
requirements; 

 ensured that the funds have been used appropriately and in accordance 
with our contract; 

 ensured that the local LEP assurance framework has been adhered to;
 maintain the official record of all relevant LEP documents relating to 

SLGF 
 facilitated for a local audit of funding allocated by LEPs (the result of 

which was an unqualified report on cash balances) 

Following our first year review there are many lessons learnt that we will take 
forward into future year delivery:

 The partnership with project sponsors must concentrate more on spend 
profiles in order to improve spend profiling and we will be implementing a 
system to identify weaknesses early on in a project lifecycle

 Continuing our close work with government to build on our own best 
practice but challenge central decisions around the effective 
management of funds

 Building stronger 2-way relationships with project partners to fully 
understand the complexities of schemes and enabling us to respond and 
quickly support identified constraints

 Making sure we capture the added value of projects to demonstrate the 
wider impacts against strategic plans  

16/17 Pipeline schemes

Work on pipeline projects is progressing well with specific work on due diligence 
having taken place.  

Project Stage
Access to 
Employment Zones

Contractual agreement has been drafted and is with 
North East Lincolnshire Council's legal team for 
comment. With negotiations still taking place, the 
forecast claim for retrospective design fees scheduled to 
spend in 2015/16 will not be achieved.

GO Skegness 
Sustainable 
Transport

Contracts have been drawn up and signed and a 
meeting scheduled to discuss the first claim cycle. This 
scheme will provide a package of measures to help 
unlock potential growth in the tourism industry by 
providing and developing opportunities for visitors to use 
sustainable travel modes to benefit the local economy, 

Page 138



support active lifestyles, improve visitor experience, 
extend the visitor offer and attract new visitors.

South Humber 
Industrial 
Infrastructure 
Programme (SHIIP)

The project is at draft contract stage and is focussed on 
unlocking the economic potential of industrial 
development land in North East Lincolnshire's (NEL) 
area of the Humber Estuary. We will seek to contract the 
first phase of the scheme in May 2016.

Lincoln Transport 
Hub

As a DfT retained scheme ministerial approval will be 
required. The draft strategic, management and 
commercial business cases for the scheme are all being 
updated and re-issued to DfT for review.  The design 
has now been agreed and will be viewed at the 25th May 
Planning Committee.

Northern Roundabout 
Infrastructure Project

Project is to be considered in place of the Berkeley 
Circle project along with the NEP7 scheme and will be 
requesting £1.9m of growth deal support. The scheme 
will be presented to the May Investment Board meeting 
as it is currently in its design phase. 

Normanby Enterprise 
Park 7 (NEP7)

The proposal will provide road access, a roundabout and 
all associated services to facilitate the reuse of a 
reclaimed brownfield site Normanby Enterprise Park 7 
(NEP7) for industrial and commercial development.  The 
project was approved at the March Investment Board 
and has proceeded to Contract stage.

Grantham College The project was discussed at the March Investment 
Board and has been agreed to proceed to contract 
stage.

Scunthorpe Town 
Centre

North Lincolnshire Council cannot confirm the final 
footprint of highways improvements until it has 
confirmation of the location to anchor new development 
buildings in the Town Centre. Feasibility work to 
determine this still needs to be undertaken.  
Construction is due to commence in 2016. 

Lincolnshire Lakes The detailed design work is ongoing, and a lining 
solution is being firmed up for Lake 1. The procurement 
strategy has been finalised – North Lincolnshire Council 
will utilise Environment Agency’s Water and 
Environment Management (WEM) for Call Off. 

Holbeach Peppermint 
Junction

The timetable for the delivery of the road improvement 
scheme has moved out with a start on site expected in 
March 2017. This revision has been made in order to 
reflect the likely impact of the need to undertake various 

Page 139



statutory functions before the works commence, in 
particular, obtaining Side Road Orders and a CPO. The 
impact of this revised timescale is that the Holbeach 
Peppermint scheme growth deal draw allocation will now 
be forecast in future years.

Agri-food Centre of 
Excellence, Holbeach

The University of Lincoln (UOL) ESIF submission for 
match funding is still within the ESIF process. Following 
discussion with UOL some of the growth deal allocation 
for this scheme has been moved forward into 2016/17 
forecasts on the basis that if the ESIF proposal is 
successful the project will be in a position to begin in 
autumn 2016.

Future Activity

Local Growth Fund 2016/17 payment 

On the 4th March, the Cities and Local Growth Unit wrote to LEPs confirming 
arrangements for Local Growth Fund grant payments to be made in 2016/17. We 
can confirm that the previously indicative allocation for 2016/17 has been paid in 
full to the sum of £39.864m and has been made under section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

Indicative funding profiles for 2017/18 and beyond remain dependant on outcomes 
of the annual review process, however following positive feedback we are 
encouraged that monies again will be received upfront.  Work will now continue on 
moving the pipeline projects to contracting and providing an accurate spend profile 
to monitor project progress.

In addition to the LGF grant, the LEP will also receive an allocation for the 
Business Growth Hub of £492,000 payable over the next two years (£246,000 in 
2016-17 and £246,000 in 2017-18).

Funding Opportunity

Following the Chancellor's budget in March, future funding was confirmed for local 
growth. As expected the funding will predominately support transport, skills capital 
and housing. 

The specific lines that have been included are:
 £475m for Local Transport Majors. This will enable investment in larger 

transport projects than was previously possible and will be made available 
to LEPs to bid for alongside new Growth Deals.

 £2 billion long term housing loan funding for the investment in infrastructure 
needed to support major housing developments.  Developers will be invited 
to submit bids to the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). Strong local 
engagement is expected and all LEPs are encouraged to be involved.

Page 140



 The remaining money will be for a further round of Growth Deals. This will 
be made up of contributions from BIS, Department for Communities and 
Local Government (DCLG) and DfT. Skills capital funding has been 
extended beyond 2016-17 through to 2020-21, reflecting the Government’s 
support for the Further Education estate after Area Reviews have 
concluded. The Local Sustainable Transport Fund has also been brought 
into the flexible element of the Fund.

 
The profile of the emerging funding will seek to increase the size of the Local 
Growth Fund in later years, with the majority of funding available in 2019-20 and 
2020-21. However, some funding may be made available in 2017-18 and 2018-19.

Idea generation for Growth Related Projects 

On the 8th February 2016 the LEP put out a request to the public and private sector 
for transformational strategic schemes which would enable further significant 
economic growth for Greater Lincolnshire in the short to medium term. Forty 
applications were received by the 7th March closing date from across the Greater 
Lincolnshire area and the initial scoring process has been completed. The projects 
and their scores will be presented to the May Investment Board for discussion 
around the potential for priority pipeline schemes.

Process Audit

An independent audit has been scheduled for June 2016 with the objective of 
providing an opinion of the annual financial reports of the Greater Lincolnshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership (GLLEP) for the financial 2015/16.  The audit will also 
review the effectiveness and efficiency of the operational procedures conducted on 
behalf of the GLLEP by the Accountable Body, Lincolnshire County Council (LCC).

The audit will focus on but not be limited to:  

 A review activity for the 12 month period 2015/16
 Determine if revenues are reasonable and are properly controlled and 

appropriately recorded
 Review project accounts expenditure and determine if they are compliant 

with LCC policies, grant agreements and financial regulations
 To ensure that the organisation properly and effectively discharges its 

responsibilities with regards to financial management
 Review of the relevant assurance documentation and ensure that it is fit for 

purpose

In light of the government's own reviews we expect that this audit will run well. 

2. Conclusion

The accountable body continues to provide a robust environment in which the LEP 
operates and the single local growth fund projects are in the main progressing well 

Page 141



into delivery. We have been successful in securing the next tranche of funding 
(£39.9m) for the 2016/17 period.

Project spend will be monitored closely with the aim of moving towards a more 
consistent spend profile.

We will continue to work with the LEP to ensure that the strongest of projects are 
submitted to future funding opportunities enabling us to deliver against our 
strategic priorities and build on our strong portfolio of existing schemes.  

3. Consultation

a) Policy Proofing Actions Required
 n/a

4. Appendices

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report
Appendix A NAO Audit response letter
Appendix B Single Local growth fund project overview

5. Background Papers

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 

This report was written by Linsay Hill Pritchard, who can be contacted on 01522 
550632 or Linsay.hillpritchard@lincolnshire.gov.uk
 

Page 142

mailto:Linsay.hillpritchard@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Growth Deal Progress - Approved schemes (Growth Deal allocations 2015/16)                                                 Appendix B

Project Name Progress Update 
Bishop Burton 
College 

The project is still aiming to accomplish completion in summer 2016; however some building construction and 
car park works scheduled to complete in 2015/16 have been delayed. This has resulted in the expenditure 
forecast for 2015/16 being reduced from £6.5m to £5.5m. Despite a revised profile having been agreed over 
Christmas with the college, expected claim targets have unfortunately not been achieved. The £1,000,000 gap 
will be met by LCC capital expenditure on the East West Link to ensure that the growth deal programme target 
is met. 

Boole Technology 
Centre

Construction of the Boole Technology Centre is underway and the project achieved a higher amount of 
expenditure for 2015/16 than originally envisaged.  A fixed price construction contract has been agreed for this 
scheme with Wilmott Dixon. Ground works commenced in February. Construction works have been ongoing 
and manufacture/delivery of superstructure elements have also progressed.

Representatives of the Cities and Local Growth Unit visited the site in March and received a tour of the Lincoln 
Science and Innovation Park.

Boston Quadrant 
Infrastructure

Due to a slightly delayed start the project achieved £750,000 of its £1,000,000 forecast for 2015/16.  Initial site 
clearance/preparation works have commenced on site ahead of the main civils contract.

Tenders for the first stage of the project, the main roundabout on the A16, exceeded budget so a value 
engineering exercise has been undertaken in conjunction with LCC to alter elements of the project with revised 
details agreed in principle. Technical approval is now being sought.  Contractors are required to commence 
works by the end of April. The Section 278 Agreement is close to being finalised subject to approval of the 
technical details by LCC.

The site layout submitted with the reserved matters application for the initial 148 units is now being revised to 
incorporate the changes for the surface water strategy.  The designs for the next phase of residential will then 
be progressed to include the additional 38 units of affordable housing for which an agreement in principle has 
been reached with a Housing Association.  The total 100 affordable dwellings will therefore be delivered at an 
early part of the project.

P
age 147



Grantham 
Southern Relief 
Road

The construction contract for Phase 1 is programmed to complete by June 2016. Progress has been good and 
surfacing has commenced on all sections. 

Phase 2 design is nearing completion but requires highways england approval by Spring 2016. A further 
planning application has had to be made for the connection to the A1. It is intended to award a contract for 
Phase 2 under the Midalnds Highways alliance to commence in Autumn 2016 with anticipated completion in 
late 2017.

Skegness 
Countryside 
Business Park

The initial claim relating to land acquisition costs, utilities and retrospective fees achieved the release of 
£1,300,000 forecast for 2015/16.

Work is progressing towards finalising the programme of agreed works and inviting tenders for the construction 
of the roundabout and access roads to the first phase development plots.  

Tenders are currently scheduled to be due back by mid-May, which would allow a start on site for the 
roundabout by the end of June (traffic management to run over the peak periods to divert summer season 
traffic). 

Unlocking Rural 
Housing 
Programme

Broadfield Lane, Saxon Fields and Tytton Lane (together delivering 199 units) are all on site and will complete 
2016/17. Claims have been processed for both Broadfield and Tytton lane schemes 

 Woodthorpe Ave/Toot Lane - planning permission was granted on the 9th February 2016 and a first draft of the 
contract has been drawn up. 

The Seabreezes scheme is providing regular updates and working through its special conditions of grant. 
Planning confirmation has been received and once confirmation of HCA funding has been received the project 
will move to contract.

Riverside, Church Road and Meadow Way are working towards key milestones.  Boston Quadrant (affordable 
housing element) due diligence is anticipated to be reported to the May LEP Investment Board.

P
age 148



 
Policy and Scrutiny

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, Executive Director for Environment 
and Economy

Report to: Economic Scrutiny Committee
Date: 24 May 2016
Subject: South Lincolnshire Food Enterprise Zone
Decision Reference:  Key decision? No 
Summary: 

Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) together with South Holland District Council 
(SHDC) and other stakeholders are actively developing plans to bring forward a 
Food Enterprise Zone on land to the north west of Holbeach. This report sets out 
the plans for a South Lincolnshire Food Enterprise Zone.

Actions Required: 

The Economic Scrutiny Committee is invited to consider the contents of this report 
and confirm that officers should continue to progress the delivery of a South 
Lincolnshire Food Enterprise Zone as a priority.

1. Background

Food Enterprise Zones (FEZ's) were created by DEFRA in order to accelerate 
growth in the agri-food sector. They comprise an identified piece of land and 
benefit from simplified planning procedures by using Local Development Order 
powers. Each FEZ will offer specific support to agri-food businesses in order to 
support the whole food chain and deliver productivity growth and added value. 

Across Greater Lincolnshire, there are plans to bring forward three FEZ sites. 
Europarc 4 will focus on supporting growth of the existing seafood and value-
added food processing sector already established on the Humber. In Central 
Lincolnshire, a FEZ planned at Helmswell Cliff will support the arable food 
sector. The South Lincolnshire FEZ will support existing agri-food businesses 
as well as those looking to invest and relocate to South Lincolnshire with 
particular emphasis on the food technology sector.

LCC and SHDC have been working collaboratively in order to bring forward 
plans for a FEZ on land immediately adjacent to the A17/A151 to the north west 
of Holbeach. Following provisional designation of this site as a FEZ by DEFRA, 
a grant of £50,000 was made available to SHDC towards the cost of a 
developing a Local Development Order.

Page 149

Agenda Item 9



The proposed South Lincolnshire FEZ will build on the close proximity to the 
National Centre for Food Manufacturing (NCFM) and will focus on the high 
value food chain as well as research, innovation and technology for a variety of 
food industries. The NCFM already provides a centre of excellence for 
education, training, research and development accessed both regionally and 
nationally and is supported by a number of major companies.

The FEZ site extends to circa 16 hectares (40 acres) and the ownership is 
currently split between a private landowner and LCC.  

A number of early tasks are already underway to bring forward the FEZ 
including:

 GLLEP (Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership) funding has 
been secured to meet the cost of examining the feasibility and viability of 
the FEZ as well as the cost of providing utility infrastructure and services 
to the site. Briefs for these works have been prepared in order to procure 
the specialist advice required.

 Detailed discussions are ongoing between LCC and a major anchor 
tenant which would lead to the construction of new, purpose built 
facilities and act as a catalyst for future investment and development.

 LCC is taking a lead role in the land assembly negotiations with relevant 
stakeholders for the FEZ.

 LCC and SHDC are working closely in order to complete various tasks 
and investigations necessary for the creation of a Local Development 
Order.

 Officers will provide a more detailed summary describing the viability of 
the FEZ and land assembly at the Economic Scrutiny Committee 
meeting on 13 September 2016.

In parallel with the work underway to bring forward the FEZ, the County Council 
is also seeking planning consent for residential development on land to the east 
of the A151. This land is mainly in the ownership of LCC.  A separate parcel of 
land also to the east of the A151 is owned by Bovis Homes and it is understood 
that they are also preparing a planning application for residential development. 
The combined scale of residential development on land to the east of the A151 
is likely to comprise circa 900 dwellings. These residential developments will 
only be enabled once the four arm roundabout serving the FEZ has been 
created in order to provide access to the residential land. 

The opportunity to create a FEZ will be facilitated by improvement works to the 
A17/A151 adjacent to the proposed FEZ site. These highway works comprise 
the construction of a three arm roundabout at the A17/A151 together with the 
creation of a new, four arm roundabout to the south of the A17 junction. A plan 
showing the proposed improvements is shown at Appendix A.

Page 150



This new four arm roundabout will enable access to the FEZ site and to 
residential development land to the east of the A151. 

Planning permission for the road improvements has been granted and LCC are 
now completing the detailed design works and mapping out a time line for their 
delivery taking into account a number of factors, including the need to mitigate 
the impact on the A17, winter restrictions and planting seasons etc.

Funding for the road improvements will be via a combination of Greater 
Lincolnshire Local Economic Partnership (GLLEP) Growth Deal funding, s106 
contributions and a balance of funding to be provided by LCC. The breakdown 
of identified funding is as follows:

Forward Funding – LCC Capital £4.34m
GLLEP Growth Deal (Rnd II) (£2.4m)
Manor Farm s106 (£1.0m)
Net Capital Contribution by LCC £0.94m¹

¹Excludes any provision for optimism bias

Growth Deal funding is programmed for release from 2019 onwards and in 
order to proceed with this project as soon as possible, LCC has made a 
commitment to forward fund the scheme, subject to the receipt of appropriate 
s106 contributions from eligible developments.

The works will mostly be carried out on land already owned by LCC although a 
small section of land (circa 2,315 sq m) is in the ownership of a third party. 
Officers have held very productive discussions with the owner and heads of 
terms have been agreed, subject to contract. The acquisition is now with 
solicitors for completion.

2. Conclusion

The South Lincolnshire FEZ will provide an opportunity to create new, purpose 
built employment space using a simplified planning process for the benefit of 
the agri-sector across south Lincolnshire.

The County Council is taking a lead role to bring forward the FEZ as a priority 
and is working closely with all stakeholders, including SHDC, in order to 
complete the various activity strands identified above which are crucial to 
unlock the FEZ site.

The report is provided for information and members of the Economic Scrutiny 
Committee are asked to confirm their continued support for this project and 
endorse the approach currently being taken by officers.

3. Consultation

Page 151



a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required
n/a

4. Appendices

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report
Appendix A Plan of the proposed A17/A151 road improvement scheme
Appendix B Plan showing, edged red, land identified for the FEZ

5. Background Papers

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.

This report was written by Simon Wright, who can be contacted on 07827 820467 
or simon.wright@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 152



Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Policy and Scrutiny

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, the Director responsible for 
Democratic Services

Report to: Economic Scrutiny Committee
Date: 24 May 2016
Subject: Economic Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2016 
Decision Reference:  Key decision? No 
Summary: 
This item enables the Economic Scrutiny Committee to consider its own work 
programme for the coming year. 

Actions Required:
To comment and agree on the content of the work programme, as set out in 
Appendix A to this report. 

1. Background

Current Work Programme

At every meeting of the Committee, Members are invited to consider their future 
Work Programme and to agree on items to be included in the Work Programme. 
The current work programme for the Committee is attached at Appendix A to this 
report. 

Scrutiny Activity Definitions   

Set out below are the definitions used to describe the types of scrutiny, relating to 
the items: 

Budget Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising the previous year’s budget, the 
current year’s budget or proposals for the future year’s budget. 

Pre-Decision Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising a proposal, prior to a 
decision on the proposal by the Executive, the Executive Councillor or a senior 
officer.

Performance Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising periodic performance, issue 
specific performance or external inspection reports.   

Policy Development - The Committee is involved in the development of policy, 
usually at an early stage, where a range of options are being considered. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 10



Consultation - The Committee is responding to (or making arrangements to 
respond to) a consultation, either formally or informally. This includes pre-
consultation engagement.  

Status Report - The Committee is considering a topic for the first time where a 
specific issue has been raised or members wish to gain a greater understanding. 

Update Report - The Committee is scrutinising an item following earlier 
consideration.  

Scrutiny Review Activity - This includes discussion on possible scrutiny review 
items; finalising the scoping for the review; monitoring or interim reports; approval 
of the final report; and the response to the report.  

2. Conclusion

That consideration is given to the content of this report.

3. Consultation

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required
No policy proofing is required for this report.

4. Appendices

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report
Appendix A Economic Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

5. Background Papers

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.

This report was written by Tracy Johnson, who can be contacted on 01522 552164 
or tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 158



  APPENDIX A

ECONOMIC SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Chairman: Councillor Tony Bridges
Vice Chairman: Councillor Chris Pain 

24 May 2016
Item Contributor Purpose

Greater Lincolnshire LEP 
(GLLEP) Rail Study

Ian Kitchen
Transport Manager - 
Policy and Orders 

Andrew Thomas
Principal Transport 
Projects Officer

Status Report

Theme Performance: 
2015/2016 Quarter 4

Jasmine Sodhi
Performance and 
Equalities Manager

Justin Brown 
Enterprise Commissioner

Performance Scrutiny

Place Marketing and 
Alignment with GLLEP's 
Work 

Ruth Carver
Commissioning Manager 
(LEP)

Policy Development

Single Local Growth Fund 
- Accountable Body 
Progress Report 

Linsay Hill Pritchard
Principal Commissioning 
Officer (Accountable 
Body)

Performance Scrutiny

South Lincolnshire Food 
Enterprise Zone

Simon Wright
Principal Officer - 
Regeneration

Policy Development

12 July 2016
Item Contributor Purpose

Impact of Transportation 
on Maximising Economic 
Growth (ITMEG) Update 

Andy Gutherson
County Commissioner for 
Economy and Place

Scrutiny Review Activity

Fund of Funds Update and 
Next Steps 

Samantha Harrison
Commissioning Manager 
(Enterprise)

Update Report

Rural Development/ 
Leader Funding Progress 

Susannah Lewis
Principal Commissioning 
Officer (Funding)

Update Report

Occupancy in LCC 
Business Sites and 
Premises

Paul Wheatley
Group Manager 
Economic Development

Status Report

Page 159



Area Review of Post 16 
Vocational Training 

Clare Hughes
Principal Commissioning 
Officer (LEP) 

Policy Development

Coastal Community Fund 
Bidding Process and 
Timetable 

Nicola Radford
Senior Commissioning 
Officer (Regeneration 
Programmes)

Policy Development

13 September 2016
Item Contributor Purpose

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 1

Justin Brown 
Enterprise Commissioner

Performance Scrutiny

Tourism Review Update Mary Powell
Commissioning Manager 
(Tourism)

Update Report

Sector Plans: what's been 
achieved to date and 
required next steps 

Samantha Harrison
Commissioning Manager 
(Enterprise)

Performance Scrutiny

Business Support 
Services: Growth Hub and 
Wider Partner Services

Angela Driver
Senior Commissioning 
Officer (Enterprise)

Status Report

Place Marketing – Update Ruth Carver
Commissioning Manager 
(LEP)

Update Report

Working with Foreign 
Owned Businesses in 
Lincolnshire 

Jill McCarthy
Principal Officer Growth

Policy Development

South Lincolnshire Food 
Enterprise Zone – Scheme 
Appraisal

Simon Wright
Principal Officer - 
Regeneration

Policy Development

18 October 2016
Item Contributor Purpose

LCC and Department of 
Work and Pensions Joint 
Working 

Michelle Simpson 
Department of Work and 
Pensions (DWP)

Status Report

Midlands Engine / 
Northern Powerhouse

Justin Brown 
Enterprise Commissioner

Status Report

LCC Investor Promotion 
Activity 

Jill McCarthy
Principal Officer Growth

Policy Development

Training to Fill Hard-to-fill 
Vacancies (Progress with 
ESF opt-ins etc) 

Clare Hughes
Principal Commissioning 
Officer (LEP)

Status Report

Adult Learning 
Programme and its 
Contribution to Economic 
Development 

Thea Croxall 
Principal Commissioning 
Officer (Learning)

Policy Development

Page 160



29 November 2016
Item Contributor Purpose

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 2

Justin Brown 
Enterprise Commissioner

Performance Scrutiny

Single Local Growth Fund 
Accountable Body 
Progress Report 

Linsay Hill Pritchard
Principal Commissioning 
Officer (Accountable 
Body)

Performance Scrutiny

Impact of Transportation 
on Maximising Economic 
Growth (ITMEG) Update 

Andy Gutherson
County Commissioner for 
Economy and Place

Scrutiny Review Activity

Historic Lincoln Plans for 
2017 (Commemoration of 
Battle of Lincoln Fair etc)

Mary Powell
Commissioning Manager 
(Tourism)

Policy Development

For more information about the work of the Economic Scrutiny Committee please 
contact Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, on 01522 552164 or by e-mail at 

tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Page 161

mailto:tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting of the Economic Scrutiny Committee held on 12 April 2016
	5 Greater Lincolnshire LEP Rail Study
	Appendix A

	6 Theme Performance - 2015/2016 Quarter 4
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	75.Jobs-created-and-safeguarded
	76.Businesses-supported-by-the-Council
	77.Qualifications-Adults
	78.Lincs-External-Funding

	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	7 Place Marketing and Alignment with GLLEP's Work
	8 Single Local Growth Fund Accountable Body Progress Report
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	9 South Lincolnshire Food Enterprise Zone
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	10 Economic Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	Appendix A


